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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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(Mark one)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 000-15006
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 13-3191702
(State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bhefAct:

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢hefct:None
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K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the regittis a large accelerated filer, an accelerated & non-accelerated filer or a smaller reportampany.
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Indicate by check mark whether the regitis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12bthefAct). Yes No

The aggregate market value of the regifs@ommon stock held by non-affiliates as of J8Ge2014 was $1.5 billion. Exclusion of shareshs}
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policies of the registrant, or that such persaroigtrolled by or under common control with the sdgint.
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Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:  This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains foraévégoking
statements made pursuant to the safe harbor prosisif the Private Securities Litigation Reform AEt1995 under Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the SecuEitiesange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-loogiatgements include statements with respect to our
beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectationscipations, assumptions, estimates, intentionsfanae performance, and involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors, which maypé&yond our control, and which may cause our hotsalts, performance or achievements to be
materially different from future results, perforneanor achievements expressed or implied by sueteforlooking statements. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are statements thattddbe forward-looking statements. You can idgrtiese forward-looking statements through ouraise
words such as "may," "will," "can," "anticipatedssume," "should," "i " "would," "believécbntemplate," "expect,” "seek," "estimate," "coni,"

indicate,
"plan," "point to," "project," "predict," "could,"intend," "target," "potential" and other similaovds and expressions of the future.

There are a number of important factors ¢bald cause the actual results to differ matigriabm those expressed in any forward-lookingestatnt
made by us. These factors include, but are notdifrto:

. our ability to successfully complete research amthér development, including animal, preclinicadialinical studies, and, if we obtain
regulatory approval, commercialization of rindopept (also referred to as Rintega® and CDX-110)nfiatumumab vedotin (also referred
to as CDX-011), and other drug candidates and vt of the markets for those drug candidates;

. our ability to raise sufficient capital to fund azlimical studies and to meet our l-term liquidity needs, on terms acceptable to ust ail.
If we are unable to raise the funds necessary &t m& long-term liquidity needs, we may have tager discontinue the development of
one or more programs, discontinue or delay on-gomanticipated clinical trials, license out pragsaearlier than expected, raise funds at
significant discount or on other unfavorable terihat all, or sell all or part of our business;

. our ability to manage multiple clinical trials farvariety of drug candidates at different stagedesklopment, including ACT IV and ReA(
for rindopepimut and METRIC for glembatumumab védot

. the cost, timing, scope and results of ongoingtgafed efficacy trials of rindopepimut, glembaturmrabrvedotin, and other preclinical and
clinical testing;

. our ability to fund and complete the developmenmt, dnwe obtain regulatory approval, to commerdaelfindopepimut in North America ai
Europe ourselves;

. the availability, cost, delivery and quality ofralial and commercial grade materials produced lyowaun manufacturing facility or supplied
by contract manufacturers, suppliers and partnére,may be the sole source of supply;

. the timing, cost and uncertainty of obtaining regoty approvals for our drug candidates;
. our ability to develop and commercialize produafobe competitors that are superior to the altéreatdeveloped by such competitc
. our ability to negotiate strategic partnershipserhappropriate, for our programs, which may inejuthdopepimut outside of North

America and Europe, glembatumumab vedotin andlvardib (also referred to as CDX-1127);
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. our ability to develop technological capabilities;luding identification of novel and clinically iportant targets, exploiting our existi
technology platforms to develop new product cartégland expand our focus to broader markets foexisting targeted
immunotherapeutics;

. our ability to adapt our proprietary antib«-targeted technology, or APC Targeting Technologyd™levelop new, safe and effect
therapeutics for oncology and infectious diseadeations;

. the availability, cost, delivery and quality ofrital management services provided by our cliniea¢arch organization partners;

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertgits, including the ability to successfully defgratent oppositions filed against a Europ
patent related to technology we use in varlilunzatd our ability to avoid intellectual propertydisition, which can be costly and divert
management time and attention; and

. the factors listed under "Risk Factors" in this AahReport on Form 10-K.

All forward-looking statements are exprgsglalified in their entirety by this cautionarytioe. You are cautioned not to place undue reliamcany
forward-looking statements, which speak only athefdate of this report or the date of the docuriredrporated by reference into this report. Weehaw
obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligatianyupdate, revise or correct any of the forward<log statements, whether as a result of new inftiona
future events or otherwise. We have expressedxpactations, beliefs and projections in good faitld we believe they have a reasonable basis. Howeve
we cannot assure you that our expectations, baligisojections will result or be achieved or acptished.
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PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., which we rdéeas "Celldex," "we," "us," "our" or the "Compahig a biopharmaceutical company focused on the
development and commercialization of several imntluer@py technologies for the treatment of cancdrather difficult-to-treat diseases. Our drug
candidates are derived from a broad set of compianetechnologies which have the ability to uélthe human immune system and enable the credtion c
therapeutic agents. We are using these technoltgsvelop targeted immunotherapeutics compriseatibodies, adjuvants and monotherapies and
antibody-drug conjugates that treat cancers aret aliseases that induce undesirable activity byptuly's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepifalso referred to as Rintega® and CDX-110) dechpatumumab vedotin (also referred to as CDX-
011). Rindopepimut is a targeted immunotherapénticpivotal Phase 3 study for the treatment afitflne glioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for the
treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumuxredntin is a targeted antibody-drug conjugate iarelomized, Phase 2b study for the treatment of
triple negative breast cancer and a Phase 2 studkid treatment of metastatic melanoma. We alse banumber of earlier stage drug candidates imceli
development, including varlilumab (also referred$oCDX-1127), a fully human therapeutic monoclarlbody for cancer indications, CDX-1401, a
targeted immunotherapeutic aimed at antigen prieggoglls, or APC, for cancer indications and CDXEt3an immune cell mobilizing agent and dendritic
cell growth factor. Our drug candidates addressatapportunities for which we believe current tyges are inadequate or non-existent.

We are building a fully integrated, comnigkstage biopharmaceutical company that develomoitant therapies for patients with unmet medical
needs. Our program assets provide us with theegicabptions to either retain full economic rigldour innovative therapies or seek favorable enooo
terms through advantageous commercial partnerships.approach allows us to maximize the overdli@af our technology and product portfolio while
best ensuring the expeditious development of eadikiidual product.

The following table includes the progratmattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
Rindopepimu Fron-line glioblastom: — Phase !
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic breast canc — Phase 2|
Rindopepimu Recurrent glioblastom — Phase :
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic melanom — Phase @
Varlilumab Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc — Phase :
Varlilumab Multiple solid tumors — Phase 1/
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors — Phase :
CDX-301 Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplanta — Phase :
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc — Preclinica

Our future success depends upon many fadtariuding our ability, and that of any licenseesl collaborators that we may have, to succegsfull
develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commadéize our drug candidates. We have had no comaleienues from sales of our drug candidates and
we have had a history of operating losses. It &sitde that we may not be able to successfully ldpy@btain regulatory approval for, or commeraeliou
drug candidates, and we are
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subject to a number of risks that you should berawébefore investing in us. These risks are diesdrmore fully in "Item 1A. Risk Factors."

We are incorporated in Delaware. Our welisilocated dhttp://www.celldex.conOn our website, investors can obtain, free of olaagcopy of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports omfr@0-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and otheorxfiled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedpan as reasonably practicable after we file suaterial electronically with, or furnish it to,eh
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Notigeohformation posted on our website is incorpedtdy reference into this Annual Report.

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Rindopepimut is an immunotherapeutic thegéts the tumor-specific molecule epidermal grdiatiior receptor variant Ill, or EGFRvIII. EGFRVIH
a mutated form of the epidermal growth factor réeepr EGFR, that is only expressed in cancesa@eild not in normal tissue and can directly contelic
cancer cell growth. EGFRVIII is expressed in apprately 30% of glioblastoma multiforme, or GBM, tars, the most common and aggressive form of
brain cancer. Rindopepimut is composed of the EGIFReptide linked to a carrier protein called Keyd Limpet Hemocyanin, or KLH, and administered
together with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDkdministration, or FDA, and the European Medisidgency, or EMA, have both granted orphan
drug designation for rindopepimut for the treatm&ErEGFRVIII expressing GBM. The FDA has also geahfast Track designation. In February 2015, the
FDA granted rindopepimut Breakthrough Therapy Desimgn for the treatment of adult patients with R®RI-positive glioblastoma.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetweas ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investiget at the Brain Center at Duke Comprehensive
Cancer Center in Durham, North Carolina and at M\bderson Cancer Center in Houston, Texas andledrdB evaluable GBM patients. An extension of
the Phase 2a study referred to as ACT Il evaluz®ealdditional GBM patients treated in combinatidthwhe current standard of care, maintenance
temozolomide, or TMZ, at the same two institutions.

The Phase 2b study of rindopepimut refetoeas ACT Il combined rindopepimut with standafdcare, TMZ, in patients with newly diagnosed GE
The ACT Il study provided for a multi-center, nommdomized dataset for rindopepimut in 65 patiahtsver 30 sites throughout the United States.

In November 2013, we announced the foud-fare-year survival data from the 105 patientsodiad in the three Phase 2 rindopepimut clinicatigts
(ACTIVATE, ACT Il and ACT Ill) in EGFRuvIII-positiveGBM. Across these three Phase 2 studies of rintlopg, survival data remains consistent and
suggests a continuing survival benefit in comparigoindependent control datasets (see chart belbthle median and at all other time points eveaftiat

Phase 2 Frontline Long-term Overall Survival Assesaents

Median, Years 2-year 3-year 4-year 5-year

(95% CI) rate rate rate rate
Phase 2 rindopepimut studies (n=1 2.1(1.8,2)) 51% 30% 18% 14%
Matched historical control (n=17)(. 1.3(0.9,1) 6% 6% 0% 0%

Q) Patients treated at M.D. Anderson contemporaneciasiCTIVATE, matched for major eligibility requinents, including
EGFRuvVIll-positive GBM, gross total resection and no disgasgression through chemoradiation treatme

2
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The pooled overall long-term survival réswontinue to be consistent with the ACT IIl Phassudy (18% for 4-years and 14% for 5-years).

In December 2011, we initiated ACT IV, agtal, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phas¢ugly of rindopepimut in patients with surgically
resected, EGFRVIII-positive GBM. Patients were mnized after the completion of surgery and standaeinoradiation treatment. The treatment regimen
included a rindopepimut priming phase post-radiefalowed by an adjuvant TMZ phase and a rindopepimaintenance therapy phase. Patients are
treated until disease progression or intoleranthdmpy. The primary objective of the study islédermine whether rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-CSF
improves the overall survival of patients with ngwllagnosed EGFRVIII-positive GBM with minimal rdsial disease post resection and traditional chemo-
radiation when compared to treatment with TMZ ammatrol injection of KLH. KLH is a component ohdopepimut and was selected due to its ability to
generate a similar injection site reaction to thiizerved with rindopepimut.

In December 2014, ACT IV completed enrolitnén total, over 4,800 GBM patients were screeioedE GFRVIII status from more than 200 clinical
trial sites across 22 countries and, consistertit prior studies, 30% were positive for the EGFRwilitation. The study enrolled 745 patients to reheh
required 374 patients with minimal residual dise@ssessed by central review) needed for analfdegrimary overall survival endpoint. All pattsn
including patients with disease that exceed thisstimold, will be included in a secondary analy$iswerall survival as well as analyses of prog@ssiee
survival, safety and tolerability, and quality @&l The timing of the overall survival primary euaint data is event-driven. Interim analyses wéll b
conducted by an independent Data Safety and Mamt@oard at 50% and 75% of events (deaths). Tieifiterim analysis is expected in mid-2015. The
second interim analysis is currently expectedta 2015 or early 2016 and the final data is expklbtethe end of 2016; although our expectationandigg
the timing for the second interim analysis andlftleta read out may change based on event rates.

In December 2011, we also initiated ReA&Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witlastin® in patients with recurrent EGFRvIII-
positive GBM. This study completed enroliment i2@nd includes 3 groups. Group 1 consists of Ti2mta who had not previously received Avastin and
were randomized to receive either rindopepimut&vaistin or a control injection of KLH and Avastin & blinded fashion. Group 2 includes 25 patients
who are refractory to Avastin having received Airast either the frontline or recurrent setting vubsequent progression and who received rindopepi
plus Avastin in a single treatment arm. In Augut2 we announced the addition of an expansionrtofiaip to 75 patients, called Group 2C, to better
characterize the potential activity of rindopepirimuthis refractory patient population. This degisivas based on early evidence of anti-tumor agfivi
including stable disease, tumor shrinkage and tigegsr-reported response. In total, Group 2C éeddk8 patients. The primary endpoint is six month
progression-free survival rate (PFS-6) for groupsd 2 and objective response rate (ORR) for g&tipOther study endpoints include PFS-6, ORR, PFS,
overall survival, or OS and safety and tolerabhility

In November 2014, we reported the followinigrim data from the ReACT study. RindopepimuisphAvastin was very well tolerated (dosing up to
26+ months) and the results demonstrated cleas sifjdlinical activity in advanced patient popuais, including evidence of anti-tumor activity (tom
shrinkage, objective response and stable diseagehg immune response correlated with improvedane. In Avastin-naive patients treated with both
rindopepimut and Avastin, a statistically signifitaurvival benefit was seen compared to the cbpttients.

Group 1 Interim Data

. PFS-6: PF$-6 by investigator read was 27% for patients treati¢al rindopepimut compared to 11% for control pats (p=0.048

3
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. Survival: The OS demonstrated a statistically significantddit (p=0.0208) with a hazard ratio of 0.47 (0.291) in favor of th
rindopepimut treated patients. Median OS was 126ths for patients treated with rindopepimut coregao 8.8 months for control patier

. Response Rate 7 out of 29 patients (24%) evaluable for respansthe rindopepimut arm experienced a confirmgdative respons
versus 5 out of 30 patients (17%) evaluable fopoase on the control arm. Assessments of respoeseasnducted by study investigators
according to RANO criteria.

. Other: All subgroup analyses, including performanceustasteroid use and recent resection, show a heat@odn favor of rindopepimut
treatment.

Group 2/2C Interim Data

. Survival: Median OS was 5.1 months (95% CI 3.2, 6.5) fes¢hheavily pretreated, refractory EGFF-positive patients. 46% of patier
in Group 2/2C were alive at 6 months.

. Response Rate Based on investigator assessment, two patieperiexced complete response, of which one was tincd, and two
patients experienced partial response, of whichveageunconfirmed, in Group 2. Two of these fourgrats did not meet the protocol defined
definition of refractory in Group 2, the only twoch patients enrolled. No additional objective meses were observed in Group 2C and the
study did not meet the criteria (defined as tw@oeses in the first 23 patients enrolled in GroG@) @r continued enroliment. Ten patients
with measurable disease experienced objective tshmimkage across Group 2/2C.

Final data is anticipated by mid-year 2@h8 we intend to present this data at a peer-redewedical meeting in this same time frame.
Glembatumumab Vedotin

Glembatumumab vedotin is an antibody-dmugjuegate, or ADC, that consists of a fully-humannoconal antibody, CR011, linked to a potent cell-
killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin E, or MMAE. TI&R011 antibody specifically targets glycoproteiM Bl referred to as gpNMB, that is over-expressed
in a variety of cancers including breast cancerrapthnoma. The ADC technology, comprised of MMAH arstable linker system for attaching it to
CRO011, was licensed from Seattle Genetics, Incisitite same as that used in the marketed prodimtAs®. The ADC is designed to be stable in the
bloodstream. Following intravenous administratigiembatumumab vedotin targets and binds to gpNMBugon internalization into the targeted cell,
glembatumumab vedotin is designed to release MMABfCRO11 to produce a cell-killing effect. The FDAs granted Fast Track designation to
glembatumumab vedotin for the treatment of advanedthctory/resistant gpNMB-expressing breast eanc

Treatment of Breast Cancer: The Phase 1/2 study of glembatumumab vedotirirastered intravenously once every three weektuated patient
with locally advanced or metastatic breast cander had received prior therapy (median of severr peigimens). The study began with a bridging phase
confirm the maximum tolerated dose, or MTD, andhtegpanded into a Phase 2 open-label, multi-cettiely. The study confirmed the safety of
glembatumumab vedotin at the pre-defined maximusedevel (1.88 mg/kg) in 6 patients. An additioB@lpatients were enrolled in an expanded Phase 2
cohort (for a total of 34 treated patients at In88kg, the Phase 2 dose) to evaluate the PFStragveeeks. The 1.88 mg/kg dose was well toleratekis
patient population with the most common adversatvef rash, alopecia, and fatigue. The primariviigtendpoint, which called for at least 5 of Z0¢6)
patients in the Phase 2 study portion to be pregresree at 12 weeks, was met as 9 of 26 (35%uatse patients were progression-free at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximurredesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/28)raedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of 10 patients
had "triple negative disease," a more aggressive
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breast cancer subtype that carries a high risklapse and reduced survival as well as limitedsgeutic options due to lack of over-expression of
HER2/neu, estrogen and progesterone receptorsese fpatients, 78% (7/9) had some tumor shrinkayaieek PFS rate was 70% (7/10), and median PFS
was 17.9 weeks. Tumor samples from a subset afrgatacross all dose groups were analyzed for gpRiiBession. The tumor samples from most
patients showed evidence of stromal and/or tumibegpression of gpNMB.

In December 2012, we announced final resutim the EMERGE study, a randomized, multi-ceRteaise 2b study of glembatumumab vedotin in 122
patients with heavily pre-treated, advanced, gpNd@Bitive breast cancer. Patients were randomizdg {@ receive either glembatumumab vedotin or
single-agent Investigator's Choice, or IC, chemmatwe. Patients randomized to receive IC were altbteecross over to receive glembatumumab vedotin
following disease progression. Activity endpoimtsluded response rate, PFS and OS. The final sesslishown below, suggested that glembatumumab
vedotin induces significant response rates comparedrrently available therapies in patient subséth advanced, refractory breast cancers with\BN
over-expression (expression in greater than orléqub% of tumor cells) and in patients with tapiegative breast cancer. The OS and PFS of matient
treated with glembatumumab vedotin was also obseiv®e greatest in patients with triple negatixealt cancer who also over-express gpNMB and all
patients with gpNMB over-expression.

EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldda

Triple Negative
and gpNMB
Over-Expression
glembatumumab Investigator
vedotin Choice
(n=12) (n=4)
33% 0%
75% 25%

gpNMB Over-Expression
glembatumumab Investigator
vedotin Choice
(n=25) (n=8)

32%
64%

13%
38%

Respons:
Disease Control Ra

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's Ghaitembatumumab vedotin arm includes 15 patiehts evossed over to recei
glembatumumab vedotin treatment after progressiotCo Analysis of best response excludes patiehtsdiscontinued from study without
evaluable po-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for glembatunalnvedotin arm; n=5 for IC arm

EMERGE: Progression Free Survival (PFS) and OveralSurvival (OS) Data

Triple Negative

gpNMB and gpNMB

Over-Expression

Over-Expression

glembatumumab Investigator

glembatumumab Investigator

vedotin Choice
Median PFS (month: 2.7 1.t
p=0.14
Median OS (months 10.C 5.7
p=0.18

vedotin Choice
3.C 1.t
p=0.008
10.C 5.5
p=0.003

When cross over patients are removed, median @8&tiants with gpNMB ov-expression is 10.0 months for glembatumumab veds
5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and median OS in triptgative patients with gpNMB over- expression i Honths for glembatumumab

vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.00

In December 2013, we initiated METRIC, adamized, controlled Phase 2b study of glembatunbuedotin in patients with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB.
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To-date, 95 sites are open to enroliment acrosBtiited States, Canada and Australia. The studyonigmally designed to obtain accelerated approval
Feedback from clinical investigators conductingshely indicated that the eligibility criteria fetudy entry were limiting their ability to enrolapients the
felt were clinically appropriate on study. In adlit, we had spoken to country-specific membersieffuropean Medicines Agency, or EMA, and believed
a significant opportunity existed to expand thelgtinto the EU. Based on these factors, in thetfoguarter of 2014, we amended the METRIC study and
expanded patient entry criteria to position itfidt marketing approval with global regulators, luding the EMA, and to support improved enrollmenthe
study. The primary endpoint of the study is PF®RS is an established endpoint for full approvgisteation studies in this patient population irthbthe

US and the EU. The sample size (h=300) and thenslacp endpoint of OS remained unchanged. We impiégdethese changes in parallel to regulatory
discussions to maintain momentum at open cliniial sites. Since implementation, both the FDA aadtral European regulatory authorities have reed
the protocol design and we believe the METRIC steamyld support marketing approval in both the U8 Barope dependent upon data review. Based on
current projections, we believe enrollment willdmmpleted in 2016.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: The Phase 1/2 open-label, multi-center, dosal&son study evaluated the safety, tolerabilitgd a
pharmacokinetics of glembatumumab vedotin in 11iepts with un-resectable Stage Il or Stage IVanema who had failed no more than one prior line
of cytotoxic therapy. The MTD was determined toll®8 mg/kg administered intravenously once evemyehveeks. The study achieved its primary activity
objective with an ORR in the Phase 2 cohort of 15#84). Median PFS was 3.9 months. Glembatumumebtirewas generally well tolerated, with the
most frequent treatment-related adverse eventg bagh, fatigue, hair loss, pruritus, diarrhea a@gropathy. In the subset of patients with tumopbies,
high levels of tumor expression of gpNMB appeareddrrelate with favorable outcome. In the seveiepts whose tumors were found to express high
amounts of gpNMB, and who were treated at the maxirtolerated doses across all dosing schedulesamB&S was 4.9 months. The development of
rash, which may be associated with the presengpMB in the skin also seemed to correlate wittatgePFS.

In December 2014, we initiated a single,aypen-label Phase 2 study of glembatumumab vedopatients with unresectable Stage 1l or IV
melanoma. The study is expected to include apprateaiyn 10 sites in the United States and will enaplbroximately 60 patients. The primary objectivéoi
evaluate the anticancer activity of glembatumumedbotin in advanced melanoma as measured by the S&Rndary endpoints include analyses of PFS,
duration of response, OS, retrospective investigaif whether the anticancer activity of glembatamab vedotin is dependent upon the degree of gpNMB
expression in tumor tissue and safety.

We have completed the assay optimizati@hvatidation for a Phase 2 study in squamous gl cancer and expect the study will commence irb:
We have also entered into a Cooperative Reseattbavelopment Agreement, or CRADA, with the NatioGancer Institute, or NCI, under which NCI
will sponsor two studies of glembatumumab vedotime-tn uveal melanoma and one in pediatric osteoszac

Varlilumab

Varlilumab is a human monoclonal antibolgtttargets CD27, a potentially important targetriamunotherapy of various cancers. We have entered
into license agreements with the University of Santpton, UK for intellectual property related t@si®f anti-CD27 antibodies and with Medarex (now a
subsidiary of the Bristol-Myers Squibb CompanyBMS) for access to the UltiMab technology to depedmd commercialize human antibodies to CD27.

CD27 acts downstream from CD40 and mayide& novel way to regulate the immune response27Gs a costimulatory molecule on T cells anc
over-expressed in certain lymphomas and leukerd@dilumab is an agonist antibody designed to hiswa@potential therapeutic
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mechanisms. Varlilumab has been shown to activaeune cells that can target and eliminate cancearellsin tumor-bearing mice and to directly kitl o
inhibit the growth of CD27 expressing lymphomas Bukemiadn vitro andin vivo. Both mechanisms have been seen even at low toappropriate
preclinical models.

We are conducting an open label Phasedy stiivarlilumab in patients with selected malighsalid tumors or hematologic cancers at multipieical
sites in the United States. Initial dose escalatimmorts were conducted to determine an optimas flmsfuture study and, to date, no maximum toktat
dose has been reached. The lymphoid malignanceseakzalation arm has completed enrollment (n=2dpanew cohort has been added to include
evaluation of T cell malignancies. An expansionarbhas also been added at 0.3mg/kg dosed onceg tkvee weeks in patients with Hodgkin Lymphoma
(n=15). The solid tumor arm, which included patswtith various solid tumors, completed dose escalah 2013. Two expansion cohorts were
subsequently added at 3 mg/kg dosed weekly in matitaselanoma (n=16) and renal cell carcinoma §)+d better characterize clinical activity and
further define the safety profile in preparation ombination studies.

We presented updated data from this Phasedy in November 2014. Varlilumab was very welétated and induced immunologic activity in patt
that is consistent with both its mechanism of actad preclinical models. A total of 86 patientgdnbeen dosed in the study. 55 patients have beseddr
dose escalation cohorts (various solid and hengito®-cell tumors) and 31 patients have been dos#te expansion cohorts (melanoma and RCC) at 3
mg/kg. In both the solid tumor and hematologic desealations, the pre-specified maximum dose lgv@ng/kg) was reached without identification of a
maximum tolerated dose. The majority of adversentsvgAE) related to treatment have been mild to enaid (Grade 1/2) in severity, with only three
serious AEs related to treatment reported. No @amit immune-mediated adverse events (colitisatigg, etc.) typically associated with check-point
blockade have been observed. Two patients expedesigjective responses including a complete regpiondodgkin Lymphoma and a partial response in
renal cell carcinoma. Thirteen patients experierstatlle disease with a range of 3-30.7+ monthste-Based on the results observed in hematologic
malignancies, an expansion cohort has been addsaat up to 15 patients with Hodgkin Lymphoma amdabbreviated dose escalation in T cell
hematologic malignancies is ongoing.

In May 2014, we entered into a clinicahkigollaboration with Bristol-Myers Squibb Compay,BMS, to evaluate the safety, tolerability and
preliminary efficacy of varlilumab and Opdivo®, BMIPD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, in a Phasesti@ly. Under the terms of this clinical trial
collaboration, BMS made a one-time payment to Ug50® million and the companies amended the tefrosimexisting license agreement with Medarex (a
subsidiary of BMS) related to our CD27 program vettgrcertain future milestone payments were waivetfature royalty rates were reduced that may
have been due from us to Medarex. In return, BMS gvanted a time-limited right of first negotiatibrve wish to out-license varlilumab. The companie
also agreed to work exclusively with each othesxplore anti-PD-1 antagonist antibody and &1i27 agonist antibody combination regimens. Theiazil
trial collaboration provides that the companied shiare development costs and that we will be nesipte for conducting the Phase 1/2 study.

The Phase 1/2 study was initiated in JanafR2015 and is being conducted in adult patierits advanced non-small cell lung cancer, metastati
melanoma, colorectal cancer, ovarian cancer, aad &ed neck squamous cell carcinoma. The Phassetedgalation portion of the study will assess the
safety and tolerability of varlilumab at varyingsés when administered with Opdivo. Following doszatation, a Phase 2 portion of the study willudel
five disease specific cohorts. The primary objecti¥the Phase 2 study is overall response rat@n8ary objectives include pharmacokinetics assests
determining the immunogenicity of varlilumab wheweg in combination with Opdivo and further assegghe anti-tumor activity of combination
treatment.
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In May 2014, we also entered into a clihtoal collaboration with Oncothyreon Inc. to ewate the safety, tolerability and preliminary edfiy of
varlilumab and ONT-10, Oncothyreon's therapeutitcirge targeting the tumor-associated antigen MUIC&,Phase 1b study. Under the terms of the
clinical trial collaboration, the Phase 1b triallvaie conducted and funded by Oncothyreon. Bothgammies will jointly own the data from the trial awill
make any plans for potential future developmenhefcombination therapy together. The Phase 1ly stad initiated in November 2014 and is being
conducted in up to 42 patients with advanced braagtarian cancer. The primary objective of thal is to determine the safety and tolerabilitythod
combined therapy. Additional objectives includelaations of the impact of combination treatmentMidC1-specific humoral and cellular immune
responses, T-cell activation markers and levetegfilatory T-cells, and anti-tumor effects.

Multiple efforts are underway to finalizegigns and plans for additional Phase 2 combinatiaties of varlilumab, including but not limiteat &1
Phase 1/2 study of varlilumab and ipilumumab ingud$ with metastatic melanoma (plus CDX-1401 in-ESO positive patients); a Phase 1/2 of
varlilumab plus sunitinib in renal cell carcinonaand a Phase 1/2 study of varlilumab plus a mekwmattagent (followed sequentially by a checkpoint
inhibitor) for patients with B-raf mutated metagtahelanoma. In addition to our sponsored studigsdinical trial collaborations, we anticipate tha
varlilumab's potential activity will also be expéatin investigator sponsored studies at varioudexo& institutions.

CDX-1401

CDX41401, developed from our APC Targeting Technoldgg, fusion protein consisting of a fully human racilonal antibody with specificity for tt
dendritic cell receptor, DEC-205, linked to the NEBO-1 tumor antigen. In humans, NY-ESO-1 has beggcted in 20% - 30% of all melanoma, lung,
esophageal, liver, gastric, prostate, ovarian dadider cancers, thus representing a broad opptytdriis product is intended to selectively delitlee NY-
ESO-1 antigen to dendritic cells for generatingusibmmune responses against cancer cells expgad$inESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the
treatment of malignant melanoma and a variety il somors which express the proprietary canceigantNY-ESO41, which we licensed from the Ludw
Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Preclirstadlies have shown that CDX-1401 is effective fdivation of human T cell responses against NY-ESO-
1.

We have completed a Phase 1 study of CDXt¢hich assessed the safety, immunogenicity a@nital activity of escalating doses of CDX-1401
with TLR agonists (resiquimod and/or Poly ICLCYi5 patients with advanced malignancies refractoiltavailable therapies. 60% of patients had
confirmed NY-ESO expression in archived tumor sanphirteen patients maintained stable diseaseddo 13.4 months with a median of 6.7 months.
Treatment was well-tolerated and there were no tliwstng toxicities. Humoral responses were ecitin both NY-ESO-1 positive and negative patients.
NY-ESO-1-specific T cell responses were absent orolaseline, but increased post-vaccination in 68&valuable patients, including both CD4 and/or
CD8 T cell responses. Robust immune responsesabsearved with CDX-1401 with resiquimod and Poly (Calone and in combination. Long-term
patient follow up suggested that treatment with GDX)1 may predispose patients to better outcomesilbsequent therapy with checkpoint inhibitors. Of
the 45 patients in the Phase 1 study, eight wetd oeceive subsequent therapy of either ipilimumahn investigational checkpoint inhibitor and efx
these patients had objective tumor regressionp&ients with melanoma received ipilimumab withiree months of treatment with CDX-1401 and four
(67%) had objective tumor responses, includingaraplete response, which compares favorably toveeall response rate of 11% previously reported in
metastatic melanoma patients treated with singéigilimumab. In addition, two patients with nemall cell lung cancer received an investigational
checkpoint blockade within two months of completireptment with CDX-1401 and both achieved partéaponses.
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The Phase 1 study identified a well-toledsand immunogenic regimen to take forward intaristudies. A Phase 2 study of CDX-1401 in
combination with CDX-301 in metastatic melanombesg conducted by the Cancer Immunotherapy Talsvork under a CRADA with the Cancer
Therapy Evaluation Program of the NCI and is ongoin addition to our sponsored studies, we ardateighat CDX-1401's potential activity will also be
explored in investigator sponsored studies at varacademic institutions.

CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3lngl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendriti¢l ggowth factor. We licensed CDX-301 from Amgercin
in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hematopoietimkine that stimulates the expansion and diffeegiain of hematopoietic progenitor and stem cells.
CDX-301 has demonstrated a unique capacity to &ser¢he number of circulating dendritic cells ithbl@boratory and clinical studies. In addition, XcD
301 has shown impressive results in models of camdfectious diseases and inflammatory/autoimniseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold
significant opportunity for synergistic developméntombination with other proprietary moleculeur portfolio.

In February 2013, we announced final resisétim our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDX#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration with
Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study evaluaten different dosing regimens of CDX-301 to deiee the appropriate dose for further development
based on safety, tolerability, and biological aityivThe data from the study were consistent witavjpus clinical experience and demonstrated tizaX-C
301 was well-tolerated and can effectively mobilienatopoietic stem cell populations in healthyunt¢ers. In December 2013, we announced data from :
preclinical combination study of CDX-301and Moz@ilPlerixafor injection, formerly AMD3100) demonating that the combination of these agents
significantly increases hematopoietic stem cell iiedtion in mice. The data demonstrate a noveépbtell mobilization regimen combining CD3G1 anc
Mozobil®, which may have significant potential fase in autologous and allogeneic hematopoietic sthtransplantation. Based on the safety prafild
the clinical and preclinical data to date, we atid a pilot clinical study of CDX-301 for the mlidmtion and transplantation of allogeneic hemateio
stem cells in patients with hematological malignasaindergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplamaf he study will explore the utility of CDX-301
alone and in combination with Mozobil®. In additimour sponsored studies and clinical trial calations, we anticipate that CDX-301's potential
activity will also be explored in investigator spomned studies at various academic institutions.

Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC thargets T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domaimdTIM-1, a molecule that is upregulated in
several cancers, including renal cell and ovaraminomas. TIM-1 is associated with kidney injundahe shedding of its ectodomain is a predictive
biomarker for tumor progression. TIM-1 has ventrieted expression in healthy tissues, makinggt@mising target for antibody mediated therapy. The
TIM-1 antibody is linked to MMAE using Seattle Geiag' proprietary technology. The ADC is designeth¢ stable in the bloodstream, but to release
MMAE upon internalization into TIM-1-expressing tomcells, resulting in a targeted cell-killing effeCDX-014 has shown potent activity in preclihica
models of ovarian and renal cancer. We expectngpéete manufacturing and IND-enabling studies leyehd of 2015 to support the initiation of Phase 1
clinical studies in renal cell carcinoma and patdiyt other TIM-1 expressing tumors in 2016.
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Development Strategy
Immunotherapy Platforrr

We believe there is untapped potentialimunotherapy that can be captured through the cigmbination and/or sequence of therapeutic agents.
Immunotherapy approaches have encountered difisulthen following standard drug development. Tieemanisms of action are complex, activity is
generally not dependent on highest tolerated dodeatient response is highly variable. Our undexding of the immune system, cancer's effect on
immune mediated mechanisms, and the impact of ctiovel therapies on the immune system providesvanationale for combining therapies that may
lead to significant clinical benefit for patientsthvcancer.

Our intent is to leverage this knowledgd #re availability of good, tested products thaymat have optimal clinical activity as a monottmrabut
which we believe may be very effective in combioatapproaches. Our goal is to design and devetgpttd products that maximize the efficacy of
immunotherapy regimens through combinations ofapeutic agents in significant and growing markéts. establish governmental and corporate alliances
to fund development when appropriate and intermbtomercialize our products either through our oweat selling efforts or, for products which we
cannot develop ourselves through to commerciatimathrough corporate partners. This approach allesvto maximize the overall value of our technglog
and product portfolios while best ensuring the eligimus development of each individual product.

Factors that may significantly harm our coencial success, and ultimately the market priceunfcommon stock, include but are not limited to,
announcements of technological innovations or nemraercial products by our competitors, disclosdrensuccessful results of clinical testing or
regulatory proceedings and governmental approadigrse developments in patent or other proprigtghys, public concern about the safety of product
developed by us and general economic and markeitamrs. See "ltem 1A. Risk Factors."

Partnerships

We plan to commercialize our lead drug édete rindopepimut ourselves in North America amtdope. We may enter into co-development and
commercialization partnerships for any of our pesgs where appropriate, including rindopepimut funmercialization outside of North America and
Europe, glembatumumab vedotin and varlilumab. éngast, we have entered into collaborative parttigegreements with pharmaceutical and other
companies and organizations that provided finaramdl other resources, including capabilities iraesh, development, manufacturing, and sales and
marketing, to support our research and developpragrams and may enter into more of them in theréut

Partnership agreements may terminate withenefit to us if the underlying products are fudly developed. If we fail to meet our obligationsder
these agreements, they could terminate and we mégt to enter into relationships with other callabors and to spend additional time, money, ahdrot
valuable resources in the process. We cannot pretiiether our collaborators will continue their depment efforts or, if they do, whether their effowill
achieve success. Many of our collaborators facsdhee kinds of risks and uncertainties in theiir®ss that we face. A delay or setback to a partiigrat
a minimum, delay the commercialization of any afecproducts, and may ultimately prevent it. Mopwany partner could breach its agreement with us
or otherwise not use best efforts to promote oadpcts. A partner may choose to pursue alternétistenologies or products that compete with our
technologies or products. In either case, if angarfailed to successfully develop one of our paisiuwe would need to find another partner. Oulitgtio
do so would depend upon our legal right to do gbatime and whether the product remained commlgraiiable.
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TopoTarget A/S (TopoTarget)

Our agreement with TopoTarget providedu®to receive up to $6.0 million in either (i) putiel commercial milestone payments related toriitet
sales of Belinostat or (ii) 10% of any sublicenseoime received by TopoTarget. We have no finareidl operational responsibility for the clinical
development of Belinostat under our agreement WithoTarget. In February 2010, TopoTarget entergmarco-development and commercialization
agreement for Belinostat with Spectrum Pharmacalsti¢nc. During the years ended December 31, 20802014, we received $3.0 million and
$3.0 million from TopoTarget, respectively. Thesgments are the last payments we were owed fromTanget.

Research Collaboration and License Agreements

We have entered into license agreementselblieve have received licenses or options to lieeeshnology, specified patents and/or patent
applications. These license and collaboration agests generally provide for royalty payments eqoapecified percentages of product sales, annual
license maintenance fees, continuing patent préiseccosts and potential future milestone payméemtkird parties upon the achievement of certain
development, regulatory and/or commercial milessone

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

We and Medarex have entered into an assgheand license agreement, as amended, that psdfadthe assignment of certain patent and other
intellectual property rights and a license to darMedarex technology related to the Company's AR@eting Technology™ and an amannose recept
product. Under the terms of the agreement, we reagquired to pay royalties in the low-single digin any net product sale of a Licensed Royalty-
Bearing Product or Anti-Mannose Product to Medanetd the later of (i) the expiration of the lastéxpire applicable patent and (ii) the tenth aersary
of the first commercial sale of such licensed poidu

We and Medarex have also entered intoearel and commercialization agreement, as ametiggdyrovides us with certain rights to obtain
exclusive commercial licenses to proprietary mooal antibodies raised against certain antigefigiog the Medarex UltiMAb technology platform for
generating antibodies until December 2015. Undetehms of the agreement, we may be required tdviearex milestones of up to $7.0 million upon
obtaining first approval for commercial sale inratfindication of a product containing a licensedibody and royalty payments in the low-to-midgsén
digits on any net product sales with respect tadtheelopment of any products containing such liedremtibodies until the later of (i) the expiratimiithe
last to expire applicable patent and (ii) the teanthiversary of the first commercial sale of sucbrised product. In September 2010, we exercisegton
under our agreement, whereby we licensed from Medaccess to the UltiMab technology to develop@mmercialize human antibodies to CD27,
including varlilumab. In connection with the cliaidrial collaboration we entered into with BMSNtay 2014, we and BMS agreed to waive certain future
milestone payments and to reduce future royalgsrétat we may have owed Medarex in connection aithCD27 program were reduced.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, we and Rockefeller emténéo a license agreement for the exclusive woiddwights to human DEC-205 receptor, with the trigh
to sublicense the technology. The license graexdtusive except that Rockefeller may use and pesther nonprofit organizations to use the humaiCbE
205 receptor patent rights for educational andamesepurposes. We may be required to pay Rockefeilestones of up to $3.8 million upon obtainirrgtf
approval for commercial sale in a first indicatiofa product targeting the licensed receptor agdltp payments in the low-to-mid single digits aryanet
product sales with respect to development and cawiatization of the human DEC-205 receptor.
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Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, we and Duke enteredaifitense agreement that gave us access andnederethe clinical data generated by Duke and its
collaborators in order for us to generate our oiimgf with the FDA relating to rindopepimut. We mhg required to pay Duke milestones of up to
$0.7 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication and royalty payiteein the low-single digits on any net producesakith
respect to development and commercialization afajrepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, we and Ludwig entered anicaagreement for the nonexclusive rights to aedancer tumor targets for use in combination with
APC Targeting Technology. We may be required tolpagwig milestones of up to $1.0 million upon obiag first approval for commercial sale in a first
indication and royalty payments in the low-singigitd on any net product sales with respect to igrmeent and commercialization of the technology
licensed from Ludwig.

Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, we completed the acqoisitf the assets of Alteris, including the EGFRwfiblecule. We may be required to pay Alteris up to
$5.0 million upon obtaining the first approval fammercial sale of a product containing EGFRvHtluding rindopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, we entered into a licaagreement with Southampton to develop human afigsdowards CD27, a potentially important target
for immunotherapy of various cancers. We may beired to pay Southampton milestones of up to apprately $1.4 million upon obtaining first appro'
for commercial sale in a first indication and raygdayments in the low-single digits on any netduut sales with respect to development and
commercialization of varlilumab.

Amgen Inc. (Amger

In March 2009, we entered into a licenseagent with Amgen to acquire the exclusive right€ DX-301 and CD40 ligand, or CD40L. CC801 ant
CDA40L are immune modulating molecules that incréaseiumbers and activity of immune cells that cntnmune responses. We may be required to pay
Amgen milestones of up to $1.0 million upon obtagnfirst approval for commercial sale in a firdication and royalty payments in the low-singleitdig
on any net product sales with respect to developiareh commercialization of the technology licenBedh Amgen, including CDX-301.

Amgen Fremont (formerly Abgen

In connection with our acquisition of CuerGCorporation in 2009, we assumed the licensesaggrt between CuraGen and Amgen Fremont
(successor in- interest to Abgenix) to developyflliman monoclonal antibody therapeutics. In Ma@®G@&n amendment to the license agreement was
entered into related to CuraGen's exclusive rightievelop and commercialize glembatumumab vedB@iX-014 and antibodies to 10 other licensed
antigens. Under the amendment, CuraGen and Amgandht agreed to modify the terms of their existngss-license of antigens whereby our amended
license is fully paid-up and royalty-free.

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with our acquisition of CuexG we assumed the license agreement between Gues@eSeattle Genetics whereby CuraGen acquired
the rights to proprietary ADC technology, with ttight to sublicense, for use with its proprietangibodies for the potential treatment of cancerdéhthe
terms of the agreement, we have the responsibilitising commercially reasonable efforts
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to develop, commercialize and market such treatnheritirtherance of these responsibilities, techhassistance from Seattle Genetics is availables s
necessary. We may be required to pay Seattle @smatlestones of up to $5.0 million and $9.0 millior glembatumumab vedotin and CDX-014,
respectively, upon obtaining first approval for goercial sale in a first indication and royalty pants in the midsingle digits on any net product sales
respect to development and commercialization afghgroduct candidates. The term of the agreemeiesv@ountry to country and may be until the later
the expiration of the last relevant patent or th&lanniversary of the first commercial sale. The agrent allows us to terminate with prior writtenioet
with both parties being able to terminate the agesd for an uncured material breach or insolveridh® other party.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical indestre intensely competitive and subject to raypid significant technological change. Many of the
products that we are attempting to develop and cerialize will be competing with existing therapiés addition, a number of companies are purstulie
development of pharmaceuticals that target the shiseases and conditions that we are targetingiadéecompetition from pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies both in the United Statesadbroad. Our competitors may utilize discoveohtmlogies and techniques or partner with
collaborators in order to develop products moréditgmr successfully than us or our collaborataes @ble to do. Many of our competitors, particyldarge
pharmaceutical companies, have substantially gréatmcial, technical and human resources thaleven addition, academic institutions, government
agencies and other public and private organizationslucting research may seek patent protectidmnegtpect to potentially competitive products or
technologies and may establish exclusive collabaratr licensing relationships with our competitors

We face intense competition in our develephactivities. We face competition from many conipa in the United States and abroad, including a
number of large pharmaceutical companies, firmsiapeed in the development and production of vaesj adjuvants and vaccine and immunotherapeutic
delivery systems and major universities and reseiastitutions. The competitors of which we are eswhat have initiated a Phase 3 study or haverwuta
marketing approval for a potentially competitiveigito rindopepimut for treatment of glioblastomal/an glembatumumab vedotin for treatment of breast
cancer include AbbVie, Arbor Pharmaceutics, InstraZeneca PLC, Bayer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Cetg€nrporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and Company,
Medigene AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc., NégaPfizer Inc., and Roche. Many other companiesdaveloping or commercializing products in a
that we have targeted for product development. Saintigese products use therapeutic approachestnatompete directly with our drug candidates. Most
of our competitors possess substantially greatantiial, technical and human resources than weepssk addition, many of our competitors have
significantly greater experience than we have imdeting preclinical and nonclinical testing andrtaun clinical trials of drug candidates, scaling up
manufacturing operations and obtaining regulatggyravals of drugs and manufacturing facilities. éwtngly, our competitors may succeed in obtaining
regulatory approval for drugs more rapidly thandee If we obtain regulatory approval and launch owrcial sales of our drug candidates, we also will
compete with respect to manufacturing efficiencgt aales and marketing capabilities, areas in wivielturrently have limited experience.

We also face competition from pharmaceltioa biotechnology companies, academic institgtigovernment agencies and private research
organizations in recruiting and retaining highhatified scientific personnel and consultants anthindevelopment and acquisition of technologies.
Moreover, technology controlled by third partieattmay be advantageous to our business may beredauilicensed by our competitors, thereby
preventing us from obtaining technology on comnadhcireasonable terms, if at all. We will also catepfor the services of third parties that may have
already developed or acquired internal biotechnolpabilities or made commercial arrangements otttier
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biopharmaceutical companies to target the diseas@ghich we have focused both in the U.S. and detsf the U.S.

Our competitive position will also deperba our ability to attract and retain qualified g@nel, obtain patent protection or otherwise dgvel
proprietary products or processes and secure mufficapital resources for the often lengthy pelietiveen technological conception and commerclaksa
We will require substantial capital resources tmptete development of some or all of our produmliéain the necessary regulatory approvals and
successfully manufacture and market our produetsrder to secure capital resources, we anticipaténg to sell additional capital stock, which waul
dilute existing stockholders. We may also atteropilitain funds through research grants and agreésméih commercial collaborators. However, these
types of fundings are uncertain because they areatiscretion of the organizations and compattiascontrol the funds. As a result, we may noenee
any funds from grants or collaborations. Alternalyy we may borrow funds from commercial lendatsly at high interest rates, which would incretise
risk of any investment in us.

Manufacturing

We have limited experience in commerciahofacturing. We rely on contract manufacturing aigations, or CMOs, to manufacture drug substance
and drug product for our late-stage clinical stadierindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin as agefbr future commercial supplies. We also rely on
CMOs for filling and packaging, storage and shigpif drug product. In order for us to establish own commercial manufacturing facility, we would
require substantial additional funds and would rtedaire and retain significant additional persdrarel comply with the extensive current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulations atiie to such a facility. The commercial manufdntyfacility would also need to be licensed for the
production of our drug candidates by the FDA. Rarmost advanced programs, we are working with CM@er established manufacturing arrangements
that comply with the FDA's requirements and otlegiutatory standards, although there is no assuthatéhe manufacturing will be successful.

We currently use rindopepimut drug prodbet was manufactured by Pfizer and Jubilant HeltiStier, in the ACT IV and ReACT clinical studies
We have established a relationship with SAFC, &idim of the Sigma Aldrich Corporation, and Pathemmanufacture and fill rindopepimut for late stag
development and commercial supply. We rely on Bicayd Ambiopharm for supplying suitable quantitésGMP starting materials for the manufacture
of rindopepimut. We also rely on Sanofi to supplitable quantities of commercial quality GM-CSF wahhis co-administered with rindopepimut. Any
manufacturing failures or delays by our rindopegigantract manufacturers or suppliers of criticaltenials could cause delays in the ACT IV and ReACT
studies and/or the commercial launch of rindopepimu

To date, we have utilized contract manufiaey organizations for the manufacture of clinic@l supplies of glembatumumab vedotin. We have
established a relationship with Lonza, AG to maatufie the CR-011 antibody and Piramal HealthcareLtéK to conjugate the CR-011 antibody and stable
linker with the MMAE toxin. We rely on SAFC for sming of suitable quantities of vceMMAE. Any manufaing failures or delays by our
glembatumumab vedotin contract manufacturers golgrp of materials could cause delays in our gletmimumab vedotin clinical studies including the
METRIC study and/or the commercial launch of gletnbmumab vedotin.

We have established our own cGMP manufagdacility in Fall River, Massachusetts, to prodiclinical materials for our current and planned
Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. Our Fall Rinenufacturing facility has up to 1000L bioreaatapacity and is able to manufacture in complianite w
FDA regulations, allowing us to distribute potehpeoducts to clinical sites in the US for earlin@al trials. We manufacture clinical materials of
varlilumab, CDX-1401, CDX-301 and CDX-014 in oudIRRiver facility for our current and planned Phdsand Phase 2 clinical trials. The
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products are filled and packaged at CMOs. Any maetufing failures or compliance issues at contrearufacturers could cause delays in our Phase 1 anc
Phase 2 clinical studies.

The manufacturing processes for our drugliciates and immunotherapeutic delivery systenigeitinown technologies. We believe that the praesiuc
we currently have under development can be scaled permit manufacture in commercial quantitieswidver, there can be no assurance that we will not
encounter difficulties in scaling up the manufaictgprocesses.

While we believe that there is currentlffisient capacity worldwide for the production afiopotential products through contract manufactyrer
establishing long-term relationships with contmraetnufacturers and securing multiple sources fongeessary quantities of clinical and commercial
materials required can be a challenge. Qualifyiraginitial source of clinical and ultimately comroi@t material is a time consuming and expensive¢ss
due to the highly regulated nature of the pharméa(biotech industry. These costs may be mitigdig the economies of scale realized in commercial
manufacture and product sale. The key difficultgiralifying more than one source for each produthé duplicated time and expense in doing so witho
the potential to mitigate these costs if the seaondource is never utilized.

Use of third party manufacturers limits gontrol over and ability to monitor the manufagtgrprocess. As a result, we may not be able tectet
variety of problems that may arise and may facétiadel costs in the process of interfacing witldanonitoring the progress of our contract manufactu
If third party manufacturers fail to meet our maaifiring needs in an acceptable manner, we wouakldealays and additional costs while we develop
internal manufacturing capabilities or find altamthird party manufacturers. It may not be possiblhave multiple third party manufacturers retdy
supply us with needed material at all or withowining significant costs.

Commercial Organization

Our strategy is to build a fully integratedmmercial stage biopharmaceutical company tleaidvgive us the opportunity to retain marketirghts to
our product candidates and commercialize such ptedwrselves where we deem appropriate or putsategic partnerships to develop, sell, market and
distribute our product candidates where we deemogpiate. We currently plan to commercialize rindpjnut in the United States and Europe oursel¥:
regulatory approval is obtained, and to seek gii@fgartnerships to commercialize rindopepimuttimeo geographies. We may enter into strategic
partnerships to develop, sell, market and distelmutr other product candidates, including glembatuab vedotin and varlilumab.

Over the past two years, we have begusgerable key components of a commercial organizatitina focus on preparation for the potential l&un
of rindopepimut, if regulatory approval is obtain®de are assembling a focused commercial teambwithd experience in marketing, sales, distribution
and product reimbursement. We have also develdpedapability to provide current and future maiketghts to our research and development
organization regarding glembatumumab vedotin, emlab and our earlier-stage product candidates.

We have been expanding our understanditigeodlioblastoma market, developing our commessti@tegy for the potential launch of rindopepimut,
and planning the infrastructure necessary to sufpture commercial activities. Our understandifighe glioblastoma market in the United States and
Europe incorporates information regarding the aitrstandard of care as well as patient, health marader and payer attitudes toward current anermi@
future therapies. Based on this information anditite obtained from our Phase 2 clinical trialsimopepimut, we have begun developing our go-to-
market strategy for rindopepimut, which we inteadipdate and refine as we obtain additional infélonaregarding the potential commercial profile for
rindopepimut. In particular, we plan to incorportte information we obtain regarding the efficaog @afety of rindopepimut from our registration gmam
into our marketing strategy.
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As we continue to prepare for a potentredopepimut launch in the United States and Eureqeeplan to expand our commercial organization dher
next twelve to twenty-four months. This expansiath wclude implementation of internal systems anfilastructure in order to support commercial sales
incorporation of appropriate compliance policied anocedures, establishment of patient-focusedramg and hiring and training a marketing and sales
force to promote rindopepimut, if regulatory appbié obtained, to health care providers. Therelmano assurance that we will be able to accompligh
of these activities or hire and train an effectivarketing and sales force.

Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Rights

In general, our intellectual property st is to protect our technology by filing pateppkcations and obtaining patent rights covering @an
technology, both in the United States and in far@iguntries that we consider important to our bessn In addition, we have acquired and will seek to
acquire as needed or desired, exclusive rightshafre through assignment or license to complemeanportfolio of patent rights. We also rely on tead
secrets, unpatented know-how and technologicalrégpend innovation to develop and maintain oumpgetitive position.

Patents

The successful development and marketimgaducts by us will depend in part on our abitdycreate and maintain intellectual property, idahg
patent rights. We are the owner or exclusive lieerts proprietary patent positions in the areamofunotherapy technologies, vaccine technologies,
antibody technologies and complement inhibitor tetbgy. Although we continue to pursue patent e for our products, no assurance can be given
that any pending application will issue as a patibwatt any issued patent will have a scope thdthsibf commercial benefit, or that we will be atde
successfully enforce our patent position agairfsinigers. We routinely review our patent portfodind adjust our strategies for prosecution and reaamtce
of individual cases according to a number of factocluding program priorities, stage of developmand patent term.

We own or license rights under more thab @@nted patents and national and regional paggiications in the U.S. and in major international
territories covering inventions relating to our im@ss. The key patents and patent applications @wpeis or licensed to us that we consider impottan
our business include the following (the indicated astimated patent expiry dates do not includepmsgible patent term extensions or supplementary
protection certificates, if these may be securedli@ course):

. We have licensed rights from Duke University unaleissued European patent, a patent applicatitreit).S. and patents and patent
applications in other major international terrigzrirelating to uses of rindopepimut. If and whesaiéd and maintained to full term in a form
which covers commercial use of rindopepimut, thieds could potentially provide patent protectian the relevant use in the relevant
territories to 2026. We also have patent applicatio the U.S. and major international territorelating to methods of manufacture and
formulation of rindopepimut, which, if issued ifam which covers manufacture and/or formulatiominflopepimut and maintained to full
term in due course, would have estimated patentyedptes in 2030.

. Our patent portfolio for glembatumumab vedotioliudes issued patents in the U.S., Europe andd&izsand pending patent applications in
Japan and Canada. If and where issued and maidtariell term in due course, these would havenestizd patent expiry dates in 2025. In
addition, patent rights relating to the toxin awodjagation technology used in glembatumumab vedwdire been licensed from Seattle
Genetics. The patent rights from Seattle Genaticiside issued patents and pending applicationsusirAlia, Canada, Europe, the U.S. and
Japan which include composition of matter clainiatireg to the toxin and conjugation technologymiintained to full term in due course,
the main Seattle Genetics
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patent rights would have estimated patent expitgdeanging from 2023 in Europe to 2026 in the U.S.

. We have licensed rights from the University of $@ampton under issued U.S. and European patentsratedt pending patent applications
Japan and Canada relating to the technology useatlitumab. If and where issued and maintainefliicerm in due course, these would
have estimated patent expiry dates in 2027. We fildefurther patent applications in the U.S. andjor international territories which, if
issued and maintained to full term in due coursmyld/have estimated patent expiry dates in 2031uly 2013, the United States Patent and
Trademark Office issued a patent to the Universitouthampton, that we have exclusive licensentteuour license agreement, which
broadly supports varlilumab. The patent includesla8ns covering various methods of treating camsang agonistic anti-human CD27
antibodies and relates, among other things, diréatbur CD27 antibody program and therapeutic a$esarlilumab. In September 2014, t
European patent oppositions were filed againstitigersity of Southampton European patent. We uhtendefend the European patent
vigorously in cooperation with the University oft@bampton.

. We have issued U.S. patents relating to the teolgyalsed in CD-1401 which have estimated patent expiry dates ieast 2028 (nc
including increases of term due to Patent Term stdjent). We have a corresponding issued Europeent@nd further patents and penc
patent applications in other international terié@errelating to the technology used in CDX-1401akhif and where issued and maintained to
full term in due course, would have estimated patepiry dates in 2028.

. Patents for the technology used in CDX-301 havesctiexpiration dates that range from 2016 in tlagomEuropean territories to 2020 in
the US.

. Our patent portfolio for CDX-014 includes rightsdem an issued U.S. patent and further pending pappiications in the U.S., Europe,
Australia, Canada and Japan. If issued and magdamfull term in due course, these filings wolitve estimated patent expiry dates in at
least 2024 (not including increases of term dueatent Term Adjustment in the U.S.). In additioatgnmt rights relating to toxin and
conjugation technology have been licensed fromtlee@enetics. The patent rights from Seattle Geaéticlude issued patents and pending
patent applications in Australia, Canada, Eurdpe 1.S. and Japan which include composition of enataims relating to the toxin and
conjugation technology. If maintained to full teimndue course, the main Seattle Genetics patetmisrigould have estimated patent expiry
dates ranging from 2023 in Europe to 2026 in tHe. U.

There can be no assurance that patentafgiplis owned by or licensed to us will result iarged patents or that, if granted, the resultatemts will
afford protection against competitors with simiechnology. It is also possible that third partigsy obtain patents or other proprietary rights thay be
necessary or useful to us. In cases where thitiepare first to invent a particular product atteology, it is possible that those parties willadh patents
that will be sufficiently broad to prevent us frarsing important technology or from further develgpor commercializing important drug candidates and
immunotherapeutic systems. If licenses from thadips are necessary but cannot be obtained, carratization of the covered products might be dethye
or prevented. Even if these licenses can be oldtathey would probably require us to pay ongoingatties and other costs, which could be substantial

Although a patent has a statutory preswnpf validity in the United States, the issuanta patent is not conclusive as to validity or@ashie
enforceable scope of the patent claims. The vglatienforceability of a patent after its issuabgehe Patent and Trademark Office can be chalkige
litigation. As a business that uses a substantialet of intellectual property, we face a heighterisk of intellectual property litigation. If theutcome of
the litigation is adverse to the owner of the pgtirird parties may then be able to use the ingardovered by the patent without authorization
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or payment. There can be no assurance that owdgmtents or any patents subsequently issuedittensed by us will not be successfully challeniged
the future. In addition, there can be no assurémeeour patents will not be infringed or that ttweerage of our patents will not be successfullyided by
competitors through design innovation.

We are aware that others, including unitiessand companies, have filed patent applicataoms have been granted patents in the United States
other countries which claim subject matter potdigtizseful or necessary to the commercializatiomaf products. The ultimate scope and validity of
existing or future patents which have been or magrdanted to third parties, and the availabilitd anst of acquiring rights in those patents necgdsehe
manufacture, use or sale of our products preseatiypot be determined by us.

Third parties may have or may obtain validi enforceable patents or proprietary rights¢batd block us from developing products using our
technology, including:

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeStahd Europe owned by Sa-Aventis, which relate to antibo-antigen conjugates ai
methods of their use for eliciting an immune resgoagainst the antigen;

. certain patents and applications in the UnitedeStand foreign countries covering particular amsgand antigenic fragments targeted by
current drug candidates, including CDX-1401;

. certain patents and pending applications relatgrittcular receptors and other molecules on déadells and macrophages that may be
useful for generating monoclonal antibodies andlmemployed in our APC Targeting Technology;

. two United States patents and related foreign p&semd applications covering methods of diagnoglitgnas by detecting the presence
the EGFRUVIII (tumor specific splice variant) pratei

. a United States patent relating to certain uséaMfCSF;

. a United States patent owned by Genentech, Iratjmg to the production of recombinant antibodiekost cells;

. a United States patent owned by GlaxoSmithKlinerglated to methods of culturing cells under certainditions; ant
. certain patents held by third parties relatingribheody expression in particular types of hostsell

In addition to the patents referred tohia previous paragraphs, there may be other pgtefitations and issued patents belonging to congpstihat
may require us to alter our drug candidates andunutherapeutic delivery systems, pay licensing feesase some of our activities. If our drug ceatiis
conflict with patents that have been or may be g@to competitors, universities or others, thepaowners could bring legal action against usalag
damages and seeking to enjoin manufacturing ankatiag of the patented products. If any of thed®as is successful, in addition to any potential
liability for damages, we could be required to @btalicense in order to continue to manufacturearket the affected products. There can be nocassel
that we would prevail in any such action or that Beense required under any such third party gateruld be made available on acceptable terms alt.at
We believe that there may be significant litigatiorthe biotechnology industry regarding patent atieéér intellectual property rights. If we become
involved in that litigation, we could consume suipdial resources.

Licenses

We have entered into several significarérise agreements relating to technologies thdteing developed by us. In general, these institstitave
granted us an exclusive worldwide license (wittntig sublicense) to make, use and sell productsodging the licensed technology, subject to the
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reservation by the licensor of a non-exclusivetrigruse the technologies for non-commercial resepurposes. Generally, the term of each license is
through the expiration of the last of the patesssiéd with respect to the technologies coveretidyicense. We have generally agreed to use reblsona
efforts to develop and commercialize licensed petgland to achieve specified milestones and papdie fees, milestone payments and royalties based o
the net sales of the licensed products or to gagreentage of sublicense income. If we breach bligations, the licensor has the right to termirtate
license, and, in some cases, convert the licenaentmexclusive license. Generally, we control and aspoesible for the cost of defending the patentts

of the technologies that we license.

Proprietary Rights

We also rely on unpatented technology grsetrets and confidential information, and norasse can be given that others will not indepergent
develop substantially equivalent information anthtéques or otherwise gain access to our know-hwhirsformation, or that we can meaningfully protect
our rights in such unpatented technology, tradeeseand information. We require each of our emgésy consultants and advisors to execute a
confidentiality agreement at the commencement afraployment or consulting relationship with us. Hgeeements generally provide that all inventions
conceived by the individual in the course of empieyt or in providing services to us and all contitild information developed by, or made known b t
individual during the term of the relationship dhmd the exclusive property of us and shall be kepfidential and not disclosed to third partiesapt in
limited specified circumstances. There can be sarasice, however, that these agreements will peavidaningful protection for our information in the
event of unauthorized use or disclosure of sucfidential information.

Government Regulation

Our activities and products are signifitanégulated by a number of governmental entifieduding the FDA in the United States and by corapke
authorities in other countries. These entities lagyamong other things, the manufacture, tessafgty, effectiveness, labeling, documentatiomegdsing
and sale of our products. We must obtain regulapproval from FDA and comparable authorities imeotcountries, as applicable, for our drug candmlat
before we can commercialize such drugs in the &h8.foreign jurisdictions. Product development itihis regulatory framework takes a number of g
and involves the expenditure of substantial resmirMany products that initially appear promisitigmately do not reach the market because they are
found to be unsafe or ineffective when tested. iBalpility to commercialize a product would impaurability to earn future revenues.

FDA Approval Proces

In the United States, immunotherapeutichfonan use are subject to FDA approval as "bickginder the Public Health Service Act or as "dfug
under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.stbps required before a new product can be comatieexd include: preclinical studies in animals,
clinical trials in humans to determine safety affit@cy and FDA approval of the product for comniaksale.

Data obtained at any stage of testing seeptible to varying interpretations, which coutday, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Morenwturing
the regulatory process, new or changed drug apppoligies may cause unanticipated delays or rigjpaif our product. We may not obtain necessary
regulatory approvals within a reasonable periotinog, if at all, or avoid delays or other probleimsgesting our products. Moreover, even if we reedi
regulatory approval for a product, the approval mesguire limitations on use, which could restriwt size of the potential market for the product.
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The FDA provides that human clinical trilay begin thirty (30) days after receipt and revi an IND application, unless the FDA requests
additional information or changes to the study geot within that period. An IND must be sponsored iled for each of our proposed products.
Authorization to conduct a clinical trial in no wagsures that the FDA will ultimately approve theduct. Clinical trials are generally conductedhiree
sequential phases. In a Phase 1 trial, the prasigéten to a small number of healthy volunteertet for safety (adverse effects). Phase 2 taiads
conducted on a limited group of the target patgulation; safety, optimal dosage and efficacystmeied. A Phase 3 trial is performed in a larggent
population, generally over a wide geographic apgarovide evidence for the safety and efficacyhef product. The FDA has ongoing oversight over all
these trials and can order a temporary or permafigcntinuation if warranted. Such an action caubtterially harm us. Clinical trials are criticalthe
success of our products but are subject to unfereard uncontrollable delay, including delay inofinrent of patients. Any delay in clinical trialswd
delay our commercialization of a product.

A product's safety and effectiveness in dirécal trial is not necessarily indicative of isafety and effectiveness in another clinical.tNereover, we
may not discover all potential problems with a prctdeven after completing clinical trials on it.r&®@ of our products and technologies have undergoly
preclinical testing. As a result, we do not knowettter they are safe or effective for humans. Alsgulatory authorities may decide, contrary to our
findings, that a product is unsafe or not as efffedh actual use as its clinical trial resultsigaded. This could prevent the product's widespresa] require
its withdrawal from the market or expose us toiligh

The results of the clinical trials, nondial testing, and all supporting manufacturing datasubmitted to the FDA for approval. A Biologidsense
Application (BLA) is submitted for a biologic prodiy a New Drug Application (NDA) for a drug produ@he interval between IND filing and BLA/NDA
filing is usually at least several years due tol#mgth of the clinical trials, and the BLA/NDA riew process can take over a year. During this timee=DA
may request further testing or additional trialsray turn down the application. Even with approtta, FDA frequently requires post-marketing safety
studies (known as Phase 4 trials) to be performed.

The FDA requires that the manufacturinglitgahat produces a licensed product meet spediftandards, undergo an inspection and obtain an
establishment license prior to commercial marketBighosequent discovery of previously unknown proislevith a product or its manufacturing process
may result in restrictions on the product or thenafacturer, including withdrawal of the productrfrahe market. Failure to comply with the applicable
regulatory requirements can result in fines, susio@is of regulatory approvals, product recalls rafieg restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Expedited development and review progr:

The FDA has a Fast Track program thattenided to expedite or facilitate the process feiesging new drugs and biological products that meet
certain criteria. Specifically, new drugs and bgtal products are eligible for Fast Track desigmaif they are intended to treat a serious ortlifieeatening
condition and demonstrate the potential to addiasset medical needs for the condition. Fast Traadighation applies to the combination of the produc
and the specific indication for which it is beintgdied. The sponsor of a new drug or biologic meyuest the FDA to designate the drug or biologia as
Fast Track product at any time during the clingi@elopment of the product. Unique to a Fast Traokluct, the FDA may consider for review sectiohs o
the marketing application on a rolling basis befiwecomplete application is submitted, if the smrprovides a schedule for the submission of élstians
of the application, the FDA agrees to accept sestaf the application and determines that the adbeead acceptable, and the sponsor pays any retuge
fees upon submission of the first section of thaliagtion.
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Any product submitted to the FDA for maikgt including under a Fast Track program, may|lgghée for other types of FDA programs intended to
expedite development and review, such as prioeXyerv and accelerated approval. Under the Brealfir@herapy program, products intended to treat a
serious or life-threatening disease or conditioly b eligible for the benefits of the Fast Trackgram when preliminary clinical evidence demonssat
that such product may have substantial improvemermtne or more clinically significant endpoints peisting therapies. Additionally, FDA will seek t
ensure the sponsor of a breakthrough therapy ptodoeives timely advice and interactive commuiices to help the sponsor design and conduct a
development program as efficiently as possible. poduct is eligible for priority review if it hake potential to provide safe and effective therapgre
no satisfactory alternative therapy exists or aifigant improvement in the treatment, diagnosipmvention of a disease compared to marketed ptedu
The FDA will attempt to direct additional resour¢egshe evaluation of an application for a new doudpiological product designated for priority rewi in
an effort to facilitate the review. Additionally product may be eligible for accelerated appravalig or biological products studied for their sgfahd
effectiveness in treating serious or life-threatgrlinesses and that provide meaningful therapdagefit over existing treatments may receive lecated
approval, which means that they may be approveti@basis of adequate and well-controlled clingtatlies establishing that the product has an effect
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely talfmtea clinical benefit, or on the basis of an effen a clinical endpoint other than survival eeversible
morbidity. As a condition of approval, the FDA mguire that a sponsor of a drug or biological patdeceiving accelerated approval perform adequate
and well-controlled post-marketing clinical studigsaddition, the FDA currently requires as a dbad for accelerated approval pre-approval of
promotional materials, which could adversely imghettiming of the commercial launch of the prod&etst Track designation, Breakthrough Therapy
designation, priority review and accelerated apgkdo not change the standards for approval buterpgdite the development or approval process.

Orphan Drug

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gi@aphan drug designation to products intendedeat ta rare disease or condition, which is geneaall
disease or condition that affects fewer than 2@DjA6dividuals in the United States, or more tha,200 individuals in the United States and for viahic
there is no reasonable expectation that the ca\wafloping and making available in the United &tat product for this type of disease or conditvdhbe
recovered from sales in the United States forphaduct. If a product that has orphan drug designatubsequently receives the first FDA approvatiie
disease for which it has such designation, theymbid entitled to orphan product exclusivity, whimeans that the FDA may not approve any other
applications to market the same product for theeseulication, except in very limited circumstandes,seven years.

Post Approva

Once an approval is granted, the FDA mahdvaw the approval if compliance with regulatorgmslards is not maintained or if problems occueraft
the product reaches the market. After approval,estypes of changes to the approved product, suaddiag new indications, manufacturing changes and
additional labeling claims, are subject to furtR&A review and approval. In addition, the FDA maguire testing and surveillance programs to monitor
the effect of approved products that have been cantialized, and the FDA has the power to prevetitrat further marketing of a product based on the
results of these post-marketing programs.

Foreign Regulatior

In addition to regulations in the Unitectss, we will be subject to a variety of foreiggukations governing clinical trials, manufactureda
commercial sales and distribution of our
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products. Whether or not we obtain FDA approvaldqroduct, we must obtain approval of a produdheycomparable regulatory authorities of foreign
countries before we can commence clinical trialmarketing of the product in those countries. Theraval process varies from country to country el
time may be longer or shorter than that required=f@A approval. Approval by the FDA does not ensapproval by the regulatory bodies of other
countries.

Under the European Union regulatory systeewill submit most of our marketing authorizatiapplications under the centralized procedure. The
centralized procedure is compulsory for medicimeslpced by biotechnology, or are for the treatneémancer, or officially designated as 'orphan
medicines'. The centralized procedure providestfergrant of a single marketing authorization thatalid for all European Union member states. ithe
United States, we may apply for designation ofpmaducts as orphan drug for the treatment of aipéudication in the European Union before the
application for marketing authorization is madepian drugs in Europe enjoy economic and marketamgefits, including a 10-year market exclusivity
period for the approved indication, but not for #aene product, unless another applicant can shawitshproduct is safer, more effective or otheewis
clinically superior to the orphan-designated prdaduc

Our collaborators are also subject to fathe above-described regulations in connectioh tie commercialization of products utilizing our
technology.

Other Regulatory Processes

We are subject to a variety of financiaalfbsure and securities trading regulations asbéigoecompany in the U.S., including laws relatiogthe
oversight activities of the SEC and the regulatiohthe NASDAQ Global Market, on which our shares tiaded. We are also subject to regulation under
other federal laws and regulation under state acal laws, including laws relating to occupatiosafety, laboratory practices, environmental reguuet
and hazardous substance control.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we employed 16fleyees (156 full-time, 2 patime and 3 interns), 25 of whom have Ph.D. and/db.Megrees. Of the
employees, 128 were engaged in or directly suppsgarch and development activities. We believeahaemployee relations are good. We believe that
our future success will depend in large part onatility to attract and retain experienced andet#tiemployees.

Iltem 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully these risktdas together with all of the information includedincorporated by reference in this Annual Report
addition to our financial statements and the ntesur financial statements. This section includesard-looking statements.

The following is a discussion of the rigictiors that we believe are material to us at thiie.tThese risks and uncertainties are not the ambs facing
us and there may be additional matters that werrgaevare of or that we currently consider immateAdilof these could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, financial condition and céas.

Risks Related to our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
We currently have no product revenue and will need to raise capital to operate our business.

To date, we have generated no product tevand cannot predict when and if we will genepateluct revenue. We had an accumulated deficit of
$463.8 million as of December 31, 2014. Until, amiess, we complete clinical trials and furtherelepment, and receive approval from the FDA and
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other regulatory authorities, for our drug candidatve cannot sell our drugs and will not have pcodevenue. We expect to spend substantial funds t
continue the research, development and testingmpmducts that are in the preclinical and clihteating stages of development and to prepare to
commercialize products in anticipation of FDA apmo Therefore, for the foreseeable future, we Ve to fund all of our operations and development
expenditures from cash on hand, equity or debtfiimas, licensing fees and grants. Additional fziag will be required to meet our long term liqaydi
needs. If we do not succeed in raising additionatl§ on acceptable terms, we might not be ablergptete planned preclinical and clinical trialsobtain
approval of any drug candidates from the FDA ainiotegulatory authorities. In addition, we couédfbrced to discontinue product development, reduce
or forego sales and marketing efforts, forego etitra business opportunities or curtail operatigxisy additional sources of financing could invothe
issuance of our equity securities, which would haw#utive effect on our stockholders. No assueaten be given that additional financing will be
available to us when needed on acceptable ternas,adk:

We cannot be certain that we will achievswstain profitability in the future. Failure totaeve profitability could diminish our ability wustain
operations, pay dividends on our common stock,ioladditional required funds and make required paytson our present or future indebtedness.

We expect to incur future losses and we may never become profitable.

We have incurred operating losses of $128lkon, $81.4 million and $58.1 million during 2@, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and expect tarianu
operating loss in 2015 and beyond. We believedpatating losses will continue in and beyond 204&alise we are planning to incur significant costs
associated with the clinical development, manufamtuof commercial supply and building a commeraoiganization to prepare for the potential launth o
rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin if regulagrproval is obtained. During the years ended Bes 31, 2014 and 2013, we incurred
$45.6 million and $32.3 million in clinical triakpense and $20.9 million and $6.6 million in cootn@anufacturing expense. We anticipate clinidal &inc
contract manufacturing expense to increase ovandaiRketwelve months related to our rindopepimutngbatumumab vedotin and varlilumab programs. In
addition, we are planning to incur additional castthe clinical development of CDX-1401 and CI3®4. Our net losses have had and will continueate
an adverse effect on, among other things, our btddkrs' equity, total assets and working capitéd. expect that losses will fluctuate from quarter t
guarter and year to year, and that such fluctuatinay be substantial. We cannot predict when wieb@ilome profitable, if at all.

We will need additional capital to fund our operations, including the development, manufacture and potential commercialization of our drug candidates.
If we do not have or cannot raise additional capital when needed, we may be unable to develop and ultimately commercialize our drug candidates
successfully.

We expect to incur significant costs asd@eelop our drug candidates. In particular, thetinaing development and commercialization of
rindopepimut, glembatumumab vedotin and our otheg dandidates requires additional capital beyamccarrent resources. As of December 31, 2014, we
had cash, cash equivalents and marketable seswft®201.0 million. We anticipate taking furthégss to raise additional capital to fund our loag¥
liquidity needs. Our capital raising activities maglude, but may not be limited to, one or morehaf following:

. licensing of drug candidates with existing or nelaborative partners;

. possible business combinations;

. issuance of debt; (

. issuance of common stock or other securities viap@ placements or public offerings.
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While we may continue to seek capital tigtoa number of means, there can be no assuranctfiional financing will be available on accdpé&a
terms, if at all, and our negotiating position apital-raising efforts may worsen as existing resesi are used. There is also no assurance thatlMeew
able to enter into further collaborative relatioipsh Additional equity financing may be dilutive ¢ar stockholders; debt financing, if available ynravolve
significant cash payment obligations and coventmatsrestrict our ability to operate as a businass; licensing or strategic collaborations may ltésu
royalties or other terms which reduce our econgmoiential from products under development. If we @mable to raise the funds necessary to meet our
long-term liquidity needs, we may have to delagiscontinue the development of one or more progralissontinue or delay the build-out of our
commercial infrastructure and our commercial plagrand preparation activities, discontinue or dellaygoing or anticipated clinical trials, licensg o
programs earlier than expected, raise funds aifignt discount or on other unfavorable termstill, or sell all or part of our business.

Risks Related to Development and Regulatory Approval of Drug Candidates

Our long term success depends heavily on our ability to fund and complete the research and development activities for our program assets, including our
lead drug candidates, rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin.

Our management team lacks significant égpee in completing Phase 3 clinical trials andaobihg regulatory approval for a drug candidately@n
small minority of all research and development paags ultimately result in commercially successfuigs. Clinical failure can occur at any stage ofical
development. Clinical trials may produce negatiw@oonclusive results, and we may decide, or r@gué may require us, to conduct additional clinica
preclinical trials. In addition, data obtained franals are susceptible to varying interpretaticars] regulators may not interpret our data as &blgras we
do, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatorypegval. Success in preclinical testing and eaiilyicdl trials does not ensure that later clinicglls will
generate the same results or otherwise provideuatiegata to demonstrate the efficacy and safedydofig candidate.

If we face delays, difficulties or unangiated costs in completing the development of riegdput or glembatumumab vedotin, we will need
substantial additional financing. Further, evewdf complete the development of rindopepimut or gi@tumumab vedotin and gain marketing approvals
from the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory atities in a timely manner, we cannot be sure tinaltopepimut or glembatumumab vedotin will be
commercially successful in the pharmaceutical matkéhe results of clinical trials, the anticigaltor actual timing of marketing approvals, or itierket
acceptance of rindopepimut or glembatumumab vediétpproved, do not meet the expectations ofstmes or public market analysts, the market price o
our common stock would likely decline.
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We may be unable to manage multiple late stage clinical trials for a variety of drug candidates simultaneously.

As our current clinical trials progress, may need to manage multiple late stage cliniéabtsimultaneously in order to continue develomtigf our
current products. Our management team does notdignificant experience in completing late stageicdl trials and the management of late stageczalin
trials is more complex and time consuming thanyestdge trials. Typically, early stage trials inkeveral hundred patients in no more than 10diB¢al
sites. Late stage (Phase 3) trials may involveougeveral thousand patients in up to several hdndieical sites and may require facilities in sele
countries. Therefore, the project management requo supervise and control such an extensive pnogs substantially larger than early stage program
As the need for these resources is not known smtile months before the trials begin, it is necggsarecruit large numbers of experienced and tatkn
individuals very quickly. If the labor market doeat allow this team to be recruited quickly, themssgor is faced with a decision to delay the progoano
initiate it with inadequate management resourchi fhay result in recruitment of inappropriate @at$, inadequate monitoring of clinical investigatand
inappropriate handling of data or data analysisigeéquently it is possible that conclusions of efficor safety may not be acceptable to permitfibha
BLA or NDA for any one of the above reasons or mbmation of several.

We may enter into collaboration agreements for the licensing, development and ultimate commercialization of some of our drug candidates including,
where appropriate, for our lead drug candidates. I n such cases, we will depend greatly on our third-party collaboratorsto license, develop and
commercialize such drug candidates, and they may not meet our expectations.

We may enter into co-development and coroiakzation partnerships for certain products, inihg rindopepimut for commercialization outside of
North America and Europe, glembatumumab vedotinvantilumab. The process of identifying collaboratand negotiating collaboration agreements
the licensing, development and ultimate commemadibn of some of our drug candidates may caussydelnd increased costs. We may not be able to
enter into collaboration agreements on terms fablert us or at all. Furthermore some of thoseegents may give substantial responsibility over our
drug candidates to the collaborator. Some colldbmsanay be unable or unwilling to devote suffigizsources to develop our drug candidates as their
agreements require. They often face businesssiskitar to ours, and this could interfere with thefforts. Also, collaborators may choose to devbasr
resources to products that compete with oursctliaborator does not successfully develop anyafrair products, we will need to find another
collaborator to do so. The success of our seanch few collaborator will depend on our legal rightio so at the time and whether the product nesnai
commercially viable.

If we enter into collaboration agreemewtsdne or more of our lead drug candidates, theesscof such drug candidates will depend in gradtypon
our and our collaborators' success in promotingnthe superior to other treatment alternatives. @ieve that our drug candidates can be provenfes of
disease prevention and treatment with notable ddgar over drugs in terms of patient complianceedfettiveness. However, there can be no assurance
that we will be able to prove these advantagebairthe advantages will be sufficient to suppogtghccessful commercialization of our drug canéislat

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulatory scrutiny.

All of our drug candidates are at variotagyes of development and our activities and druglickates are significantly regulated by a number of
governmental entities, including the FDA in the tgdi States and by comparable authorities in othentcies. These entities regulate, among othegghin
the manufacture, testing, safety, effectivenesgliag, documentation, advertising and sale of sliargd drug candidates. We or our partners musinobta
regulatory approval for a drug candidate in alfrefse areas before we can commercialize any adrogrcandidates. Product development within

25




Table of Contents

this regulatory framework takes a number of yearsiavolves the expenditure of substantial resa@ur€his process typically requires extensive pnécai
and clinical testing, which may take longer or aosire than we anticipate, and may prove unsucdediséuto numerous factors. Many drug candidates tha
initially appear promising ultimately do not redtle market because they are found to be unsafeeffective when tested. Companies in the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and immunotherapelitig industries have suffered significant setbackslvanced clinical trials, even after obtaining
promising results in earlier trials. Our inability commercialize a drug candidate would impair atitity to earn future revenues.

If our drug candidates do not pass required tests for safety and effectiveness, we will not be able to obtain regulatory approval and derive commercial
revenue from them.

In order to succeed, we will need to obtagulatory approval for our drug candidates. TB&Has not approved our lead drug candidates,
rindopepimut or glembatumumab vedotin, or any afather products for sale to date. Our drug candglare in various stages of preclinical and dhic
testing. Preclinical tests are performed at aryesddge of a product's development and providetimftion about a product's safety and effectivenass
laboratory animals. Preclinical tests can lastyeéa product passes its preclinical tests sattsfily, and we determine that further developnient
warranted, we would file an IND application for theduct with the FDA, and if the FDA gives its apyal we would begin Phase 1 clinical tests. PHase
testing generally lasts between 6 and 24 monttghdse 1 test results are satisfactory and the gilges its approval, we can begin Phase 2 clingstkt
Phase 2 testing generally lasts between 6 and 36hsdf Phase 2 test results are satisfactontlam&DA gives its approval, we can begin Phase/Gtai
studies. Phase 3 studies generally last betweamnd 28 months. Once clinical testing is completatlanew drug application is filed with the FDAniay
take more than a year to receive FDA approval.

In all cases we must show that a pharma@@ytroduct is both safe and effective beforeRB&\, or drug approval agencies of other countrieens
we intend to sell the product, will approve it &&le. Our research and testing programs must cowiilydrug approval requirements both in the United
States and in other countries, since we are dewvglaqur lead products with the intention to, oricolater decide to, commercialize them both inth8.
and abroad. A product may fail for safety or effesniess at any stage of the testing process. Armiajowe face is the possibility that none of pooducts
under development will come through the testingess to final approval for sale, with the resudit tive cannot derive any commercial revenue frommthe
after investing significant amounts of capital inltiple stages of preclinical and clinical testing.

Product testing is critical to the success of our products but subject to delay or cancellation if we have difficulty enrolling patients.

As our portfolio of drug candidates mowves preclinical testing to clinical testing, anéhthrough progressively larger and more complicell
trials, we will need to enroll an increasing numbgpatients with the appropriate characterisidtimes we have experienced difficulty enrollingtignts
and we may experience more difficulty as the solaur clinical testing program increases. Thedegthat affect our ability to enroll patients &mgely
uncontrollable and include principally the followin

. the nature of the clinical test;

. the size of the patient population;

. patients' willingness to receive a placebo or &ffctive treatment on the control arm of a clihstady;
. the distance between patients and clinical tes$;sénd
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. the eligibility criteria for the trial
If we cannot enroll patients as needed,costs may increase or we may be forced to delégroninate testing for a product.
We may have delays in completing our clinical trials and we may not complete them at all.

We have not completed the clinical triaée@ssary to obtain FDA approval to market rindapepj glembatumumab vedotin or any of our other
products in development. Other than ACT IV and METRhich is designed for approval, we have nofaiéid Phase 3 studies for any of our other
products in development. Our management lacksfgignt experience in completing Phase 3 trialslanming a drug through commercialization. ACT
METRIC and clinical trials for other products invédopment may be delayed or terminated as a resulany factors, including the following:

. difficulty in enrolling patients in our clinicalials;

. patients failing to complete clinical trials duedissatisfaction with the treatment, side effectetber reason:

. failure by regulators to authorize us to commencknécal trial;

. suspension or termination by regulators of clinteslearch for many reasons, including concernstgiatient safety or failure of our contr:

manufacturers to comply with cGMP requirements;

. delays or failure to obtain clinical supply for qunoducts necessary to conduct clinical trials flmtract manufacturers, including
commercial grade clinical supply for our Phasei@icdl trials;

. treatment candidates demonstrating a lack of efficaring clinical trials;

. inability to continue to fund clinical trials or fond a partner to fund the clinical tria

. competition with ongoing clinical trials and schédg conflicts with participating clinicians; and
. delays in completing data collection and analysiscfinical trials.

Any delay or failure to complete clinicebts and obtain FDA approval for our drug candédatould have a material adverse effect on ourtoost
develop and commercialize, and our ability to gateerevenue from, a particular drug candidate.

Any delay in obtaining regulatory approval would have an adverse impact on our ability to earn future revenues.

It is possible that none of the drug caathd that we develop will obtain the regulatoryrapgls necessary for us to begin commercializirgrthThe
time required to obtain FDA and other approvalsnipredictable but often can take years followirgg¢gbmmencement of clinical trials, depending upan t
nature of the drug candidate. Any analysis we perfof data from clinical activities is subject tonfirmation and interpretation by regulatory autties,
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory apyal. Any delay or failure in obtaining requiredpapvals could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to generate revenues from the particulaigdrandidate including, but not limited to, losgpafent term during the approval period. Furtheemifr
we, or our partners, do not reach the market withppoducts before our competitors offer produotstfie same or similar uses, or if we, or our padpare
not effective in marketing our products, our revenfrom product sales, if any, will be reduced.
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We face intense competition in our develeptractivities. We face competition from many comipa in the United States and abroad, including a
number of large pharmaceutical companies, firmsiapeed in the development and production of vaesj adjuvants and vaccine and immunotherapeutic
delivery systems and major universities and reseiatitutions. The competitors of which we are emhat have initiated a Phase 3 study or haversata
marketing approval for a potentially competitiveigito rindopepimut for treatment of glioblastomal/an glembatumumab vedotin for treatment of breast
cancer include AbbVie, Arbor Pharmaceutics, InstraZeneca PLC, Bayer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Cetg€onrporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and Company,
Medigene AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc., NéigaPfizer Inc., and Roche. Most of our compesitbave substantially greater resources, more
extensive experience in conducting preclinical igsiind clinical testing and obtaining regulatgrpravals for their products, greater operating expee,
greater research and development and marketindpititipa and greater production capabilities thlaose of ours. These companies might succeed in
obtaining regulatory approval for competitive prottumore rapidly than we can for our products, eisiilg if we experience any delay in obtaining reqd
regulatory approvals.

We have many competitorsin our field and they may devel op technologies that make ours obsolete.

Biotechnology, pharmaceuticals and therfipgare rapidly evolving fields in which scientifand technological developments are expectedrtnte
at a rapid pace. We have many competitors in ti¥ &hd abroad. The competitors of which we are @tveat have initiated a Phase 3 study or have
obtained marketing approval for a potentially cotitpye drug to rindopepimut for treatment of gliastoma and/or glembatumumab vedotin for treatment
of breast cancer include AbbVie, Arbor Pharmacsuytioc., AstraZeneca PLC, Bayer, Bristol-Myers 8quiCelgene Corporation, Eisai Inc., Eli Lilly and
Company, Medigene AG, Northwest Biotherapeutics,, INovartis, Pfizer Inc., and Roche. Our succeggdds upon our ability to develop and maintain a
competitive position in the product categories tewthnologies on which we focus. Many of our contpetihave greater capabilities, experience and
financial resources than we do. Competition isriséeand is expected to increase as new produeisteatmarket and new technologies become available
Our competitors may:

. develop technologies and products that are moeet@fé than ours, making ours obsolete or othermiseEompetitive;
. obtain regulatory approval for products more rapit effectively than us; and
. obtain patent protection or other intellectual gy rights that would block our ability to developmpetitive products

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Drug Candidates

We may face delays, difficulties or unanticipated costsin establishing sales and distribution capabilities for the commercialization of rindopepimut, if
regulatory approval is obtained, or any other of our drug candidates.

We are in the process of building a comma¢arganization which we believe will provide ughwvthe strategic options to either retain full Bomic
rights to our drug candidates or seek favorabl@@cic terms through advantageous commercial pattipes. We plan to commercialize our lead drug
candidate rindopepimut ourselves in North Americd Burope. As a result, we may have full respolisilfor commercialization of rindopepimut and our
other drug candidates if and when they are appréeshle. We currently lack sufficient marketiisgJes and distribution capabilities to carry oig th
strategy. If any of our drug candidates are apptduethe FDA, we will need a drug sales force wéthnical expertise prior to the commercializatdn
any of our drug candidates. We will incur substrgdditional expenses in developing, training arahaging such an organization. We may be unable to
build such a sales force, the cost of establiskuah a sales force may exceed any
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product revenue, or our direct marketing and sefifests may be unsuccessful. We may find it neagssaenter into strategic partnerships, co-proomotr
other licensing arrangements and to the extentnter éto such strategic partnerships, co-promatioather licensing arrangements, our product regsn
are likely to be lower than if we directly marketold sold such drugs, and some or all of the reeeme receive will depend upon the efforts of third
parties, which may not be successful and may netithén our control. If we are unable to enter istech strategic partnerships, co-promotion or other
licensing arrangements on acceptable terms of, at&imay not be able to successfully commerciaizeexisting and future drug candidates. If werare
successful in commercializing rindopepimut or ahpur other drug candidates, either on our owrhoough collaborations with one or more third patie
our future product revenue will suffer and we mayer achieve profitability or become unable to sarg the operation of our business.

If rindopepimut or any other drug candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval do not achieve broad acceptance from physicians, patients and
third-party payors, we may be unable to generate significant revenues, if any.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for drug candidates, our approved drugs may notmaiket acceptance among physicians and patiers. W
believe that effectively marketing rindopepimutitiis approved, and our other drug candidatesnyf of them are approved, will require substarffdrts,
both prior to launch and after approval. Physiciaway elect not to prescribe our drugs, and patieaig elect not to request or take them, for a taoé
reasons including:

. limitations or warnings contained in a drug's FDgpeoved labeling;

. changes in the standard of care or the availalgfigiternative drugs for the targeted indicatitorsany of our drug candidate
. limitations in the approved indications for our greandidates;

. demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy compaoesther drugs

. significant adverse side effects;

. effectiveness of education, sales, marketing asililoition support;

. timing of market introduction and perceived effeetiess of competitive druc

. cost-effectiveness;

. adverse publicity about our drug candidates orrfave publicity about competitive drugs; ¢

. convenience and ease of administration of our deuglidates.

If our future drugs fail to achieve marketeptance, we will not be able to generate sitamifirevenues and may never achieve profitability.

Reimbursement decisions by third-party payors may have an adverse effect on pricing and market acceptance of rindopepimut or any of our other drug
candidates. If thereis not sufficient reimbursement for our future drugs, it isless likely that such drugs will be widely used.

Market acceptance and sales of rindopepémnahy other drug candidates for which we obtagutatory approval will depend on reimbursement
policies and may be affected by future healthceferm measures in both the United States and fojeigsdictions. Government authorities and thiedtp
payors, such as private health insurers and hesdthtenance organizations, decide which drugswikgover and establish payment levels. In additio
government authorities and these third-party pagioesncreasingly attempting to contain health casts by demanding price discounts or rebates and
limiting both the types and variety of drugs thayt will cover and the amounts that they will pay
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for these drugs. In addition, we might need to cagost-marketing studies in order to demonstiaecost-effectiveness of any future drugs to such
payors' satisfaction. Such studies might requiruw®mmit a significant amount of management tme financial and other resources.

Reimbursement rates may vary accordingeaise of the drug and the clinical setting in Wwhids used, may be based on payments allowelbar-
cost products that are already reimbursed, mapd®porated into existing payments for other présioc services, and may reflect budgetary conggrain
and/or imperfections in Medicare or Medicaid dagadito calculate these rates. Net prices for dnegsbe reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates
required by government health care programs. Sgiklation, or similar regulatory changes or retexeof laws that restrict imports of drugs fronhet
countries, could reduce the net price we receivailiy future marketed drugs. As a result, our filnugs might not ultimately be considered affctive.

We cannot be certain that reimbursemeritbgilavailable for rindopepimut or any other dragdidates that we develop. Also, we cannot beicerta
that reimbursement policies will not reduce the dethfor, or the price paid for, any future drugselmbursement is not available or is availableaon
limited basis, we may not be able to successfulymercialize rindopepimut or any other drug cantisldghat we develop.

Other factors could affect the demand for and sales of any drug candidates that we may commercializein the future.
In general, other factors that could afteetdemand for and sales and profitability of fmmre drugs include, but are not limited to:

. the timing of regulatory approval, if any, of cortipee drugs;

. our or any other of our partners' pricing decisj@ssapplicable, including a decision to increasgegrease the price of a drug, and the
pricing decisions of our competitors;

. government and third-party payer reimbursementcanverage decisions that affect the utilization wf future drugs and competing drugs;

. negative safety or efficacy data from new clinstaldies conducted either in the U.S. or internatigrby any party could cause the sale
our future drugs to decrease or a future drug teebelled;

. the degree of patent protection afforded our futliteys by patents granted to or licensed by usgrttle outcome of litigation involving our
or any of our licensor's patents;

. the outcome of litigation involving patents of atlempanies concerning our future drugs or prosesadated to production and formulati
of those drugs or uses of those drugs;

. the increasing use and development of alternatares;
. the rate of market penetration by competing drags;
. the termination of, or change in, existing arrangeta with our partner:

In addition, some of our licensing and othgreements with third parties require or migljuiee us to maintain product liability insurandewe
cannot maintain acceptable amounts of coveragemmercially reasonable terms in accordance withéhas set forth in these agreements, the
corresponding agreements would be subject to tetioim which could have a material adverse impaaiur operations.

Any of these factors could have a matexiblerse effect on the sales of any drug candidlaéésve may commercialize in the future.
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Failure to obtain regulatory approvalsin foreign jurisdictionswill prevent us from marketing our products internationally.

We intend to seek approval for rindopepimuEurope and may seek approval of our other deuglidates outside the United States and may market
future products in international markets. In oriemarket our future products in the European Eoto@rea, or EEA, and many other foreign
jurisdictions, we must obtain separate regulatpgravals. Specifically, in the EEA, medicinal pratkican only be commercialized after obtainir
Marketing Authorization, or MA.

Before granting the MA, the European Matksi Agency or the competent authorities of the negratates of the EEA make an assessment of the risk
benefit balance of the product on the basis ohsiie criteria concerning its quality, safety aefficacy.

The approval procedures vary among counéiel can involve additional clinical testing, dhe time required to obtain approval may diffemfirthat
required to obtain FDA approval. Clinical studiesducted in one country may not be accepted bylatgy authorities in other countries. Approvalthg
FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory autiesrin other countries, and approval by one or nfangign regulatory authorities does not ensure
approval by regulatory authorities in other foregguntries or by the FDA. However, a failure orayein obtaining regulatory approval in one coumtrgy
have a negative effect on the regulatory processhiars. The foreign regulatory approval procesg imaude all of the risks associated with obtagniFDA
approval. We may not obtain foreign regulatory appfs on a timely basis, if at all. We may not b&edo file for regulatory approvals and even if file
we may not receive necessary approvals to comntieeci@ur products in any market.

If we obtain approval to commercialize any approved products outside of the United States, a variety of risks associated with international operations
could materially adversely affect our business.

We plan to commercialize our lead drug ddate rindopepimut ourselves in Europe, if regulatpproval is obtained. If our other drug candidadre
approved for commercialization outside of the WhiBtates, we may enter into agreements with thartdgs to market them on a worldwide basis or ime
limited geographical regions. We expect that wé bl subject to additional risks related to int¢iovaal operations and entering into internationaibess
relationships, including:

. different regulatory requirements for drug appreyal

. reduced protection for intellectual property righiteluding trade secret and patent rig

. unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requirements;

. economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies andukets;

. compliance with tax, employment, immigration anlddalaws for employees living or traveling abroad;

. foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

. foreign currency fluctuations, which could resaliricreased operating expenses and reduced reya@maesther obligations incident

doing business in another country;

. workforce uncertainty in countries where employnregulations are different than, and labor unestére common than, in the United
States;
. production shortages resulting from any eventsctffg raw material supply or manufacturing capéibsi abroad
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. business interruptions resulting from geopolit@etions, including war and terrorism, or naturakdters including earthquakes, hurrica
floods and fires; and

. difficulty in importing and exporting clinical tfianaterials and study samples.
Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to plan, conduct and monitor our clinical tests, and their failure to perform as required would interfere with our product
devel opment.

We rely on third parties to conduct a digaint portion of our clinical development actieis. These activities include clinical patient réonent and
observation, clinical trial monitoring, clinical @amanagement and analysis, safety monitoring asjégt management. We conduct project management
and medical and safety monitoring in-house for sofreur programs and rely on third parties for themainder of our clinical development activities.

The significant third parties who we cuthgmely on for clinical development activities inde Novella Clinical, a Quintiles company, for ACT IV
study and PPD Development, LLC for clinical studieduding our METRIC study. If Novella or PPD Déepment is unable to perform in a quality and
timely manner, and at a feasible cost, our clingtatlies will face delays. Further, if any of thésied parties fails to perform as we expect ahiir work
fails to meet regulatory standards, our testingccbe delayed, cancelled or rendered ineffective.

We rely on contract manufacturers over whom we have limited control. Should the cost, delivery and quality of clinical and commercial grade materials
manufactured by usin our Fall River facility or supplied by contract manufacturersvary to our disadvantage, our business operations could suffer
significant harm.

We have limited experience in commerciahofacturing. We rely on contract manufacturing oigations, or CMOs, to manufacture drug substance
and drug product for our late-stage clinical stadiérindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin as agefbr future commercial supplies. We also rely on
CMOs for filling, packaging, storage and shippirfgioug product. In order for us to establish ounas@mmercial manufacturing facility, we would requi
substantial additional funds and would need to &ire retain significant additional personnel anchply with the extensive cGMP regulations applicable
such a facility. The commercial manufacturing fiéizilvould also need to be licensed for the productf our drug candidates by the FDA. For our most
advanced programs, we are working with CMOs undtidished manufacturing arrangements that comftlytive FDA's requirements and other
regulatory standards, although there is no assartrat the manufacturing will be successful.

We currently use rindopepimut drug prodhet was manufactured by Pfizer and Jubilant HelliStier, in the ACT IV and ReACT clinical studies
We have established a relationship with SAFC, &itim of the Sigma Aldrich Corporation, and Pathemmanufacture and fill rindopepimut for late stag
development and commercial supply. We rely on Bicesyd Ambiopharm for supplying suitable quantioésGMP starting materials for the manufacture
of rindopepimut. We also rely on Sanofi to supplitable quantities of commercial quality GM-CSF whnis co-administered with rindopepimut. Any
manufacturing failures or delays by our rindopegicantract manufacturers or suppliers of criticaltenials could cause delays in the ACT IV and ReACT
studies and/or the commercial launch of rindopepimu

To date, we have utilized contract manufiacy organizations for the manufacture of clinig&l supplies of glembatumumab vedotin. We have
established a relationship with Lonza, AG to maotufee the CR-011 antibody and Piramal HealthcareLtéK to conjugate the CR-011 antibody and stable
linker with the MMAE toxin. We rely on SAFC for sating of suitable quantities of veMMAE. Any manufaxng failures or delays by our
glembatumumab vedotin contract
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manufacturers or suppliers of materials could caladays in our glembatumumab vedotin clinical stsdihcluding the METRIC study and/or the
commercial launch of glembatumumab vedotin.

We have established our own cGMP manufaxgdacility in Fall River, Massachusetts, to prediclinical materials for our current and planned
Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. Our Fall Rimenufacturing facility has up to 1000L bioreaatapacity and is able to manufacture in complianite w
FDA and EMEA regulations, allowing us to distribyetential products to clinical sites in both th® &nd EU for early clinical trials. We manufacture
clinical materials of varlilumab, CDX-1401, CDX-3@hd CDX-014 in our Fall River facility for our aent and planned Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical.trial
The products are filled and packaged at CMOs. Aapurfacturing failures or compliance issues at emttmanufacturers could cause delays in our Phase
and Phase 2 clinical studies.

The manufacturing processes for our druglickates and immunotherapeutic delivery systentigeitnown technologies. We believe that the prégiuc
we currently have under development can be scadéd permit manufacture in commercial quantitieswdver, there can be no assurance that we will not
encounter difficulties in scaling up the manufaictgmprocesses.

Our leading drug candidates require spieeidimanufacturing capabilities and processes. \Weface difficulty in securing commitments from U.S
and foreign contract manufacturers as these matouéais could be unwilling or unable to accommodateneeds. Relying on foreign manufacturers
involves peculiar and increased risks, includirgrilk relating to the difficulty foreign manufaotis may face in complying with cGMP requiremergtaa
result of language barriers, lack of familiarittvcGMP or the FDA regulatory process or other eausconomic or political instability in or affawgi the
home countries of our foreign manufacturers, shiggielays, potential changes in foreign regulakams governing the sales of our product supplies,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratestaedmposition or application of trade restricgon

There can be no assurances that contrautfacturers will be able to meet our timetable egglirements. Further, contract manufacturers must
operate in compliance with cGMP and failure to dasuld result in, among other things, the disuptf product supplies. As noted above, non-U.S.
contract manufacturers may face special challeimgesmplying with cGMP requirements, and althoughave not currently dependent on non-U.S.
collaborators or contract manufacturers, we maysbar be required to rely on non-U.S. sourcekerfuture as we seek to develop stable supplies of
increasing quantities of materials for ongoingichtrials of larger scale. Our dependence upad fharties for the manufacture of our products may
adversely affect our profit margins and our abildydevelop and deliver products on a timely andpetitive basis.

Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover them.

Because we rely on third parties to developproducts, we must share trade secrets with.tiée seek to protect our proprietary technologyart
by entering into confidentiality agreements andgplicable, material transfer agreements, colkaipe research agreements, consulting agreementba
similar agreements with our collaborators, advisemsployees and consultants prior to beginningarebeor disclosing proprietary information. These
agreements typically restrict the ability of outlaborators, advisors, employees and consultanpsitidish data potentially relating to our tradersex Our
academic collaborators typically have rights tolibdata, provided that we are notified in advaaed may delay publication for a specified timeider
to secure our intellectual property rights aridiran the collaboration. In other cases, publicatights are controlled exclusively by us, althougisome
cases we may share these rights with other pawtiesalso conduct joint research and developmergrams which may require us to share trade secrets
under the terms of research and development pahipeor similar agreements. Despite our effortgrtiiect our trade secrets,
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our competitors may discover our trade secretseethrough breach of these agreements, indepeddeatopment or publication of information inclugdin
our trade secrets in cases where we do not haypeigiary or otherwise protected rights at the tohpublication. A competitor's discovery of ourdea
secrets would impair our competitive position.

Risks Related to Business Operations

We depend greatly on the intellectual capabilities and experience of our key executives and scientists and the loss of any of them could affect our ability
to develop our products.

The loss of Anthony S. Marucci, our Presidend Chief Executive Officer, or other key mensbafrour staff, including Avery W. Catlin, our Chie
Financial Officer, Dr. Thomas Davis, our Chief Meali Officer, Dr. Tibor Keler, our Chief Scientif@fficer or Dr. Ronald Pepin, our Chief Business
Officer, could harm us. We entered into employnagreements with Messrs. Marucci, Catlin, Davis,gkeind Pepin although an employment agreement
as a practical matter does not guarantee reteatian employee. We also depend on our scientificcinical collaborators and advisors, all of whbave
outside commitments that may limit their availdlilio us. In addition, we believe that our futunesess will depend in large part upon our abititattract
and retain highly skilled scientific, managerialanarketing personnel, particularly as we exparndagtivities in clinical trials, the regulatory appal
process and sales and manufacturing. We routimgér @to consulting agreements with our sciengific clinical collaborators and advisors, key agini
leaders and heads of academic departments indiveaoy course of our business. We also enter iatdractual agreements with physicians and insitigti
who recruit patients into our clinical trials onrdaehalf in the ordinary course of our businesswithstanding these arrangements, we face significa
competition for this type of personnel from othempanies, research and academic institutions, goweant entities and other organizations. We cannot
predict our success in hiring or retaining the penel we require for continued growth.

We expect to expand our clinical development, regulatory and sales and marketing capabilities, and as a result, we may encounter difficultiesin
managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

We expect that if our clinical drug candatacontinue to progress in development, we wijline significant additional investment in persdnne
management systems and resources, particulafeibuild out of our commercial capabilities. Ingaeation for potential approval of rindopepimut are
building the commercial organization that will kesponsible for the commercial launch of rindopepimuthe United States and Europe, if it receives
marketing approval in such jurisdictions. Over tigxt several years, we expect to experience sigmifigrowth in the number of our employees and the
scope of our operations, particularly in the afadrug development, regulatory affairs and safesraarketing. To manage our anticipated future gnow
we must continue to implement and improve our manaly operational and financial systems, expandaxilities and continue to recruit and train
additional qualified personnel. Due to our limiféthncial resources and the limited experienceuwfroanagement team in managing a company with such
anticipated growth, we may not be able to effetyiveanage the expansion of our operations or reand train additional qualified personnel. The gibgl
expansion of our operations may lead to significarsts and may divert our management and busimesdohment resources. Any inability to manage
growth could delay the execution of our busineasiplor disrupt our operations.

We may not be able to successfully integrate our existing technology or to modify our technologies to create new immunotherapeutic drugs

If we are able to integrate our acquired krensed assets with our immunotherapy technefogie believe these assets will give our
immunotherapeutic drugs a competitive advantagaenter, if we are unable to successfully integritenised assets, or other technologies which we have
acquired or
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may acquire in the future, with our existing teclogées and potential products currently under dewelent, we may be unable to realize any benefin fro
our acquisition of these assets, or other techiedoghich we have acquired or may acquire in theréuand may face the loss of our investment efrfaial
resources and time in the integration process.

We believe that our immunotherapy technyplpgrtfolio may offer opportunities to develop imnatherapeutic drugs that treat a variety of oncplog
inflammatory and infectious diseases by stimulatirgatient's immune system against those disegaeiems. If our immunotherapy technology portfolio
cannot be used to create effective immunotherapdutigs against a variety of disease organismsnaelose all or portions of our investment in
development efforts for new drug candidates.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our CROs or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could resultin a
material disruption of our drug development programs.

Despite the implementation of security nueas, our internal computer systems and thosero€RDOs and other contractors and consultants are
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unaizibw access, natural disasters, terrorism, wateledommunication and electrical failures. If sach
event were to occur and cause interruptions iroperations, it could result in a material disruptas our drug development programs and
commercialization efforts. For example, the losslifical study data from completed or ongoing iclih studies for any of our drug candidates coakltt
in delays in our regulatory approval efforts arghfficantly increase our costs to recover or repoadthe data. To the extent that any disruptioseourity
breach were to result in a loss of or damage talata or applications, or inappropriate disclosafreonfidential or proprietary information, we cduhcur
liability and the further development or commerieiation of our drug candidates could be delayed.

Our business requires us to use hazardous materials, which increases our exposure to dangerous and costly accidents.

Our research and development activitieslire/the use of hazardous chemicals, biologicabneds and radioactive compounds. Although we belie
that our safety procedures for handling and disppsf hazardous materials comply with the standardscribed by applicable laws and regulations, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidestaitamination or injury from these materials. la #vent of an accident, an injured party will likele us
for any resulting damages with potentially sigrafi¢ liability. The ongoing cost of complying with\éronmental laws and regulations is significand an
may increase in the future.

We face therisk of product liability claims, which could exceed our insurance coverage, and produce recalls, each of which could deplete our cash
resources.

As a participant in the pharmaceuticalfdgbnology and immunotherapeutic drug industriesave exposed to the risk of product liability alai
alleging that use of our drug candidates causedjary or harm. These claims can arise at any paitite development, testing, manufacture, margetin
sale of our drug candidates and may be made diregtbatients involved in clinical trials of ourqaucts, by consumers or healthcare providers or by
individuals, organizations or companies selling praducts. Product liability claims can be expeedivdefend, even if the drug or drug candidatendid
actually cause the alleged injury or harm.

Insurance covering product liability clailmscomes increasingly expensive as a drug candidates through the development pipeline to
commercialization. Under our license agreementsamgeaequired to maintain clinical trial liabilitgsurance coverage up to $15 million. However,dhear
be no assurance that such insurance coveragevii oontinue to be adequate or available to us ebst
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acceptable to us or at all. We may choose or fineééessary under our collaborative agreementgctease our insurance coverage in the future. We ma
not be able to secure greater or broader procalutity insurance coverage on acceptable terms @asonable costs when needed. Any liability for
damages resulting from a product liability clainultbexceed the amount of our coverage, require pay a substantial monetary award from our owh cas
resources and have a material adverse effect obusimess, financial condition and results of opena. Moreover, a product recall, if required, icbu
generate substantial negative publicity about oadpcts and business and inhibit or prevent comialeration of other products and drug candidates.

Risksrelated to I ntellectual Property

We license technology from other companies to develop products, and those companies could influence research and development or restrict our use of it.
In addition, if we fail to comply with our obligationsin our intellectual property licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are important
to our business.

Companies that license technologies tdaswe use in our research and development prograaysequire us to achieve milestones or devote
minimum amounts of resources to develop produdtgyilose technologies. They may also require usake significant royalty and milestone payments,
including a percentage of any sublicensing incaaseyell as payments to reimburse them for patestsc®@he number and variety of our research and
development programs require us to establish pigerand to allocate available resources among etingpprograms. From time to time we may choose to
slow down or cease our efforts on particular praslué in doing so we fail to fully perform our agations under a license, the licensor can terraitta
licenses or permit our competitors to use the teldgy. Termination of these licenses or reductioelonination of our licensed rights may resulbimr
having to negotiate new or reinstated licenses lgi&h favorable terms. Moreover, we may lose ahtrio market and sell any products based on the
licensed technology. The occurrence of such evanmtkl materially harm our business.

Our ability to successfully develop and, if regulatory approval is obtained, commercialize our drug candidates may be materially adversely affected if we
are unable to obtain and maintain effective intellectual property rights for our drug candidates and technologies.

Our success depends in part on our abdifybtain and maintain patent protection and oittetlectual property protection for our drug cadates and
proprietary technology. We have sought to protectpoprietary position by filing patent applicat®in the United States and abroad related to g d
candidates and technology that are important tdasiness. This process is expensive and time-oagingyand we may not be able to file and prosealite
necessary or desirable patent applications atsmnable cost or in a timely manner. It is also fidssghat we will fail to identify patentable aspeof our
research and development output before it is tmottaobtain patent protection. Our existing patemtd any future patents we obtain may not becsexfily
broad to prevent others from using our technologrdsom developing competing drugs and technokagie
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Biotechnology patents involve complex legalentific and factual questions and are higlnigartain. To date, there is no consistent poligarding
the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology ptgeparticularly in regard to patents for techgis for human uses like those we use in our besing/
cannot predict whether the patents we or our lieenseek will issue. If such patents are issuedy@petitor may challenge them and limit their scope
Moreover, our patents may not afford effective pctibn against competitors with similar technologysuccessful challenge to any one of our patemitd
result in a third party's ability to use the teclogy covered by the patent. We also face the hak dthers will infringe, avoid or circumvent owatents.
Technology that we license from others is subjesimilar risks and this could harm our abilityuse that technology. If we, or a company that kesn
technology to us, were not the first creator ofrarention that we use, our use of the underlyirmdpct or technology will face restrictions, inclodi
elimination. For example, in September 2014, twoopaan patent oppositions were filed against a éfsity of Southampton European patent to which we
have exclusive rights and which broadly supports @inour drug candidates, varlilumab. While we pladefend the European patent vigorously in
cooperation with the University of Southampton,ma&y be unsuccessful and the scope of such patgnbenémited or the patent may be invalidated.

If we must defend against suits broughiragiais or prosecute suits against others involintglectual property rights, we will incur substial costs.
In addition to any potential liability for signifamt monetary damages, a decision against us mayreags to obtain licenses to patents or othetl@teial
property rights of others on potentially unfavomtdrms. If those licenses from third parties aeessary but we cannot acquire them, we would pttean
design around the relevant technology, which waaldse higher development costs and delays, andiliaately prove impracticable.

We may be unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, thus harming our business and competitive position.

We rely upon trade secrets, including uepietd know-how, technology and other proprietafgrination to develop and maintain our competitive
position, which we seek to protect, in part, byfaentiality agreements with our employees andamliaborators and consultants. We also have agnets
with our employees that obligate them to assigir theentions to us. However, it is possible thethinology relevant to our business will be inde perigt
developed by a person that is not a party to sncdmgeeement. Furthermore, if the employees, canstsior collaborators that are parties to these
agreements breach or violate the terms of theseagmts, we may not have adequate remedies fauahybreach or violation, and we could lose outd
secrets through such breaches or violations. Fuyrhie trade secrets could be disclosed, misapiatapror otherwise become known or be independently
discovered by our competitors. In addition, intetilel property laws in foreign countries may naitpct our intellectual property to the same exsasnthe
laws of the United States. If our trade secretdda@osed or misappropriated, it would harm odlitgtio protect our rights and have a material exche
effect on our business.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents. Targer infringement or unauthorized use, we mayegired to file infringement claims, which can be
expensive and timeensuming. In addition, in an infringement procegdia court may decide that a patent of ours ialidwor unenforceable, or may reft
to stop the other party from using the technolaggsue on the grounds that our patents do notrdbeetechnology in question. An adverse resudtrin
litigation proceeding could put one or more of patents at risk of being invalidated or interpratadrowly. Furthermore, because of the substaatredunt
of discovery required in connection with intellegtproperty litigation, there is a
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risk that some of our confidential information adlle compromised by disclosure during this typktighation.

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain
and could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

Our commercial success depends upon olityadnd the ability of our collaborators to develananufacture, market and sell our drug candidates
use our proprietary technologies without infringingisappropriating or otherwise violating the piietary rights or intellectual property of third gas. We
may become party to, or be threatened with, fudreersarial proceedings or litigation regardingliettual property rights with respect to our drug
candidates and technology. Third parties may as¥erigement claims against us based on existatgnis or patents that may be granted in the fulure
we are found to infringe a third-party's intellesitproperty rights, we could be required to obtalitense from such third-party to continue deveigmur
drug candidates and technology. However, we mapeatble to obtain any required license on comrallyaieasonable terms or at all. Even if we were
able to obtain a license, it could be non-excludihrereby giving our competitors access to the saetenologies licensed to us. We could be forced,
including by court order, to cease developing tiigriging technology or product. In addition, weuttbbe found liable for monetary damages. Clainas th
we have misappropriated the confidential informatio trade secrets of third parties can have daimegative impact on our business.

Third parties may assert that our employees or consultants have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information or misappropriated trade secrets.

We employ individuals who were previoustgmoyed at universities or other diagnostic or bnaceutical companies, including our competitors
potential competitors. Although we try to ensuratthur employees and consultants do not use thgFiptary information or know-how of others in their
work for us, we may be subject to claims that wewremployees, consultants or independent contsabave inadvertently or otherwise used or digtlos
intellectual property, including trade secrets threo proprietary information, of a former employerother third parties. Litigation may be necessary
defend against these claims. If we fail in defegdiny such claims, in addition to paying monetamnédges, we may lose valuable intellectual property
rights or personnel. Even if we are successfukfiending against such claims, litigation could tesusubstantial costs and be a distraction toagament
and other employees.

Regulatory Risks

If our processes and systems are not compliant with regulatory regquirements, we could be subject to delaysin submitting BLASs, NDAs or restrictions on
marketing of drugs after they have been approved.

We currently are developing drug candid&tesegulatory approval and are in the processpfementing regulated processes and systems e
obtain and maintain regulatory approval for ourgdecandidates. Certain of these processes and syfterronducting clinical trials and manufacturing
material must be compliant with regulatory requieets before we can apply for regulatory approvabfo drug candidates. These processes and systems
will be subject to continual review and periodispection by the FDA and other regulatory bodiesidfare unable to achieve compliance in a timely
fashion, or if compliance issues are identifiedrat point in the development and approval procgesnay experience delays in filing for regulatory
approval for our drug candidates, or delays iniobtg regulatory approval after filing. In additioany later discovery of previously unknown probéeon
safety issues with approved drugs or manufactypingesses, or failure to comply with regulatoryuiegments, may result in restrictions on such dirgs
manufacturing processes, withdrawal of drugs froenrharket, the imposition of civil or criminal
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penalties or a refusal by the FDA and/or other leguy bodies to approve pending applications farkating approval of new drugs or supplements to
approved applications, any of which could have &ene adverse effect on our business. In additiemare a party to agreements that transfer regpliys
for complying with specified regulatory requiremgrguch as filing and maintenance of marketingaizhtions and safety reporting or compliance with
manufacturing requirements, to our collaboratois third-party manufacturers. If our collaboratorghard-party manufacturers do not fulfill these
regulatory obligations, any drugs for which we togyt obtain approval may be subject to later regiris on manufacturing or sale, or may even risk
withdrawal, which could have a material adverseafbn our business.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for a drug candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which
may result in significant additional expense and subject usto penaltiesif we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements.

Once regulatory approval has been grattedapproved product and its manufacturer are sutgecontinual review by the FDA and/or non-U.S.
regulatory authorities. Any regulatory approvalttva or our collaboration partners receive for durg candidates may be subject to limitations @n th
indicated uses for which the product may be madketecontain requirements for potentially costhgpmarketing follow-up studies to monitor the sgafet
and efficacy of the product. In addition, if the &ARnd/or nond.S. regulatory authorities approve any of our dragdidates, we will be subject to exten:
and ongoing regulatory requirements by the FDA@her regulatory authorities with regard to theelaiy, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage,
advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for owrdpicts. In addition, manufacturers of our drug piats are required to comply with cGMP regulations,
which include requirements related to quality cohaind quality assurance as well as the correspgndaintenance of records and documentation. Rurthe
regulatory authorities must inspect and approvsetmeanufacturing facilities before they can be usadanufacture our drug products, and these fiasili
are subject to continual review and periodic insipas by the FDA and other regulatory authoritiesdompliance with cGMP regulations. If we or adhi
party discover previously unknown problems withraduct, such as adverse events of unanticipategtigeor frequency, or problems with the facility
where the product is manufactured, a regulatorigaity may impose restrictions on that product, ienufacturer or us, including requiring withdrawél
the product from the market or suspension of marufag. If we, our drug candidates or the manufaey facilities for our drug candidates fail tonaply
with regulatory requirements of the FDA and/or othen-U.S. regulatory authorities, we could be sabjo administrative or judicially imposed sanotp
including the following:

. warning letters

. civil or criminal penalties and fines;

. injunctions;

. consent decrees;

. suspension or withdrawal of regulatory appro

. suspension of any ongoing clinical studies;

. voluntary or mandatory product recalls and pubjiciiquirements;

. refusal to accept or approve applications for mamgeapproval of new drug:

. restrictions on operations, including costly newnofacturing requirements; or
. seizure or detention of drugs or import be
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The regulatory requirements and policiey ot@nge and additional government regulations beegnacted for which we may also be required to
comply. We cannot predict the likelihood, naturexrtent of government regulation that may arisenffature legislation or administrative action, eitiin
the United States or in other countries. If werastable to maintain regulatory compliance, we metybe permitted to market our future products eund
business may suffer.

Health care reform and restrictions on reimbursement may limit our returns on potential products.

Because our strategy ultimately depend$hercommercial success of our products, we assameng other things, that end users of our produitits
be able to pay for them. In the United States @hdracountries, in most cases, the volume of s#lesoducts like those we are developing dependsien
availability of reimbursement from third-party pagpincluding national health care agencies, peivegalth insurance plans and health maintenance
organizations. Third-party payors increasingly Eae the prices charged for medical products andces. Accordingly, if we succeed in bringing
products to market, and reimbursement is not dslailar is insufficient, we could be prevented freatcessfully commercializing our potential products

The health care industry in the United &atnd in Europe is undergoing fundamental chaagj@sresult of political, economic and regulatory
influences. Reforms proposed from time to timeudel mandated basic health care benefits, contnofealth care spending, the establishment of
governmental controls over the cost of therapieston of large medical services and productshasing groups and fundamental changes to the health
care delivery system. We anticipate ongoing re\aewt assessment of health care delivery systemmatithds of payment in the United States and other
countries. We cannot predict whether any particridéorm initiatives will result or, if adopted, wittheir impact on us will be. However, we expedtth
adoption of any reform proposed will impair ourlapito market products at acceptable prices anatl tihcertainty concerning future government regurat
of consumer healthcare purchasing and insuranceresait in difficulties for drug development compes) like us, in raising capital.

Changesin laws affecting the health care industry could adversely affect our business.

In the U.S., there have been numerous padp@onsidered at the federal and state leveéfaom the health care industry and its cost, aisllikely
that federal and state legislatures and healthcgewill continue to focus on health care refomthie future. While additional health care reformym
increase the number of patients who have insuremeerage for our products, it may also include costainment measures that adversely affect
reimbursement for our products. Congress has alssidered legislation to change the Medicare rems#uent system for outpatient drugs, increase the
amount of rebates that manufacturers pay for cgeeohitheir drugs by Medicaid programs and fad#itidne importation of lower-cost prescription drugs
that are marketed outside the U.S. Some statedsareonsidering legislation that would control griees of drugs, and state Medicaid programs are
increasingly requesting manufacturers to pay supeteal rebates and requiring prior authorizatiohgystate program for use of any drug for which
supplemental rebates are not being paid. Managedoeganizations continue to seek price discoumdis im some cases, to impose restrictions on the
coverage of particular drugs. Government effortethuce Medicaid expenses may lead to increasedfusanaged care organizations by Medicaid
programs. This may result in managed care orgaoiminfluencing prescription decisions for a largegment of the population and a corresponding
constraint on prices and reimbursement for our yetsd
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We and our collaborators and partners apénaa highly regulated industry. As a result, gmmental actions may adversely affect our busjness
operations or financial condition, including:

. new laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or nieterpretations of existing laws, regulations ecidions, related to health care availabil
method of delivery and payment for health care petgland services;

. changes in the FDA and foreign regulatory apprpvatesses that may delay or prevent the approvawfproducts and result in lost ma
opportunity;
. changes in FDA and foreign regulations that mayiregadditional safety monitoring, labeling changestrictions on product distribution or

use, or other measures after the introduction opoaducts to market, which could increase ourcoftoing business, adversely affect the
future permitted uses of approved products, orratise adversely affect the market for our products;

. new laws, regulations and judicial decisions affecpricing or marketing practices; a

. changes in the tax laws relating to our operations.

The enactment in the U.S. of health caferme possible legislation which could ease theyeat competing follow-on biologics in the markedpe,
new legislation or implementation of existing staty provisions on importation of lower-cost conipgtdrugs from other jurisdictions, and legislatmm
comparative effectiveness research are exampleguiously enacted and possible future changesws that could adversely affect our business. In
addition, the Food and Drug Administration Amendisekct of 2007 included new authorization for tH2Ato require post-market safety monitoring,
along with an expanded clinical trials registry afidical trials results database, and expandelogity for the FDA to impose civil monetary penegtion
companies that fail to meet certain commitments.

Risks Related to our Capital Stock
Our history of losses and uncertainty of future profitability make our common stock a highly speculative investment.

We have had no commercial revenue to date $ales of our drug candidates. We had an acatetutieficit of $463.8 million as of December 31,
2014. We expect to spend substantial funds to moatihe research and development testing of oulupts candidates.

In anticipation of FDA approval of thesegucts, we will need to make substantial investsiemestablish sales, marketing, quality contegutatory
compliance capabilities and commercial manufacgualtiances. These investments will increase if whdn any of these products receive FDA approval.
We cannot predict how quickly our lead productd piibgress through the regulatory approval procéssa result, we may continue to lose money for
several years.

We cannot be certain that we will achievswstain profitability in the future. Failure tolaeve profitability could diminish our ability ®ustain
operations, pay dividends on our common stock,iolatdditional required funds and make required payision our present or future indebtedness.

Our share price has been and could remain volatile.

The market price of our common stock hatohically experienced and may continue to expegesignificant volatility. From January 2014 thrbug
December 2014, the market price of our common staskfluctuated from a high of $33.33 per shathénfirst quarter of 2014, to a low of $10.76 per
share in the second quarter of 2014. Our progredsveloping and commercializing our products,itiigact of government regulations on our products
industry, the potential sale of a
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large volume of our common stock by stockholdews,quarterly operating results, changes in germmadlitions in the economy or the financial markets
and other developments affecting us or our congstitould cause the market price of our commorkgtméuctuate substantially with significant marke
losses. If our stockholders sell a substantial remolb shares of common stock, especially if th@dessare made during a short period of time, tsates
could adversely affect the market price of our canmtock and could impair our ability to raise ¢alpiln addition, in recent years, the stock maheet
experienced significant price and volume fluctuagioT his volatility has affected the market prioésecurities issued by many companies for reasons
unrelated to their operating performance and magm@ely affect the price of our common stock. Iditidn, we could be subject to a securities clasoa
litigation as a result of volatility in the pricd our stock, which could result in substantial schd diversion of management's attention and ressand
could harm our stock price, business, prospeds|tseof operations and financial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards will be subject to limitation and, under certain circumstances, may be eliminated.

Utilization of our net operating loss aredearch and development credit carryforwards maubpect to substantial annual limitation due taevship
change limitations that have occurred previouslthat could occur in the future provided by SecB&2 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or
Section 382, as well as similar state provisiongdneral, an ownership change, as defined byd®e882, results from transactions increasing the
ownership of certain shareholders or public granghe stock of a corporation by more than 50 petage points over a three-year period.

In October 2007, June 2009 and in Decer@b6®, we experienced a change in ownership aseatklip Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Historically, we have raised capital through treuence of capital stock on several occasions wharpined with shareholders' subsequent disposition
those shares, has resulted in three changes abtat defined by Section 382. As a result ofdivaership change in October 2007, utilization aof ou
Federal net operating loss carryforwards is sultgean annual limitation. Any unused annual limi@atmay be carried over to later years, and theusrnof
the limitation may, under certain circumstancessuigect to adjustment if the fair value of the pat assets are determined to be below or in exdebs
tax basis of such assets at the time of the owigecstange, and such unrealized loss or gain igrézed during the five-year period after the owhgrs
change. Subsequent ownership changes, as defiigatiion 382, could further limit the amount of aperating loss carryforwards and research and
development credits that can be utilized annuallgffset future taxable income.

We have not undertaken a study to assesthethan ownership change or multiple ownershimgba has occurred for (i) AVANT or CuraGen prio
our acquisitions, (ii) the Company on the statelgiii) the Company since October 2012, or (#3&arch and development credits. If, based onauch
study, we were to determine that there has be@waership change at any time since its formatiditization of net operating loss or tax credit
carryforwards would be subject to an annual lingtaunder Section 382.

Refer to Note 15, "Income Taxes," in theamwpanying notes to the consolidated financiakstants for additional discussion on income taxes.
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2014, our significamaisked properties are described below.

Approximate

Use

Lease Expiration Date

Headquarters, Office and Laboratt
Office and Laborator
Manufacturing Facility

April 2019(1)
April 2017(2)
December 2017(<
December 2019(«

Lease includes two renewal options of fivergezach. Lease also includes provision for earlyitgation in December 2015 upon

Property Location Square Feet
Hampton, New Jerse 33,40(
Needham, Massachuse 35,20(
Fall River, Massachusel 23,40(
Branford, Connectict 10,30( Office
(2) Lease includes two renewal options of five yeachea
2) Lease includes one renewal option of five years.
©) , .
prior notice of one year.
4

Lease includes two renewal options of three ydarase also includes provision for early terminatiotih 12 months notice

Iltem 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any matéeigal proceedings.

Iltem 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock currently trades on theddg Global Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol "CLDXhe following table sets forth for the periods
indicated the high and low sale prices per sharedo common stock, as reported by NASDAQ.

Fiscal Period High Low
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quarte $ 12.4¢ $ 6.81
Second Quarte 16.4¢ 10.7:
Third Quartel 37.9¢ 16.0C
Fourth Quarte 38.8¢ 20.8¢
Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quarte $ 33.3t $ 16.5¢
Second Quarte 18.5:2 10.7¢
Third Quartel 18.3( 11.9:
Fourth Quarte 21.7( 12.11

As of February 17, 2015, there were appnately 366 shareholders of record of our commockston February 17, 2015 the closing price of our
common stock, as reported by NASDAQ, was $21.44pare. We have not paid any dividends on our camstack since our inception and do not intend
to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information@sDecember 31, 2014 regarding shares of our camstark that may be issued under our existing gquit
compensation plans, including our 2008 Stock Opdind Incentive Plan (the "2008 Plan") and our 2B¥ployee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2004 ESPP
Plan™).

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted Average future issuance under equity
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plan
of outstanding options outstanding options (excluding securities
and rights(1) and rights referenced in column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders| 7,015,35((3)$ 9.34 828,48!(4)

1) Does not include any Restricted Stock as such skaeealready reflected in our outstanding shares.
2) Consists of the 2008 Plan, 2004 ESPP Plan, CeRdesearch's 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and Cura@e0'8 Stock Plan.

3) Does not include purchase rights accruing uttte2004 ESPP Plan because the purchase prid¢h@mefore the number of shares
to be purchased) will not be determined until theé ef the purchase period.

4) Includes shares available for future issuance utide2008 Plan and the 2004 ESPP F
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CELLDEX THEAPEUTICS, INC., NASDAQ MARKET INDEX—U.S. AND
PEER GROUP INDICES

The graph below compares the cumulative gibckholder return on the common stock for theqal from December 31, 2009 through December 31,
2014, with the cumulative return on (i) NASDAQ U@iehmark TR Index and (ii) NASDAQ Pharmaceuticalq&ctor) Index. The comparison assumes
investment of $100 on December 31, 2009 in our comstock and in each of the indices and, in eash,@ssumes reinvestment of all dividends. The
points on the graph are as of December 31 of theipdicated.

Dollars
600
$500 /\
$300 /
$200 7 fﬂ,____..-—-:@
$100 E’——{_’/_‘:’r
$- { { | } i
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—p— Clldix Tharapautics, Ine.
Masdaq US Benchmark TR Indax
—5— Nasdag Pharmaceutical (Subsoctor) Indox
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Celldex Therapeutics, Inc $ 10 $ 8 $ 56 $ 144 $ 51 $ 391
NASDAQ US Benchmark TR Inde $ 10C $ 118 $ 118 $ 137 $ 18z $ 20¢€
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical (Subsector) Inc $ 10C $ 105 $ 121 $ 13t $ 187 $ 22¢

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated finahdata are derived from our financial statemefite consolidated statement of operations datdhéoyears
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and thelmated balance sheet data as of December 31,&@12013 have been derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements included in 180f this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This datawdtde read in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and related nokésh are included elsewhere in this Annual ReparForm 10-K, and "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gaiems" included in Item 7 below.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014

2013 2012 2011

2010

REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensi

Agreements $ 83¢ $ 16C $ 146 $ 11C $ 40,18:
Contracts and Gran 2,74¢ 1,617 281 36 22C
Product Royaltie — 2,33¢ 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 6,38¢

Total Revenut 3,58¢ 4,111 11,20: 9,26t 46,79:
OPERATING EXPENSE
Research and Developme 104,38: 67,40: 47,39¢ 32,43¢ 27,65(
Royalty — 2,33¢ 10,77¢ 9,11¢ 12,07%
Other Operating Expen: 21,63t 15,81¢ 11,10¢ 11,10¢ 13,52:

Total Operating Expens 126,01t 85,55: 69,27¢ 52,66¢ 53,24¢
Operating Los: (122,43() (81,447  (58,077) (43,399 (6,45%)
Investment and Other Income, M 4,35( 81¢ 53C 5,25¢
Interest Expens — (927) (1,57€) (1,796) (1,337)

Net Loss $ (118,08) $ (81,550 $ (59,129 $ (44,799 $ (2,537
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Comn

Share $ (1.3) $ (1.02) $ (102 $ (1.19) $ (0.098
Shares Used in Calculating Basic and Dilu

Net Loss Per Common She 89,39¢ 79,77 57,71 39,50! 31,86¢

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA
(In thousands)
December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Working Capital $ 180,49 $ 284,83¢ $ 67,42¢ $ 40,38 $ 42,73¢
Total Assets 248,01« 347,09! 125,54 97,99 109,94
Long Term Liabilities 11,86: 6,95( 12,08: 14,97 14,48(
Accumulated Defici (463,759 (345,679 (264,129 (205,00 (160,20
Total Stockholders' Equil 211,66( 319,79! 95,77 68,72: 75,25¢
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are a biopharmaceutical company focoseithe development and commercialization of sevemalunotherapy technologies for the treatment of
cancer and other difficult-to-treat diseases. Qugaandidates are derived from a broad set of temmgntary technologies which have the ability ibaet
the human immune system and enable the creatittretdpeutic agents. We are using these technolagsvelop targeted immunotherapeutics comprised
of antibodies, adjuvants and monotherapies anbaahidrug conjugates that prevent or treat canueémogher diseases that modify undesirable actbyty
the body's own proteins or cells.

Our lead drug candidates include rindopepifalso referred to as Rintega® and CDX-110) dechbatumumab vedotin (also referred to as CDX-
011). Rindopepimut is a targeted immunotherapénticpivotal Phase 3 study for the treatment afitfilme glioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for the
treatment of recurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumuxredntin is a targeted antibody-drug conjugate iarelomized, Phase 2b study for the treatment of
triple negative breast cancer and a Phase 2 studkyd treatment of metastatic melanoma. We alse banumber of earlier stage drug candidates imceli
development, including varlilumab (also referred$oCDX-1127), a fully human therapeutic monoclardlbody for cancer indications, CDX-1401, a
targeted immunotherapeutic aimed at antigen priegeeglls, or APC, for cancer indications and CDXEt3an immune cell mobilizing agent and dendritic
cell growth factor. Our drug candidates addressatapportunities for which we believe current tyges are inadequate or non-existent.

We are building a fully integrated, comnigkstage biopharmaceutical company that develomoitant therapies for patients with unmet medical
needs. Our program assets provide us with theegicabptions to either retain full economic rigldour innovative therapies or seek favorable enooo
terms through advantageous commercial partnerships.approach allows us to maximize the overdli@af our technology and product portfolio while
best ensuring the expeditious development of eadikiidual product.

The following table includes the progratmattwe currently believe are significant to ouribass:

Product (generic) Indication/Field Partner Status
CLINICAL
Rindopepimu Fron-line glioblastome —  Phase!:
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic breast canc —  Phase 2|
Rindopepimu Recurrent glioblastom —  Phase:
Glembatumumab vedot Metastatic melanom —  Phase:
Varlilumab Lymphoma/leukemia and solid tumc —  Phase:
Varlilumab Multiple solid tumors —  Phase 1/.
CDX-1401 Multiple solid tumors —  Phase:
CDX-301 Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplanta —  Phase:
PRECLINICAL
CDX-014 Ovarian and renal canc —  Preclinica

The expenditures that will be necessamxerute our business plan are subject to numermestainties. Completion of clinical trials may ¢adevere
years or more, and the length of time generalljesasubstantially according to the type, complexiyvelty and intended use of a product candidaie.
not unusual for the clinical development of thegees of product candidates to each take five yaansore, and for total development costs to exceed
$100 million for each product
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candidate. Our estimates that clinical trials &f type we generally conduct are typically completeer the following timelines:

Estimated

Completion
Clinical Phase Period
Phase : 1-2 Years
Phase : 1-5 Years
Phase ! 1-5 Years

The duration and the cost of clinical siaday vary significantly over the life of a projext a result of differences arising during theicéihtrial
protocol, including, among others, the following:

. the number of patients that ultimately participaténe trial;

. the duration of patient follo-up that seems appropriate in view of rest
. the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. the length of time required to enroll suitable gatisubjects; and

. the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

We test potential product candidates in eaus preclinical studies for safety, toxicologyl ammunogenicity. We may then conduct multiple icih
trials for each product candidate. As we obtainltsgrom trials, we may elect to discontinue olagieclinical trials for certain product candidatesorder tc
focus our resources on more promising product ciabels.

An element of our business strategy isuspe the research and development of a broadporf product candidates. This is intended towlls to
diversify the risks associated with our researdahdevelopment expenditures. To the extent we aablarto maintain a broad range of product candsdate
our dependence on the success of one or a fewgirodndidates increases.

Regulatory approval is required before we market our product candidates as therapeutdupts. In order to proceed to subsequent clincl t
stages and to ultimately achieve regulatory approhe regulatory agency must conclude that ounicdil data is safe and effective. Historically, theults
from preclinical testing and early clinical trigthrough Phase 2) have often not been predictivesflts obtained in later clinical trials. A numio¢ new
drugs and biologics have shown promising resultsaity clinical trials, but subsequently failedetstablish sufficient safety and efficacy data ttaoh
necessary regulatory approvals.

Furthermore, our business strategy incltlde®ption of entering into collaborative arranges with third parties to complete the developnaewt
commercialization of our product candidates. Ingkient that third parties take over the clinicillfprocess for one of our product candidateseienated
completion date would largely be under controltafttthird party rather than us. We cannot foreadtt any degree of certainty which proprietary prots,
if any, will be subject to future collaborative @ngements, in whole or in part, and how such asamemts would affect our development plan or capital
requirements. Our programs may also benefit frobsislies, grants, contracts or government or agspoysored studies that could reduce our develog
costs.

As a result of the uncertainties discustgalve, among others, it is difficult to accuratetgimate the duration and completion costs of esearch and
development projects or when, if ever, and to veixéént we will receive cash inflows from the comaiglization and sale of a product. Our inability to
complete our research and development projectsiinedy manner or our failure to enter into colladtive agreements, when appropriate, could
significantly increase our capital requirements enald adversely impact our liquidity. These unaieties could force us to seek additional, external
sources of financing from time to time in ordectmtinue with our business strategy. Our inabtlityaise additional capital, or to do so on tereespnabl
acceptable to us, would jeopardize the future ssscoéour business.
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During the past five years through Decen#igr2014, we incurred an aggregate of $279.3anilin research and development expenses. The
following table indicates the amount incurred facle of our significant research programs and foemwidentified research and development activities
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@t2l The amounts disclosed in the following tabféect direct research and development costs,
license fees associated with the underlying teargyohnd an allocation of indirect research and ldgwveent costs to each program.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(In thousands)

Rindopepimu $ 52,86. $ 38,14¢ $ 25,00¢
Glembatumumab vedot 26,907 11,28¢ 6,32¢
Varlilumab 9,45¢ 9,37¢ 4,02(
CDX-1401 4,14¢ 61z 1,032
CDX-301 1,23¢ 53z 1,482
CDX-014 3,72 937 1,071
Other Program 6,05( 6,511 8,46/
Total R&D Expenst $ 104,38: $ 67,40 $ 47,39¢

Clinical Development Programs
Rindopepimu

Rindopepimut is an immunotherapeutic thegets the tumor-specific molecule epidermal grdiattor receptor variant Ill, or EGFRvIII. EGFRVIH
a mutated form of the epidermal growth factor réeer EGFR, that is only expressed in cancesaaild not in normal tissue and can directly coatalic
cancer cell growth. EGFRUVIII is expressed in apprately 30% of glioblastoma multiforme, or GBM, tars, the most common and aggressive form of
brain cancer. Rindopepimut is composed of the EGIFRgptide linked to a carrier protein called Keyé Limpet Hemocyanin, or KLH, and administered
together with the adjuvant GM-CSF. The Food andgDXdministration, or FDA, and the European Medisidgiency, or EMA, have both granted orphan
drug designation for rindopepimut for the treatma&fEGFRVIII expressing GBM. The FDA has also geahfFast Track designation. In February 2015, the
FDA granted rindopepimut Breakthrough Therapy Deaipn for the treatment of adult patients with ER¥RI-positive glioblastoma.

The Phase 2a study of rindopepimut refetwests ACTIVATE was led by collaborating investigia at the Brain Center at Duke Comprehensive
Cancer Center in Durham, North Carolina and at Miiderson Cancer Center in Houston, Texas andledrb8 evaluable GBM patients. An extension of
the Phase 2a study referred to as ACT Il evaluz®ealdditional GBM patients treated in combinatidthwhe current standard of care, maintenance
temozolomide, or TMZ, at the same two institutions.

The Phase 2b study of rindopepimut refetoeas ACT 11l combined rindopepimut with standafctare, TMZ, in patients with newly diagnosed GE
The ACT Il study provided for a multi-center, nommdomized dataset for rindopepimut in 65 patiahtsver 30 sites throughout the United States.

In November 2013, we announced the foud-fare-year survival data from the 105 patientsoliad in the three Phase 2 rindopepimut clinicatlists
(ACTIVATE, ACT Il and ACT Ill) in EGFRuvIII-positiveGBM. Across these three Phase 2 studies of rinlopg, survival data remains consistent and
suggests a continuing survival benefit in comparigoindependent control datasets (see chart belbthle median and at all other time points evefliat
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Phase 2 Frontline Long-term Overall Survival Assesaents

Median, Years 2-year 3-year 4-year 5-year
(95% CI) rate rate rate rate
Phase 2 rindopepimut studies (n=1 2.1(1.8,2.) 51% 3% 18% 14%
Matched historical control (n=17)(. 1.3(0.9, 1)) 6% 6% 0% 0%

(2) Patients treated at M.D. Anderson contemporanediwshCTIVATE, matched for major eligibility requinents, including
EGFRuvIll-positive GBM, gross total resection and no disgasgression through chemoradiation treatme

The pooled overall long-term survival réswontinue to be consistent with the ACT IIl Phassudy (18% for 4-years and 14% for 5-years).

In December 2011, we initiated ACT IV, agtal, randomized, double-blind, controlled Phas¢ugly of rindopepimut in patients with surgically
resected, EGFRVIII-positive GBM. Patients were mnized after the completion of surgery and standaeinoradiation treatment. The treatment regimen
included a rindopepimut priming phase post-radiefalowed by an adjuvant TMZ phase and a rindopepimaintenance therapy phase. Patients are
treated until disease progression or intoleranthdmpy. The primary objective of the study islédermine whether rindopepimut plus adjuvant GM-CSF
improves the overall survival of patients with ngwlagnosed EGFRvIII-positive GBM with minimal rdeal disease post resection and traditional chemo-
radiation when compared to treatment with TMZ amatrol injection of KLH. KLH is a component ohdopepimut and was selected due to its ability to
generate a similar injection site reaction to thiizerved with rindopepimut.

In December 2014, ACT IV completed enroliinén total, over 4,800 GBM patients were screeioedE GFRVIII status from more than 200 clinical
trial sites across 22 countries and, consistertit rior studies, 30% were positive for the EGFRwilitation. The study enrolled 745 patients to reheh
required 374 patients with minimal residual dise@ssessed by central review) needed for analfdegrimary overall survival endpoint. All pattsn
including patients with disease that exceed thisstiold, will be included in a secondary analy$isverall survival as well as analyses of progmasdiee
survival, safety and tolerability, and quality @&l The timing of the overall survival primary euaint data is event-driven. Interim analyses wéll b
conducted by an independent Data Safety and Mamjt@oard at 50% and 75% of events (deaths). Tieifiterim analysis is expected in mid-2015. The
second interim analysis is currently expectedta 2015 or early 2016 and the final data is culyemtpected by the end of 2016, although our exqiErts
regarding the timing for the second interim analysid final data read out may change based on mtest

In December 2011, we also initiated ReA&Phase 2 study of rindopepimut in combination Witilastin® in patients with recurrent EGFRVIII-
positive GBM. This study completed enroliment i2@nd includes 3 groups. Group 1 consists of Ti2qta who had not previously received Avastin and
were randomized to receive either rindopepimut&vastin or a control injection of KLH and Avastin & blinded fashion. Group 2 includes 25 patients
who are refractory to Avastin having received Airast either the frontline or recurrent setting vubsequent progression and who received rindopepi
plus Avastin in a single treatment arm. In Augut2 we announced the addition of an expansionrtolfiaip to 75 patients, called Group 2C, to better
characterize the potential activity of rindopepirimuthis refractory patient population. This degisivas based on early evidence of anti-tumor agfivi
including stable disease, tumor shrinkage and tigegsr-reported response. In total, Group 2C éeddR8 patients. The primary endpoint is six month
progression-free survival rate (PFS-6) for groupsd 2 and objective response rate (ORR) for g&ftipOther study endpoints include PFS-6, ORR, PFS,
overall survival, or OS and safety and tolerabhility

In November 2014, we reported the followinigrim data from the ReACT study. Rindopepimuisphvastin was very well tolerated (dosing up to
26+ months) and the results demonstrated clear
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signs of clinical activity in advanced patient ptgtions, including evidence of anti-tumor activitymor shrinkage, objective response and stabtade).
Strong immune response correlated with improvedaue. In Avastin-naive patients treated with bataopepimut and Avastin, a statistically signifitan
survival benefit was seen compared to the conaépts.

Group 1 Interim Data

. PFS-6: PFS-6 by investigator read was 27% for patients treatiéd rindopepimut compared to 11% for control pats (p=0.048
. Survival: The OS demonstrated a statistically significanddit (p=0.0208) with a hazard ratio of 0.47 (0.291) in favor of the
rindopepimut treated patients. Median OS was 126ths for patients treated with rindopepimut corepap 8.8 months for control patier

. Response Rate 7 out of 29 patients (24%) evaluable for resparsthe rindopepimut arm experienced a confirmgdative response
versus 5 out of 30 patients (17%) evaluable fgpaase on the control arm. Assessments of respoaseasgnducted by study investigators
according to RANO criteria.

. Other: All subgroup analyses, including performanceustasteroid use and recent resection, show a heat@wdn favor of rindopepimt
treatment.

Group 2/2C Interim Data

. Survival: Median OS was 5.1 months (95% CI 3.2, 6.5) feséhheavily pretreated, refractory EGFRVIII-positpatients. 46% of patients
in Group 2/2C were alive at 6 months.

. Response Rate Based on investigator assessment, two patieperiexced complete response, of which one was dincad, and twc
patients experienced partial response, of whichveaeunconfirmed, in Group 2. Two of these fourgras did not meet the protocol defined
definition of refractory in Group 2, the only twoch patients enrolled. No additional objective meses were observed in Group 2C and the
study did not meet the criteria (defined as tw@oeses in the first 23 patients enrolled in GroG@) @r continued enroliment. Ten patients
with measurable disease experienced objective tshmimkage across Group 2/2C.

Final data is anticipated by mid-year 2@h8 we intend to present this data at a peer-redewedical meeting in this same time frame.
Glembatumumab Vedotin

Glembatumumab vedotin is an antibody-dmugjuegate, or ADC, that consists of a fully-humannoaonal antibody, CR011, linked to a potent cell-
killing drug, monomethyl-auristatin E, or MMAE. TI&R011 antibody specifically targets glycoproteiM Bl referred to as gpNMB, that is over-expressed
in a variety of cancers including breast cancerrapthnoma. The ADC technology, comprised of MMAH arstable linker system for attaching it to
CRO011, was licensed from Seattle Genetics, Incisitite same as that used in the marketed prodimztAs®. The ADC is designed to be stable in the
bloodstream. Following intravenous administratigiembatumumab vedotin targets and binds to gpNMBugon internalization into the targeted cell,
glembatumumab vedotin is designed to release MMABfCRO11 to produce a cell-killing effect. The FDAs granted Fast Track designation to
glembatumumab vedotin for the treatment of advanedthctory/resistant gpNMB-expressing breast eanc

Treatment of Breast Cancer: The Phase 1/2 study of glembatumumab vedotirirastered intravenously once every three weektuated patient
with locally advanced or metastatic breast cander had received prior therapy (median of severr peigimens). The study began with a bridging phase
confirm the maximum tolerated dose, or MTD, andhteepanded into a Phase 2 open-label, multi-cettiely. The study confirmed the safety of
glembatumumab vedotin at the
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pre-defined maximum dose level (1.88 mg/kg) in Beuéis. An additional 28 patients were enrolledinexpanded Phase 2 cohort (for a total of 34edeat
patients at 1.88 mg/kg, the Phase 2 dose) to eedllva PFS rate at 12 weeks. The 1.88 mg/kg dosewsth tolerated in this patient population witte th
most common adverse events of rash, alopecia,atigié. The primary activity endpoint, which calfed at least 5 of 25 (20%) patients in the Phase 2
study portion to be progression-free at 12 weeles, met as 9 of 26 (35%) evaluable patients wergression-free at 12 weeks.

For all patients treated at the maximunedesel, tumor shrinkage was seen in 62% (16/2d8)raedian PFS was 9.1 weeks. A subset of 10 patients
had "triple negative disease,"” a more aggressiwadbrcancer subtype that carries a high risk apssl and reduced survival as well as limited thearép
options due to lack of over-expression of HER2/mestrogen and progesterone receptors. In thesn@atvr8% (7/9) had some tumor shrinkage, 12-week
PFS rate was 70% (7/10), and median PFS was 1&Rsw&umor samples from a subset of patients aatbdese groups were analyzed for gpNMB
expression. The tumor samples from most patiertwstt evidence of stromal and/or tumor cell expozssf gpNMB.

In December 2012, we announced final redutm the EMERGE study, a randomized, multi-ceRtesise 2b study of glembatumumab vedotin in 122
patients with heavily pre-treated, advanced, gpNbddBitive breast cancer. Patients were randomizddl {@ receive either glembatumumab vedotin or
single-agent Investigator's Choice, or IC, chemmatwe. Patients randomized to receive IC were altbteecross over to receive glembatumumab vedotin
following disease progression. Activity endpoimtsluded response rate, PFS and OS. The final sesslishown below, suggested that glembatumumab
vedotin induces significant response rates comparedrrently available therapies in patient subséth advanced, refractory breast cancers with\BN
over-expression (expression in greater than orléqub% of tumor cells) and in patients with tapiegative breast cancer. The OS and PFS of matient
treated with glembatumumab vedotin was also obseiv®e greatest in patients with triple negatixealt cancer who also over-express gpNMB and all
patients with gpNMB over-expression.

EMERGE: Overall Response Rate and Disease Controldda

Triple Negative and

gpNMB Over-Expression gpNMB Over-Expression
glembatumumab Investigator glembatumumab Investigator
vedotin Choice vedotin Choice
(n=25) (n=8) (n=12) (n=4)
Respons: 32% 13% 33% 0%
Disease Control Ra 64% 38% 75% 25%

Responses per RECIST 1.1; IC = Investigator's Gha@tembatumumab vedotin arm includes 15 patiehts evossed over to receive
glembatumumab vedotin treatment after progressiotCo Analysis of best response excludes patiehtsdiscontinued from study without
evaluable po-baseline radiographic imaging (n=15 for glembatunainvedotin arm; n=5 for IC arm
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EMERGE: Progression Free Survival (PFS) and OveralBurvival (OS) Data

Triple Negative

gpNMB and gpNMB
Over-Expression Over-Expression
glembatumumab Investigator glembatumumab Investigator
vedotin Choice vedotin Choice
Median PFS (month: 2.7 1kt 3.C 1kt
p=0.14 p=0.008
Median OS (months 10.C 5.7 10.C 5.E
p=0.18 p=0.003

When cross over patients are removed, median @8&tients with gpNMB over-expression is 10.0 mofghglembatumumab vedotin vs
5.2 months for IC (p=0.05) and median OS in triptgative patients with gpNMB over- expression i Honths for glembatumumab
vedotin vs 5.2 months for IC (p=0.00

In December 2013, we initiated METRIC, adamized, controlled Phase 2b study of glembatunbuedotin in patients with triple negative breast
cancer that over-express gpNMB. To-date, 95 site®pen to enroliment across the United Statesa@aand Australia. The study was originally designe
to obtain accelerated approval. Feedback fromaainnvestigators conducting the study indicatead the eligibility criteria for study entry wererliting
their ability to enroll patients they felt werergtially appropriate on study. In addition, we hadken to country-specific members of the European
Medicines Agency, or EMA, and believed a significapportunity existed to expand the study intoftk Based on these factors, in the fourth quarter o
2014, we amended the METRIC study and expandedmagntry criteria to position it for full markegrapproval with global regulators, including the
EMA, and to support improved enrollment in the gtuthe primary endpoint of the study is PFS as BRE® established endpoint for full approval
registration studies in this patient populatiomath the US and the EU. The sample size (n=300}tamdecondary endpoint of OS remained unchanged.
We implemented these changes in parallel to regylatiscussions to maintain momentum at open dirtital sites. Since implementation, both the FDA
and central European regulatory authorities haviewed the protocol design and we believe the METRiUdy could support marketing approval in both
the US and Europe dependent upon data review. Rasedrrent projections, we believe enroliment wél completed in 2016.

Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma: The Phase 1/2 open-label, multi-center, dosal&son study evaluated the safety, tolerabilitgd a
pharmacokinetics of glembatumumab vedotin in 11iepts with un-resectable Stage Il or Stage IVanema who had failed no more than one prior line
of cytotoxic therapy. The MTD was determined toll®8 mg/kg administered intravenously once evemyethveeks. The study achieved its primary activity
objective with an ORR in the Phase 2 cohort of 15#84). Median PFS was 3.9 months. Glembatumumebtirewas generally well tolerated, with the
most frequent treatment-related adverse eventg bbagh, fatigue, hair loss, pruritus, diarrhea aggropathy. In the subset of patients with tumopbies,
high levels of tumor expression of gpNMB appeareddrrelate with favorable outcome. In the seveiepts whose tumors were found to express high
amounts of gpNMB, and who were treated at the maxirtolerated doses across all dosing schedulesamB&S was 4.9 months. The development of
rash, which may be associated with the presengpMB in the skin also seemed to correlate wittatgePFS.

In December 2014, we initiated a single,aypen-label Phase 2 study of glembatumumab vedopatients with unresectable Stage 1l or IV
melanoma. The study is expected to include apprateiyn 10 sites in the United States and will enaplbroximately 60 patients. The primary objectivéoi
evaluate the anticancer activity of glembatumumedbotin in advanced melanoma as measured by the S&Rndary endpoints include analyses of PFS,
duration of response, OS, retrospective
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investigation of whether the anticancer activitygt@mbatumumab vedotin is dependent upon the defrg@NMB expression in tumor tissue and safety.

We have completed the assay optimizatiahvatidation for a Phase 2 study in squamous aetj cancer and expect the study will commence irb:
We have also entered into a Cooperative ReseattBavelopment Agreement, or CRADA, with the NatioBancer Institute, or NCI, under which NCI
will sponsor two studies of glembatumumab vedotime-m uveal melanoma and one in pediatric osteoszac

Varlilumab

Varlilumab is a human monoclonal antibodgtttargets CD27, a potentially important targetifemunotherapy of various cancers. We have entered
into license agreements with the University of Santpton, UK for intellectual property related tes®f anti-CD27 antibodies and with Medarex (now a
subsidiary of the Bristol-Myers Squibb CompanyB&iS) for access to the UltiMab technology to depedmd commercialize human antibodies to CD27.

CD27 acts downstream from CD40 and mayifdea novel way to regulate the immune response27Gs a costimulatory molecule on T cells anc
over-expressed in certain lymphomas and leukerdidilumab is an agonist antibody designed to haw@potential therapeutic mechanisms. Varlilumab
has been shown to activate immune cells that ecgettand eliminate cancerous cells in turbearing mice and to directly kill or inhibit theagvth of CD27
expressing lymphomas and leukeniiasitro andin vivo. Both mechanisms have been seen even at low @oappropriate preclinical models.

We are conducting an open label Phasedy stiivarlilumab in patients with selected malighsalid tumors or hematologic cancers at multipieical
sites in the United States. Initial dose escalatimimorts were conducted to determine an optimas flmsfuture study and, to date, no maximum toktat
dose has been reached. The lymphoid malignanceseakzalation arm has completed enrollment (n=2dpanew cohort has been added to include
evaluation of T cell malignancies. An expansionarbhas also been added at 0.3mg/kg dosed once ttwee weeks in patients with Hodgkin Lymphoma
(n=15). The solid tumor arm, which included patswith various solid tumors, completed dose escalah 2013. Two expansion cohorts were
subsequently added at 3 mg/kg dosed weekly in matitasmelanoma (n=16) and renal cell carcinoma §)td better characterize clinical activity and
further define the safety profile in preparation ombination studies.

We presented updated data from this Phasedy in November 2014. Varlilumab was very welétated and induced immunologic activity in patt
that is consistent with both its mechanism of actad preclinical models. A total of 86 patientsdnbeen dosed in the study. 55 patients have beseddr
dose escalation cohorts (various solid and hengito®-cell tumors) and 31 patients have been doséte expansion cohorts (melanoma and RCC) at 3
mg/kg. In both the solid tumor and hematologic desealations, the pre-specified maximum dose lgv@ng/kg) was reached without identification of a
maximum tolerated dose. The majority of adversentsvgAE) related to treatment have been mild to enaid (Grade 1/2) in severity, with only three
serious AEs related to treatment reported. No @amit immune-mediated adverse events (colitisatigp, etc.) typically associated with check-point
blockade have been observed. Two patients expeudenigjective responses including a complete regpiondodgkin Lymphoma and a partial response in
renal cell carcinoma. Thirteen patients experierstatlle disease with a range of 3-30.7+ monthste-Based on the results observed in hematologic
malignancies, an expansion cohort has been addsarat up to 15 patients with Hodgkin Lymphoma amdabbreviated dose escalation in T cell
hematologic malignancies is ongoing.

In May 2014, we entered into a clinicadkigollaboration with Bristol-Myers Squibb Compay,BMS, to evaluate the safety, tolerability and
preliminary efficacy of varlilumab and Opdivo®, BMIPD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, in a Phasesti®ly. Under the terms of this clinical trial
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collaboration, BMS made a one-time payment to U50® million and the companies amended the tefrosiexisting license agreement with Medarex (a
subsidiary of BMS) related to our CD27 program veltrcertain future milestone payments were waivetfature royalty rates were reduced that may
have been due from us to Medarex. In return, BMS gvanted a time-limited right of first negotiatibrwve wish to out-license varlilumab. The companie
also agreed to work exclusively with each othesxplore anti-PD-1 antagonist antibody and &1i27 agonist antibody combination regimens. Theiazil
trial collaboration provides that the companied shiare development costs and that we will be nesipte for conducting the Phase 1/2 study.

The Phase 1/2 study was initiated in JanabR015 and is being conducted in adult patients advanced non-small cell lung cancer, metastati
melanoma, colorectal cancer, ovarian cancer, aad &ed neck squamous cell carcinoma. The Phassetedgalation portion of the study will assess the
safety and tolerability of varlilumab at varyingsés when administered with Opdivo. Following doszatation, a Phase 2 portion of the study willudel
five disease specific cohorts. The primary objecti¥the Phase 2 study is overall response rat@n@ary objectives include pharmacokinetics assests
determining the immunogenicity of varlilumab wheweg in combination with Opdivo and further assegghe anti-tumor activity of combination
treatment.

In May 2014, we also entered into a clihtdal collaboration with Oncothyreon Inc. to evate the safety, tolerability and preliminary edfty of
varlilumab and ONT-10, Oncothyreon's therapeutixirge targeting the tumor-associated antigen MUC&,Phase 1b study. Under the terms of the
clinical trial collaboration, the Phase 1b triallvde conducted and funded by Oncothyreon. Bothpammes will jointly own the data from the trial andll
make any plans for potential future developmenhefcombination therapy together. The Phase 1ly stad initiated in November 2014 and is being
conducted in up to 42 patients with advanced braagtarian cancer. The primary objective of thal is to determine the safety and tolerabilitythod
combined therapy. Additional objectives includelaations of the impact of combination treatmentMidC1-specific humoral and cellular immune
responses, T-cell activation markers and levetegfilatory T-cells, and anti-tumor effects.

Multiple efforts are underway to finalizegigns and plans for additional Phase 2 combinatiaties of varlilumab, including but not limiteat &1
Phase 1/2 study of varlilumab and ipilumumab ingud$ with metastatic melanoma (plus CDX-1401 in-ESO positive patients); a Phase 1/2 of
varlilumab plus sunitinib in renal cell carcinonaand a Phase 1/2 study of varlilumab plus a mekwmattagent (followed sequentially by a checkpoint
inhibitor) for patients with B-raf mutated metagtahelanoma. In addition to our sponsored studigsdinical trial collaborations, we anticipate tha
varlilumab's potential activity will also be expéatin investigator sponsored studies at varioudexo& institutions.

CDX-1401

CDX41401, developed from our APC Targeting Technoldgg, fusion protein consisting of a fully human racilonal antibody with specificity for tt
dendritic cell receptor, DEC-205, linked to the NEBO-1 tumor antigen. In humans, NY-ESO-1 has beggcted in 20% - 30% of all melanoma, lung,
esophageal, liver, gastric, prostate, ovarian dadider cancers, thus representing a broad opptytdriis product is intended to selectively delitlee NY-
ESO-1 antigen to dendritic cells for generatingusibmmune responses against cancer cells expgad$inESO-1. We are developing CDX-1401 for the
treatment of malignant melanoma and a variety il somors which express the proprietary canceigeantNY-ESO41, which we licensed from the Ludw
Institute for Cancer Research in 2006. Preclinstadlies have shown that CDX-1401 is effective fdivation of human T cell responses against NY-ESO-
1.

We have completed a Phase 1 study of CDXtvhich assessed the safety, immunogenicity a@nital activity of escalating doses of CDX-1401
with TLR agonists (resiquimod and/or Poly ICLC) in
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45 patients with advanced malignancies refractolltavailable therapies. 60% of patients hadicorefd NY-ESO expression in archived tumor sample.
Thirteen patients maintained stable disease fao ;3.4 months with a median of 6.7 months. Treatmeas well-tolerated and there were no dose it
toxicities. Humoral responses were elicited in H§¥+ESO-1 positive and negative patients. NY-ES@pgcific T cell responses were absent or low at
baseline, but increased post-vaccination in 53%vafuable patients, including both CD4 and/or CD&T responses. Robust immune responses were
observed with CDX-1401 with resiquimod and Poly Calone and in combination. Long-term patient fellap suggested that treatment with CDX-1401
may predispose patients to better outcomes on guéeeetherapy with checkpoint inhibitors. Of thept8ients in the Phase 1 study, eight went ondeive
subsequent therapy of either ipilimumab or an itigatonal checkpoint inhibitor and six of thesdi@ats had objective tumor regression. Six patigvitis
melanoma received ipilimumab within three monthgr@itment with CDX-1401 and four (67%) had objextumor responses, including one complete
response, which compares favorably to the ovezapanse rate of 11% previously reported in metastatlanoma patients treated with single-agent
ipilimumab. In addition, two patients with non-sinzéll lung cancer received an investigational &peint blockade within two months of completing
treatment with CDX-1401 and both achieved pargaponses.

The Phase 1 study identified a well-toledaaind immunogenic regimen to take forward intaristudies. A Phase 2 study of CDX-1401 in
combination with CDX-301 in metastatic melanombémg conducted by the Cancer Immunotherapy Thalsvork under a CRADA with the Cancer
Therapy Evaluation Program of the NCI and is ongoin addition to our sponsored studies, we ardateighat CDX-1401's potential activity will also be
explored in investigator sponsored studies at uaracademic institutions.

CDX-301

CDX-301 is a FMS-like tyrosine kinase Jalgl, or FIt3L, stem cell mobilizer and dendrititl ggowth factor. We licensed CDX-301 from Amgercin
in March 2009. CDX-301 is a potent hematopoietimkine that stimulates the expansion and diffeatinth of hematopoietic progenitor and stem cells.
CDX-301 has demonstrated a unique capacity to aseré¢he number of circulating dendritic cells ithblaboratory and clinical studies. In addition, XcD
301 has shown impressive results in models of camdfectious diseases and inflammatory/autoimniseases. We believe CDX-301 may hold
significant opportunity for synergistic developméntombination with other proprietary moleculesur portfolio.

In February 2013, we announced final reduétm our dose-escalating Phase 1 study of CDXk#3@D healthy subjects in collaboration with
Rockefeller University. The Phase 1 study evaluataen different dosing regimens of CDX-301 to deiee the appropriate dose for further development
based on safety, tolerability, and biological aityivThe data from the study were consistent witavjpus clinical experience and demonstrated tizaX-C
301 was well-tolerated and can effectively mobilieenatopoietic stem cell populations in healthyuntters. In December 2013, we announced data from :
preclinical combination study of CDX-301and Moz@ilPlerixafor injection, formerly AMD3100) demonating that the combination of these agents
significantly increases hematopoietic stem cell iiedtion in mice. The data demonstrate a noveépbtell mobilization regimen combining CD3G1 anc
Mozobil®, which may have significant potential fase in autologous and allogeneic hematopoietic stdhtransplantation. Based on the safety prafild
the clinical and preclinical data to date, we atid a pilot clinical study of CDX-301 for the mlidation and transplantation of allogeneic hemateio
stem cells in patients with hematological malignasaindergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplamaf he study will explore the utility of CDX-301
alone and in combination with Mozobil®. In additimour sponsored studies and clinical trial calations, we anticipate that CDX-301's potential
activity will also be explored in investigator spomned studies at various academic institutions.
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Preclinical Programs
CDX-014

CDX-014 is a fully-human monoclonal ADC thargets T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domaid TIM-1, a molecule that is upregulated in
several cancers, including renal cell and ovaramcinomas. TIM-1 is associated with kidney injundahe shedding of its ectodomain is a predictive
biomarker for tumor progression. TIM-1 has verytnieted expression in healthy tissues, makinggt@nising target for antibody mediated therapy. The
TIM-1 antibody is linked to MMAE using Seattle Geéies' proprietary technology. The ADC is designedb¢ stable in the bloodstream, but to release
MMAE upon internalization into TIM-1-expressing toncells, resulting in a targeted cell-killing effeCDX-014 has shown potent activity in preclihica
models of ovarian and renal cancer. We expectapbete manufacturing and IND-enabling studies leyehd of 2015 to support the initiation of Phase 1
clinical studies in renal cell carcinoma and padtdiyt other TIM-1 expressing tumors in 2016.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our significant accounting policies areatiésed in Note 2 to the consolidated financialestants included in Iltem 8 of this Form KOWe believe ot
most critical accounting policies include accougtiar revenue recognition, impairment of long-liv@skets, research and development expenses akd stoc
based compensation expense.

The methods, estimates and judgments weugeplying our most critical accounting polictesve a significant impact on the results we repoour
consolidated financial statements. We evaluateestimates and judgments on an on-going basis. \8kda estimates on historical experience and on
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable thd&ircumstances. Our experience and assumptomsthe basis for our judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not rgaailparent from other sources. Actual results naay from what we anticipate and different assunmstior
estimates about the future could materially changereported results. We believe the following ag@ng policies are the most critical to us in ttrety
are important to the portrayal of our financiakstaents and they require our most difficult, sutiy@cor complex judgments in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recoghnitic

We recognize revenue when all of the foltaywcriteria are met: persuasive evidence of aangiement exists; delivery has occurred or serviegs
been rendered; the seller's price to the buyéxésl for determinable; and collectability is readuipassured.

We have entered into and in the future erater into biopharmaceutical product developmergemgents with collaborative partners for the regear
and development of therapeutic drug products. &g of the agreements may include nonrefundadpiergj and licensing fees, funding for research,
development and manufacturing, milestone paymemtg@yalties on any product sales derived fromatmtations. These multiple element arrangements
are analyzed to determine whether the deliveratdasde separated or whether they must be accofortad a single unit of accounting. In accountiog f
these transactions, we allocate revenue to thewsglements based on their relative fair value. fair value of a revenue generating element carabed
on current selling prices offered by us or anoffaaty for current products or our best estimate sélling price for future products. Revenue afleddo an
individual element is recognized when all otheraraye recognition criteria are met for that element.

These collaborative and other agreemenysaoiatain milestone payments. Revenues from mihestoif they are considered substantive, are
recognized upon successful accomplishment of thestones. Determining whether a milestone is sabistainvolves judgment, including an assessment
of our involvement in achieving the milestones arther the amount of the payment is
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commensurate to our performance. If not considsobdtantive, milestones are initially deferred eswbgnized over the remaining period of the
performance obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactikities are recognized as revenue in the peniathich the research activities are performed.drere
from contracts and grants is recognized as thecssrare performed and recorded as effort is exgend the contracted work and billed to the govenmm
or our contractual partner. Payments received vaiack that are related to future performance aerréel and recognized as revenue when the research
projects are performed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymesteived from licensees for a portion of saleeg@eds from products that utilize our licensednetdgies
and are recognized when the amount of and bassifiir royalty payments are reported to us in ateuanad appropriate form and in accordance with the
related license agreement.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our Idivgd assets, including property and equipment, famig-lived intangible assets when circumstances ind
that an event of impairment may have occurred. iretation of recoverability is based on an estinadtendiscounted future cash flows resulting frdma t
use of the asset and its eventual dispositiorhdrewent that such cash flows are not expected sufficient to recover the carrying amount of dissets, tt
assets are written-down to their estimated fainesu

IPR&D assets acquired in a business contibméanitially are recorded at fair value and acatad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets. Shassets
are maintained on our consolidated balance sheétsither the project underlying them is comptete the assets become impaired. If a project is
completed, the carrying value of the related infalegasset is amortized over the remaining estichifie of the asset beginning in the period in vihile
project is completed. If a project becomes impaoei abandoned, the carrying value of the relathgible asset is written down to its fair vaare an
impairment charge is taken in the period in whioh impairment occurs. IPR&D assets are testedrfpairment on an annual basis during the third guart
or earlier if impairment indicators are present. géeformed an annual impairment test of the IPR&Bets as of July 1, 2014 and concluded that the
IPR&D assets were not impaired.

Intangible assets acquired in a businesgomation with a finite life are recorded at faalwe and amortized over the greater of economiswooption
or on a straight-line basis over their estimatezfuldife.

The difference between the purchase pricetlae fair value of assets acquired and liabdiiesumed in a business combination is recordgaadwill.
Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annuagib during the third quarter, or earlier if impaént indicators are present. We performed an annual
impairment test of the goodwill asset as of Jul2d14 and concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitegrial and contract research costs, are expessaduared. Research and development expensestonsi
mainly of clinical trial costs, manufacturing ofrétal material, toxicology and other preclinicaldies, personnel costs, depreciation, licensedads
funding of outside contracted research.

Clinical trial expenses include expensaweagted with clinical research organizations, BIGC services. Contract manufacturing expensesdeciu
expenses associated with contract manufacturirgnizgtions, or CMO, services. The invoicing from@¥Rand CMOs for services rendered can lag se
months. We accrue the cost of services renderedrinection with CRO and CMO activities based onestimate of costs incurred. We maintain regular
communication with our CROs and
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CMOs to assess the reasonableness of our estirbéffesences between actual expenses and estireatgzhses recorded have not been material and are
adjusted for in the period in which they becomevimno

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We record stock-based compensation exdfensdl stock-based awards made to employees ardtdis based on the estimated fair values of the
stock-based awards expected to vest at the grémtdd is adjusted, if necessary, to reflect adarfgitures. Compensation expense for all stocseda
awards to employees and directors is recognizedyube straight-line method over the term of vestin performance.

We record stock-based compensation exgdenstock options granted to non-employees baseti®fair value of the stock options which is re-
measured over the vesting term resulting in petiadjustments to stock-based compensation expense.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2014 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2013

vear Ended Increase/ Increase/
December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)

Revenue

Product Development and

Licensing Agreement $ 83t $ 16C $ 67¢ 424%

Contracts and Gran 2,74¢ 1,617 1,131 7C%

Product Royaltie — 2,33¢ (2,334 (100%
Total Revenus $ 358 $ 4111 $ (525) (13)%
Operating Expenst

Research and Developme 104,38: 67,40: 36,98( 55%

Royalty — 2,33¢ (2,339 (100%

General and Administrativ 20,62: 14,80¢ 5,811 3%

Amortization of Acquired

Intangible Asset 1,01: 1,01: — 0%

Total Operating Expens 126,01t 85,55! 40,46 47%
Operating Los: (122,43() (81,44 40,98t¢ 5C%
Investment and Other Income, M 4,35( 81¢ 3,531 431%
Interest Expens — (927) (927) (100%
Net Loss $ (118,08() $ (81,55() $ 36,53( 45%

Net Loss

The $36.5 million increase in net losstfw year ended December 31, 2014 compared to #reepeed December 31, 2013 was primarily the result
an increase in research and development and gemetaldministrative expenses, partially offset hyngrease in investment and other income.

Revenue¢

The $0.7 million increase in product depefent and licensing agreements revenue for thegreded December 31, 2014 compared to the year endec
December 31, 2013 was primarily related to our BAg8ement. In May 2014, we entered into a clirtidal collaboration with BMS whereby BMS
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made a one-time payment to us of $5.0 million whighare recognizing as revenue over our estimagdnmance period of five years. The $1.1 million
increase in contracts and grants revenue for taegreded December 31, 2014 compared to the yeadddeicember 31, 2013 was primarily related to our
Rockefeller University agreement pursuant to whighperform research and development services fokéeller. The agreement includes an approved
project plan for the development services of $4il8an and a term of three years. The $2.3 millaecrease in product royalty revenue for the yedeén
December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended Dexe3hb2013 was due to the termination of our agezg with GlaxoSmithKline plc which occurred
upon the expiration of the last relevant patertitrigpvered by the agreement. The terminated retditerests in Rotarix® net royalties which weré¢ sald

to Paul Royalty Fund II, L.P. had been equal toaiim®unt payable to Cincinnati Children's Hospitadital Center and recognized as royalty expense by
us.

Research and Development Expe

Research and development expenses consigtrity of (i) personnel expenses, (ii) laboratsyypply expenses relating to the development of our
technology, (iii) facility expenses, (iv) licenseek and (v) product development expenses assouidtedur drug candidates as follows:

vear Ended Increase/ Increase/
December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2014 2013 $ %
(In thousands)

Personne $ 20,66¢ $ 17,04 $ 3,62¢ 21%
Laboratory Supplie 3,59¢ 3,241 351 11%
Facility 5,062 4,52¢ 53€ 12%
License Fee 3,15( 70C 2,45( 350%
Product Developmer 67,20" 39,34 27,86: 71%

Personnel expenses primarily include salaepefits, stock-based compensation and payrsaktarhe $3.6 million increase in personnel expeftae
the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to dreepeled December 31, 2013 was primarily due teased headcount and higher stock-based
compensation of $0.8 million. We expect personrpkases to increase over the next twelve monthgegsdan to continue to increase our headcount,
primarily to support our rindopepimut, glembatumimadotin and varlilumab programs.

Laboratory supply expenses include laboyatmaterials and supplies, services, and otheteglexpenses incurred in the development of our
technology. The $0.4 million increase in laborateupply expenses for the year ended December 34, @mpared to the year ended December 31, 2013
was primarily due to higher manufacturing supplyghases. We expect supply expenses to remainvediationsistent over the next twelve months,
although there may be fluctuations on a quarteslsis

Facility expenses include depreciation, diration, utilities, rent, maintenance, and ottedated expenses incurred at our facilities. Thé $lllion
increase in facility expenses for the year endeceBwer 31, 2014 compared to the year ended Dece3tth2013 was primarily due to an increase in
amortization expense related to the leasehold imgonents made at our headquarters facility in Hamptew Jersey. We expect facility expenses to ra
relatively consistent over the next twelve mon#ithough there may be fluctuations on a quarteakis

License fee expenses include annual licereatenance fees and milestone payments due hpachievement of certain development, regulatory
and/or commercial milestones. The $2.5 million @&ze in license fee expenses for the year endezhiber 31, 2014 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 was primarily due to the one-#21& million milestone incurred and paid to Sea@knetics as a result of the METRIC initiation. We
expect license fee expense to decrease over théwelxe months without this one-time milestone rpaynt.
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Product development expenses include eimvestigator site fees, external trial monitgroosts, data accumulation costs, contracted r&sead
outside clinical drug product manufacturing. Th& $2million increase in product development expsrisethe year ended December 31, 2014 compa
the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarilyabelt of an increase in clinical trial costs apdtcact manufacturing of $13.2 million and
$14.3 million, respectively, primarily related taraindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin prograkfes expect product development expenses to
increase over the next twelve months primarily tuthe increase in clinical trial and contract mfacturing expenses related to our rindopepimut,
glembatumumab vedotin and varlilumab programspaljh there may be fluctuations on a quarterly basis

Royalty Expens

The $2.3 million decrease in royalty exgenfor the year ended December 31, 2014 compairée tear ended December 31, 2013 was due to the
termination of our agreement with GlaxoSmithKlire which occurred upon the expiration of the la&dévant patent right covered by the agreement.

General and Administrative Expense

The $5.8 million increase in general anchiistrative expenses for the year ended Decenthe2(®4 compared to the year ended December 33, 201
was primarily due to higher stock-based compensaifcb1.5 million, increased headcount and rindapepand glembatumumab vedotin
commercialization planning costs. We expect geratdladministrative expense to increase over tketwelve months primarily due to increased
commercial planning efforts for rindopepimut andrgbatumumab vedotin, although there may be fluictosion a quarterly basis.

Amortization Expens

Amortization expenses for the year endedeD®er 31, 2014 were relatively consistent comptrélde year ended December 31, 2013. We expect
amortization expense of acquired intangible agsatsmain relatively consistent over the next twealvonths.

Investment and Other Income, |

The $3.5 million increase in investment attter income, net for the year ended Decembe2@®14 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013
was primarily due to other income in 2014 of $3illiom related to TopoTarget milestone paymentseStpayments are the last milestone payments we
were owed from TopoTarget. Excluding the impadhef TopoTarget milestone payments, we anticipatestment income to remain relatively consistent
over the next twelve months, although there maffuntuations on a quarterly basis.

Interest Expens

The $0.9 million decrease in interest espeior the year ended December 31, 2014 compaitke tear ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due
to our election in May 2013 to prepay the Term Loafull, pursuant to the terms of our loan agreertne
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2012

Revenue

Product Development and Licens

Agreement:
Contracts and Gran
Product Royaltie

Total Revenus

Operating Expenst

Research and Developme

Royalty

General and Administrativ

Amortization of Acquirec
Intangible Asset
Total Operating Expens
Operating Los:

Investment and Other Income, M

Interest Expens
Net Loss

Net Loss

Year Ended Increase/ Increase/
December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012 $
(In thousands)
16C $ 14€ $ 14 1C%
1,617 281 1,33¢ 47%5%
2,33¢ 10,77 (8,44)) (79)%
4111 $ 11,20. $ (7,097 (63%
67,40: 47,39¢ 20,00 42%
2,33¢ 10,77 (8,447 (78)%
14,80¢ 10,01¢ 4,78¢ 48%
1,01¢ 1,09( (77) (7%
85,55! 69,27¢ 16,27 23%
(81,447  (58,07) 23,36 4C%
81¢ 53C 28¢ 58%
(927) (1,576) (649) (4%
$ (81,55) $ (59,127 $ 22,42 36%

The $22.4 million increase in net losstfw year ended December 31, 2013 compared to #reepeded December 31, 2012 was primarily the result
an increase in research and development and gemetadministrative expenses.

Revenue¢

The $1.3 million increase in contracts grahts revenue for the year ended December 31, @hBared to the year ended December 31, 2012 was
primarily related to our Rockefeller University agment pursuant to which we perform research amelglement services for Rockefeller. The $8.4 mill
decrease in product royalty revenue for the yededbecember 31, 2013 compared to the year endeshider 31, 2012 was due to the termination of our
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline plc upon the exjpiraof the last relevant patent right covered by dlgreement.

Research and Development Expe

Personne
Laboratory Supplie
Facility

Product Developmer

Year Ended December 31

Increase/

Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012
(In thousands)
$ 17,04( $ 13,46F $ 3,57¢ 27%
3,24 2,06: 1,18¢ 57%
4,52¢ 4,45 69 2%
39,34 24,42¢ 14,91, 61%
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The $3.6 million increase in personnel exges for the year ended December 31, 2013 compathd year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily
due to higher stock-based compensation of $1.2omi#ind increased headcount.

The $1.2 million increase in laboratory glypexpenses for the year ended December 31, 20hBared to the year ended December 31, 2012 was
primarily due to higher manufacturing supply pusts

The $0.1 million increase in facility exppes for the year ended December 31, 2013 compatad {year ended December 31, 2012 was primardy du
to higher utility and maintenance expenses.

The $14.9 million increase in product depehent expenses for the year ended December 32,&@Mipared to the year ended December 31, 201
primarily the result of an increase in clinicabtrcosts and contract manufacturing of $9.0 milbow $5.6 million, respectively, primarily relatedour
rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin programs.

Royalty Expens

The $8.4 million decrease in royalty exgenfor the year ended December 31, 2013 comparée tear ended December 31, 2012 was due to the
termination of our agreement with GlaxoSmithKlide ppon the expiration of the last relevant patagitt covered by the agreement.

General and Administrative Expense

The $4.8 million increase in general anchiistrative expenses for the year ended Decenthe2(®L.3 compared to the year ended December 32, 201
was primarily due to higher stock-based compensatfcb1.0 million, increased headcount and rindapeprelated commercialization planning costs.

Amortization Expens

The $0.1 million decrease in amortizatiapenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 cethpathe year ended December 31, 2012 was due to
certain intangible assets becoming fully amortidadng 2012.

Investment and Other Income, |

The $0.3 million increase in investment attter income, net for the year ended Decembe2@13 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012
was primarily due to higher levels of cash and stwent balances compared to prior year and us mémog $0.2 million and $0.1 million in other incem
related to our sale of New Jersey tax benefitsnduttie years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 ctesgly.

Interest Expens

The $0.6 million decrease in interest espeior the year ended December 31, 2013 compaitke tear ended December 31, 2012 was primarily due
to our election in May 2013 to prepay the Term Loafull, pursuant to the terms of our loan agreetne

63




Table of Contents
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash equivalents are highly liquid stweents with a maturity of three months or leshatdate of purchase and consist primarily of itmesits in
money market mutual funds with commercial banksfarahcial institutions. We maintain cash balaneéts financial institutions in excess of insured
limits. We do not anticipate any losses with respesuch cash balances. We invest our excesshegahces in marketable securities including muaicip
bond securities, U.S. government agency securéia high-grade corporate bonds that meet hightagedlity standards, as specified in our investmen
policy. Our investment policy seeks to manage tlssets to achieve our goals of preserving priheipe maintaining adequate liquidity.

The use of our cash flows for operatiors fprdmarily consisted of salaries and wages foresoployees, facility and facility-related costs éar
offices, laboratories and manufacturing faciligge$ paid in connection with preclinical studiesyichl studies, contract manufacturing, laboratsupplies
and services, consulting, legal and other professifees. To date, the primary sources of cashsfiisam operations have been payments received drom
collaborative partners and from government entifiée timing of any new collaboration agreementsieggnment contracts or grants and any payments
under these agreements, contracts or grants chareasily predicted and may vary significantly frqoarter to quarter.

At December 31, 2014, our principal soum@iayuidity consisted of cash, cash equivalemts marketable securities of $201.0 million. We imed a
loss of $118.1 million for the year ended Decen8ier2014. Net cash used in operations for the geded December 31, 2014 was $101.5 million. We
believe that the cash, cash equivalents and méaketacurities at December 31, 2014 are suffic@nteet estimated working capital requirementsfand
planned operations through 2016, however, thisccbalimpacted by our clinical data results from mglopepimut program and their impact on our gt
commercial manufacturing and the rate of expansfaur commercial operations.

During the next twelve months, we may thkéher steps to raise additional capital to fumd long-term liquidity needs. Our capital raisirgiieities
may include, but may not be limited to, one or mafréhe following: the licensing of technology pragis with existing or new collaborative partners,
possible business combinations, issuance of detiiedssuance of common stock or other secunifesgrivate placements or public offerings. While w
may seek capital through a number of means, tre@rde no assurance that additional financing weilakailable on acceptable terms, if at all, and our
negotiating position in capital-raising efforts magrsen as existing resources are used. Theredsalassurance that we will be able to enterfintber
collaborative relationships. Additional equity fimang may be dilutive to our stockholders; debafining, if available, may involve significant cash
payment obligations and covenants that restricability to operate as a business; and licensirgjrategic collaborations may result in royaltiesther
terms which reduce our economic potential from potsl under development.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities w31 million for the year ended December 31, 28d#pared to $67.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase in net cash usgokirting activities was primarily due to an ire in net loss of $36.5 million. We expect thahca
used in operating activities will continue to inase over the next twelve months primarily relateddsts incurred on our rindopepimut, glembatumumab
vedotin and varlilumab programs.

We have incurred and will continue to insignificant costs in the area of research andldpweent, including preclinical and clinical trissd
clinical drug product manufacturing as our drugdidates are developed. We plan to spend signifi@artunts to progress our current drug candidates
through the clinical trial and commercializatioropesses as well as to develop additional
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drug candidates. As our drug candidates progresadh the clinical trial process, we may be obkgato make significant milestone payments.
Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities w&$.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20d#mared to $77.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The decrease in net cash useeksting activities was primarily due to net fhases of marketable securities for the year ended
December 31, 2014 of $39.1 million as comparedr@Zmillion for the year ended December 31, 20¥8.expect that cash provided by investing
activities will increase over the next twelve man#ts we fund our operations through the net pracketh the sale and maturity of marketable seagiti
cash provided by financing activities and/or newtqrships, although there may be significant flatibns on a quarterly basis.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activitieass$1.2 million for the year ended December 3142fmpared to $289.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. Net proceeds from stock isssanmgguding stock issued pursuant to employeefitgplans, were $1.2 million during the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to $301.1 million ferytkar ended December 31, 2013. We paid $11.®mmilli principal payments on our Term Loan
during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Equity Offerings

In December 2013, we filed an automatidfsiegistration statement with the Securities amditange Commission to register for sale any contioina
of the types of securities described in the shegjfatration statement.

During the years ended December 31, 2082, we issued 21,613,483 and 12,075,000 sbhmes common stock in underwritten public
offerings resulting in net proceeds to us of $278ilion and $43.5 million, after deducting undeitimy fees and offering expenses, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 20di28a2, we issued 2,433,608 and 8,003,290 shams @ommon stock under our controlled equity
offering sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald&,@s amended, resulting in net proceeds to 847fl million and $40.1 million, after deducting
commission and offering expenses, respectively.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We have entered into license agreementsaelblieve have received licenses or options to lieeeshnology, specified patents and/or patent
applications. These license and collaboration agests generally provide for royalty payments eqoapecified percentages of product sales, annual
license maintenance fees, continuing patent préiseccosts and potential future milestone payméemtkird parties upon the achievement of certain
development, regulatory and/or commercial milessoBecause the achievement of these milestonesdtatcurred as of December 31, 2014, such
contingencies have not been recorded in our fighstatements. We expect to incur approximatel$ &flllion of license and milestone payments in 2015

The following table summarizes our contmatbbligations (not including contingent royaltydamilestone payments as described above) at
December 31, 2014 and the effect such obligatiodscammercial commitments are expected to haveuofiquidity and cash flow in future years. These
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obligations, commitments and supporting arrangesm@gresent expected payments based on curreritiogeiorecasts, which are subject to change:

Total 2015 2016- 2017 2018- 2019 Thereafter
(In thousands)

Contractual obligations

Operating lease obligations( $ 8720 $ 2,79t $ 487t $ 1,05 $ —
Other contractual obligations(2) 15,35: 13,25 2,101 —
Total contractual obligatior $ 24,07. $ 16,04« $ 6,97¢ $ 1,05: $ —

Q) Such amounts primarily consist of payments forfaaility leases and do not assume the exerciserawal terms or early
termination provisions.

2) We enter into agreements in the normal coaf$eisiness with contract research organizationslioical trials, contract
manufacturing organizations, vendors for preclihieaearch studies and other services and proétrctperating purposes. We he
included obligations in the table above if the cacts are not cancelable at any time by us, gdpenabn 30 days prior written
notice to the vendo

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note 2, "Summary of SignificantcAanting Policies," in the accompanying notes tadbnsolidated financial statements for a discassfo
recent accounting pronouncements.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
None.
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We own financial instruments that are saresto market risk as part of our investment paitf Our investment portfolio is used to preseoue
capital until it is used to fund operations, inéchglour research and development activities. Ndribese market-risk sensitive instruments are fald
trading purposes. We invest our cash primarily onay market mutual funds. These investments ade&ea quarterly to determine the fair value of the
portfolio. From time to time, we invest our exceash balances in marketable securities includingicipal bond securities, U.S. government agency
securities, and high-grade corporate bonds that higle credit quality standards, as specified ininuestment policy. Our investment policy seeks to
manage these assets to achieve our goals of prggenincipal and maintaining adequate liquiditydduse of the short-term nature of these invessnent
we do not believe we have material exposure dueaidet risk. The impact to our financial positiordaesults of operations from likely changes iriast
rates is not material.

We do not utilize derivative financial ingnents. The carrying amounts reflected in the alicteted balance sheet of cash and cash equivalents
accounts receivables and accounts payable apprtesifar value at December 31, 2014 due to thet-gbon maturities of these instruments.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Gell@herapeutics, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consokdabalance sheets and the related consolidatesngats of operations and comprehensive loss, of
stockholders' equity, and of cash flows, preseniyfan all material respects, the financial pasit of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and its subsidetr
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, andsh#gef their operations and their cash flowsdach of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 in conformity with accountingipiples generally accepted in the United Statesnogrica. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveintl control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2014, based on criteria establishddternal
Control—Integrated Framework (2018sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's
management is responsible for these financialrstnés, for maintaining effective internal contreko financial reporting and for its assessmenhef t
effectiveness of internal control over financighogting, included in Management's Annual Reportraarnal Control over Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to expressngmis on these financial statements and on the @oypinternal control over financial reporting éd®r
our integrated audits. We conducted our auditsaoadance with the standards of the Public Compammpunting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestabbtain reasonable assurance about whethén#meial statements are free of material misstata
and whether effective internal control over finahceporting was maintained in all material respe@ur audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutheunts and disclosures in the financial statespassessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and avadLthe overall financial statement presentatu: audit of internal control over financial refiog
included obtaining an understanding of internaltamrover financial reporting, assessing the risktta material weakness exists, and testing arldatirey
the design and operating effectiveness of intezoatrol based on the assessed risk. Our auditsradkaled performing such other procedures as we
considered necessatry in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisuoppinions.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of finahcia
reporting and the preparation of financial stateiméor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A company'srivde
control over financial reporting includes thoseigies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maimee of records that, in reasonable detail, atslyrand
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonasdeirance that transactions are recorded as aecess
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princj@ad that receipts and expenditures of the compee
being made only in accordance with authorizatidnme@anagement and directors of the company; andofiivide reasonable assurance regarding preventior
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiong,usr disposition of the company's assets thatddoave a material effect on the financial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Also, projections of eraluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate beaHud®nges in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritaizte.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2015
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, 201 December 31, 201.

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalel $ 28,02( $ 169,40:
Marketable Securitie 173,02 133,58:
Accounts and Other Receivab 427 48¢
Prepaid and Other Current Ass 3,51 1,717
Total Current Asset 204,98! 305,18¢
Property and Equipment, N 10,53t 9,97:
Intangible Assets, Ne 21,807 22,82(
Other Asset: 1,72 14¢
Gooduwiill 8,96°¢ 8,96°¢
Total Assets $ 248,01 $ 347,09!

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payabl $ 2,60: $ 2,24:
Accrued Expense 19,29¢ 17,17¢
Current Portion of Lor-Term Liabilities 2,59: 92¢
Total Current Liabilities 24,49: 20,35(
Other Lon¢-Term Liabilities 11,86! 6,95(
Total Liabilities 36,35¢ 27,30(

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 14 a6)
Stockholders' Equity
Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 Par Value; 3,000 Shares
Authorized; No Shares Issued and Outstanding atmber 31,
2014 and 201 — —
Common Stock, $.001 Par Value; 297,000,000 Shangisodized:;
89,592,779 and 89,246,832 Shares Issued and Cdlitsfjeat

December 31, 2014 and 2013, respecti 9C 89
Additional Paic-In Capital 672,73¢ 662,71
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inco 2,59( 2,66¢
Accumulated Defici (463,759 (345,679

Total Stockholders' Equit 211,66( 319,79!

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equ $ 248,01 $ 347,09!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdhsolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
REVENUE:
Product Development and Licensing Agreem:  $ 83t $ 16C $ 14€
Contracts and Gran 2,74¢ 1,617 281
Product Royaltie — 2,33¢ 10,77¢
Total Revenut 3,58¢ 4,111 11,20:
OPERATING EXPENSE:
Research and Developme 104,38: 67,40: 47,39¢
Royalty — 2,33¢ 10,77¢
General and Administrativ 20,62: 14,80¢ 10,01¢
Amortization of Acquired Intangible Asse 1,01: 1,01: 1,09(
Total Operating Expens 126,01t 85,55! 69,27¢
Operating Los: (122,43() (81,449 (58,07
Investment and Other Income, M 4,35( 81¢ 53C
Interest Expens — (927) (1,576
Net Loss $ (118,08() $ (81,55() $ (59,129
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common St $ (1.32) $ (1.02) $ (1.02)
Shares Used in Calculating Basic and Diluted
Loss per Shar 89,39¢ 79,77 57,71
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
Net Loss $ (118,08() $ (81,55() $ (59,129
Other Comprehensive Income (Los
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustme (5) (©)] 2
Unrealized (Loss) Gain on Marketable
Securities (73 (74) 91
Comprehensive Los $ (118,159 $ (81,627 $ (59,03()

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdhsolidated financial statements.

69




Table of Contents

Balance at
December 31, 2011
Shares Issued und
Stock Option and
Employee Stock
Purchase Plar
Shares Issued |
Connection with
Cantor Agreemer
Shares Issued in
Underwritten Offering
Share-Based
Compensatiol
Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Unrealized Gains on
Marketable Securitie
Net Loss
Balance at
December 31, 2012
Shares Issued under
Stock Option and
Employee Stock
Purchase Plar
Shares Issued in
Connection with
Cantor Agreemer
Shares Issued in
Underwritten Offering
Shar-Based
Compensatiol
Foreign Currenc'
Translation
Adjustments
Unrealized Losses ¢
Marketable Securitie
Net Loss
Balance at
December 31, 2013
Shares Issued und
Stock Option and
Employee Stock
Purchase Plar
Shares Issued |
Connection with
Supply Agreemer
Shar-Based
Compensatiol
Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Unrealized Losses on
Marketable Securitie
Net Loss
Balance at
December 31, 2014

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated

Common Common Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Par Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Value Capital Income Deficit Equity

44,210,63 44 271,03: 2,65z (205,006 68,72:
70,58’ — 163 — — 163
8,003,29! 8 40,13( — — 40,13¢
12,075,00 12 43,47 — — 43,48:
— — 2,29¢ — — 2,29¢

— — — 2 — 2

— — — 91 — 91

— — — — (59,129 (59,127)
64,359,51 64 357,09 2,74¢ (264,129 95,77¢
840,22t 1 5,40z — — 5,40¢

2,433,60: 2 17,13: — — 17,13¢

21,613,48 22 278,54: — — 278,56!
— — 4,54¢ — — 4,54¢

— — — (©) — (©)

— | — (74) — (74)

— — — — (81,55() (81,55()
89,246,83 89 662,71 2,66¢ (345,679 319,79!
193,77! 1 1,17¢ — — 1,171
152,17: — 2,00¢ — — 2,00(
— — 6,852 — — 6,852

— | — ®) — ®)

— — — (73 (73

— | — —  (118,08)  (118,08(

89,592,77 $ 90 $ 672,73¢ $ 2,59C $ (463,759 $ 211,66(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdhsolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net Loss $ (118,08() $ (81,55() $ (59,129
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net C
Used in Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortizatic 2,38¢ 1,93 2,047
Amortization of Intangible Asse 1,01z 1,01z 1,09(
Amortization and Premium of Marketalt
Securities 95 (1,366 (660
Realized Gain on Sales and Maturities
Marketable Securities (11 — (6)
Loss (Gain) on Sale or Disposal of Ass 6 (22) (74)
Stocl-Based Compensation Expense 6,852 4,54¢ 2,29¢
Non-Cash Expens 72 97 22¢
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilit
Accounts and Other Receivab 62 (44%) 12¢€
Prepaid and Other Current Ass (2,026 (70¢€) 33
Other Asset: 65 27¢ (95)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Exper 1,45(C 7,23¢ 3,76z
Other Liabilities 6,571 1,315 594
Net Cash Used in Operating Activiti (101,53) (67,669 (49,787)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Sales and Maturities of Marketable Securi 109,23: 38,89 52,36(

Purchases of Marketable Securit (148,31 (112,119 (69,25%)

Acquisition of Property an

Equipment (1,929 (4,219 (309

Proceeds from Sale or Disposal of As: — 21 21¢
Net Cash Used in Investing Activiti (41,017) (77,427) (16,98()
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Net Proceeds from Stock Issuan — 295,69 83,78¢

Proceeds from Issuance of Stock from Emplc

Benefit Plans 1,171 5,40¢ —

Payments of Term Loz — (11,029 (3,97)

Payment of Other Liabilitie — (472) (55)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti 1,171 289,59¢ 79,75¢
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash

Cash Equivalent (5) (3) 2
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and (

Equivalents (141,38) 144,50! 12,99¢
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Pe 169,40: 24,897 11,89¢
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Pe $ 28,02( $ 169,40: $ 24,897
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow

Information

Cash Paid for Intere $ — $ 1,20¢ $ 1,38¢
Nor-cash Investing Activitie

Accrued construction in progre $ 1,027 $ — 3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW

Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company"@elldex") is a biopharmaceutical company focusedhe development and commercialization of se
immunotherapy technologies for the treatment oteaand other difficult-to-treat diseases. The Canys lead drug candidates include rindopepimsb(al
referred to as Rintega® and CDX-110) and glembatnatuvedotin (also referred to as CDX-011). Rindapepis a targeted immunotherapeutic in a
pivotal Phase 3 study for the treatment of fronélglioblastoma and a Phase 2 study for the tredtaigecurrent glioblastoma. Glembatumumab vedstin
a targeted antibody-drug conjugate in a randomi2édse 2b study for the treatment of triple negdtireast cancer and a Phase 2 study for the tretitthe
metastatic melanoma. The Company has a numberlatesiage candidates in clinical developmentluding varlilumab (also referred to as COA27), ¢
fully human therapeutic monoclonal antibody for @anindications, CDX-1401, a targeted immunotheuip@imed at antigen presenting cells for cancer
indications and CDX-301, an immune cell mobilizexgent and dendritic cell growth factor

At December 31, 2014, the Company had aah equivalents and marketable securities of $2@illion. The Company incurred a loss of
$118.1 million for the year ended December 31, 20let cash used in operations for the year endegbber 31, 2014 was $101.5 million. The Company
believes that the cash, cash equivalents and nadnlkezecurities at December 31, 2014 will be sigfficto meet estimated working capital requirementd
fund planned operations for at least the next tevehonths.

During the next twelve months, the Comparay take further steps to raise additional capitaheet its longerm liquidity needs. These capital rais
activities may include, but may not be limiteddog or more of the following: the licensing of tactogy programs with existing or new collaborative
partners, possible business combinations, issuafrabebt, or the issuance of common stock or otbeursties via private placements or public offesng
While the Company may seek capital through a nurabereans, there can be no assurance that addifioaacing will be available on acceptable teriif:
at all, and the Company's negotiating positionapital-raising efforts may worsen as existing reses are used. There is also no assurance that the
Company will be able to enter into further colladtore relationships. Additional equity financingayrbe dilutive to the Company's stockholders; debt
financing, if available, may involve significantdfapayment obligations and covenants that restiic€Company's ability to operate as a business; and
licensing or strategic collaborations may resultipalties or other terms which reduce the Compa@gbnomic potential from products under develogmen

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financiakstents reflect the operations of the Company sndholly-owned subsidiary. All intercompany balasc
and transactions have been eliminated in consa@itla®n December 31, 2014, the Company's whollyedhsubsidiary, Celldex Research Corporation,
merged into Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. The Compggrates in one segment, which is the businesswaflopment, manufacturing and commercialization
of novel therapeutics for human health care.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated finahsfatements in conformity with accounting pritegpgenerally accepted in the United States of Agaer
(U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimatesise assumptions that affect the reported amofiaissets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the dateb@tbnsolidated financial statements and the reg@mounts of revenues and expenses during theirgpo
period. Actual results could differ from those ettes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidestments purchased with a maturity date of 90 dajess at the date of purchase to be cash eqotsale
Cash equivalents consist principally of money maflteds and debt securities.

Marketable Securitie

The Company invests its excess cash baddanaearketable securities including municipal beedurities, U.S. government agency securities, and
high-grade corporate bonds. The Company classified its marketable securities as current assethe consolidated balance sheets because they are
available-for-sale and available to fund currergragions. Marketable securities are stated at/&ire with their unrealized gains and losses iretuas a
component of accumulated other comprehensive in¢toss), which is a separate component of stockdielequity, until such gains and losses are
realized. If a decline in the fair value is consatbother-than-temporary, based on available ecilghe unrealized loss is transferred from other
comprehensive income (loss) to the consolidatedrsents of operations. Realized gains and lossedetermined on the specific identification method
are included in investment and other income, net.

Concentration of Credit Risk and of Significant @nsers and Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially @dbjthe Company to concentrations of credit risknprily consist of cash, cash equivalents, marketab
securities and accounts receivable. The Compamgstavts cash, cash equivalents and marketabletsexin debt instruments and interest bearing
accounts at major financial institutions in excesmsured limits. The Company mitigates credik txy limiting the investment type and maturity to
securities that preserve capital, maintain liqyiditd have a high credit quality. The Company lwdhistorically experienced credit losses fromeitsount
receivable and therefore has not established ewatice for doubtful accounts.

Revenue from Rockefeller, BMS and Glaxaespnted 75%, 20% and 0% for the year ended Dece3th2014, 35%, 0% and 57% for the year el
December 31, 2013, and 0%, 0% and 96% for thegm@ed December 31, 2012, of total Company revaespectively.

The Company relies on contract manufactuoirganizations (CMO) to manufacture drug substameedrug product for its late-stage clinical stsdi
of rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin as wefbafuture commercial supplies. The Company &ddies on CMOs for supply of raw materials as
well as filling, packaging, storage and shippinglnfg product. These clinical studies would be &gy affected by a significant interruption in thgply
of rindopepimut and glembatumumab vedotin.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)
Fair Value Measuremen

The Company has certain assets and liekilihat are measured at fair value in the findstédements. The Company seeks to maximize thefuse
observable inputs (market data obtained from seur@ependent from the Company) and to minimizeugeof unobservable inputs (the Company's
assumptions about how market participants woulcepassets and liabilities) when measuring thevilire of its assets and liabilities. These assals a
liabilities are classified into one of three levefshe following fair value hierarchy as definegB.S. GAAP:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoteepin active markets for identical assets driliiées. An active market for an asset or lialilis a
market in which transactions for the asset or lighoccur with sufficient frequency and volumepmvide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Lévptices, such as quoted prices in active mafketsimilar assets or liabilities and quoted pritas
identical assets or liabilities in markets that aoé active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the@any's assessment of the assumptions that npadtitipants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

Property and Equipmet

Property and equipment is stated at cadti@preciated over the estimated useful lives @féated assets using the straight-line methdootadory
equipment and office furniture and equipment amreldated over five years and computer equipmethéjiseciated over three years. Manufacturing
equipment is amortized over seven to ten yearssdhedd improvements are amortized over the shoftitre estimated useful life or the non-cancelable
term of the related lease, including any renewsds are reasonably assured of occurring. Proparhyeguipment under construction is classified as
construction in progress and is depreciated or imedronly after the asset is placed in servicgebixlitures for maintenance and repairs are chdaoged
expense whereas the costs of significant improvésnghich extend the life of the underlying asseteapitalized. Upon retirement or sale, the costssbt
disposed of and the related accumulated depreciati® eliminated and any resulting gain or losefiected in the Company's consolidated statenadnts
operations and comprehensive loss.

The treatment of costs to construct prgpand equipment depends on the nature of the aostshe stage of construction. Costs incurredérptioject
planning, design, construction and installationgasaare capitalized as part of the cost of the.aBse Company stops capitalizing these costs wien
asset is substantially complete and ready fontended use. For manufacturing property and equiprtfee Company also capitalizes the cost of vélida
these assets for the underlying manufacturing psocehe Company completes the capitalization aflaibn costs when the asset is substantially cetapl
and ready for its intended use. Costs capitalizetide incremental labor and fringe benefits, ainelctlconsultancy services.
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CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinued)
Business Combinatiot

The Company records the fair value of thiestderation transferred to acquire a businedsedangible assets and identifiable intangibletasse
acquired and liabilities assumed on the basiseif thir values at the date of acquisition. The @any assesses the fair value of assets, includtaggible
assets such as process research and development (IPR&D), usirgyiaty of methods including present value modeteHEasset is measured at fair ve
from the perspective of a market participant. Thethnd used to estimate the fair values of IPR&R&smcorporates significant assumptions regartling
estimates a market participant would make in ord&valuate an asset, including a market partitipassumptions regarding the probability of cortipte
IPR&D projects, which would require obtaining regfoiry approval for marketing of the associated drargdidate; a market participant's estimates
regarding the timing of and the expected cost®toptete IPR&D projects; a market participant'sreates of future cash flows from potential produades;
and the appropriate discount rates for a markeicjzant. Transaction costs and restructuring casteciated with the transaction are expensecas&d.

Intangible Asset

IPR&D assets acquired in a business contibmanitially are recorded at fair value and acatad for as indefinite-lived intangible assets. Shassets
are maintained on the Company's consolidated balsimeets until either the project underlying thermompleted or the assets become impaired. Ifjag
is completed, the carrying value of the relatedngible asset is amortized over the remaining eséichlife of the asset beginning in the period hich the
project is completed. If a project becomes impaoe$ abandoned, the carrying value of the relatihgible asset is written down to its fair vaared an
impairment charge is taken in the period in whioh impairment occurs.

IPR&D assets are tested for impairmentmarmnual basis during the third quarter, or eaifienpairment indicators are present. As parthef annual
impairment test of the IPR&D assets as of JulydlLl42 the Company bypassed the optional qualitassessment and performed a calculation of the fair
value of the asset. The Company concluded thdPR&D assets were not impaired.

Intangible assets acquired in a businesgamtion with a finite life are recorded at faalve and amortized over the greater of economiswoption
or on a straight-line basis over their estimatesfuldife.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase pricktlae fair value of assets acquired and liabdliissumed in a business combination is allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on annual basis during the third quarter, or eaifienpairment indicators are present. The Complaay
the option to assess qualitative factors to deterifiit is more likely than not that goodwill migbe impaired and whether it is necessary to perfine
two-step goodwill impairment test required undeS USAAP. As part of its annual impairment testraf goodwill asset as of July 1, 2014, the Company
bypassed the optional qualitative assessment afarmed the two-step impairment test. The Compamchuded that goodwill was not impaired.
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Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabiliiysdbng-lived assets, including property and pquent, and intangible assets when circumstancésailed
that an event of impairment may have occurred. ietation of recoverability is based on an estinadtendiscounted future cash flows resulting frdma t
use of the asset and its eventual dispositiorhdrewent that such cash flows are not expected sufficient to recover the carrying amount of éissets, tt
assets are written-down to their estimated faines

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue when dhefollowing criteria are met: persuasive evideotan arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the seller's priteetbuyer is fixed or determinable; and collecigbis reasonably assured.

The Company has entered into and in theéutay enter into biopharmaceutical product dewrekent agreements with collaborative partners fer th
research and development of therapeutic drug ptediibe terms of the agreements may include nondefole signing and licensing fees, funding for
research, development and manufacturing, milegtagenents and royalties on any product sales defieed collaborations. These multiple element
arrangements are analyzed to determine whethetelherables can be separated or whether they Ineuatcounted for as a single unit of accounting. In
accounting for these transactions, the Compangatis revenue to the various elements based arréletive fair value. The fair value of a revenue
generating element can be based on current selliogs offered by the Company or another partyctorent products or the Company's best estimate of
selling price for future products. Revenue allodatean individual element is recognized when #ikeo revenue recognition criteria are met for that
element.

These collaborative and other agreemenysamatain milestone payments. Revenues from mitestoif they are considered substantive, are
recognized upon successful accomplishment of thestones. Determining whether a milestone is sakig&involves judgment, including an assessment
of the Company's involvement in achieving the nilees and whether the amount of the payment is earaorate to the Company's performance. If not
considered substantive, milestones are initialfgded and recognized over the period of the reimgiperformance obligation.

Payments received to fund certain reseactikities are recognized as revenue in the peniathich the research activities are performed.dree
from contracts and grants is recognized as thecssrare performed and recorded as effort is exgend the contracted work and billed to the govenmm
or the Company's contractual partner. Paymentsvext@ advance that are related to future perfoceaare deferred and recognized as revenue when the
research projects are performed.

Product royalty revenue consists of paymeateived from licensees for a portion of sales@eds from products that utilize the Company&nked
technologies and are recognized when the amowariabbasis for such royalty payments are reportéldet@ompany in accurate and appropriate form and
in accordance with the related license agreement.
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Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs, includitggrial and contract research costs, are expessaduared. Research and development expensestonsi
mainly of clinical trial costs, manufacturing ofrétal material, toxicology and other preclinicélidies, personnel costs, depreciation, licensedads
funding of outside contracted research.

Clinical trial expenses include expensa®eisited with clinical research organizations, RGE services. Contract manufacturing expensesdeclu
expenses associated with contract manufacturirgnizgtions, or CMO, services. The invoicing from@Rand CMOs for services rendered can lag se
months. The Company accrues the cost of servicekered in connection with CRO and CMO activitiesdzhon our estimate of costs incurred. The
Company maintains regular communication with oud8Rind CMOs to assess the reasonableness ofitatest. Differences between actual expense:
estimated expenses recorded have not been matedare adjusted for in the period in which thegopee known.

Patent Cost:

Patent costs are expensed as incurrechi€@dtent costs are reimbursed by the Companythupt development and licensing partners. Any
reimbursed patent costs are recorded as produetateaent and licensing agreement revenues in thep@oy's financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensatjpense for all stock-based awards made to ergdognd directors based on the estimated fair wvalue
of the stock-based awards expected to vest atréme date and is adjusted, if necessary, to redletttal forfeitures. Compensation expense fortatlls
based awards to employees and directors is rea@djniging the straight-line method over the termesting or performance.

The Company records stock-based compensatipense for stock options granted to non-empkopased on the fair value of the stock options whic
is re-measured over the graded vesting term raguti periodic adjustments to stock-based comp&msakpense.

Foreign Currency Translatio

Net unrealized gains and losses resultioign foreign currency translation are included inestcomprehensive income (loss). At December 31420
and December 31, 2013, accumulated other compriglednsome includes a net unrealized gain reladefdrteign currency translation of $2.6 million.

Income Taxe

The Company uses the asset and liabilitthatkto account for income taxes, including thegsition of deferred tax assets and deferred &biliiies
for the anticipated future tax consequences atalila to differences between financial statemerduats and their respective tax basis. Quarterdy, th
Company reviews its deferred tax assets for regoveraluation allowance is established when then@any believes that it is more likely than not titst
deferred tax assets will
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not be realized. Changes in valuation allowanca® fperiod to period are included in the Comparakgarovision in the period of change.

The Company records uncertain tax positiorike financial statements only if it is moredii than not that the uncertain tax position wéldustained
upon examination by the taxing authorities. The @any records interest and penalties related tortaingax positions in income tax expense.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of netdoskcertain changes in stockholders' equity tleaéacluded from net loss. The Company includesidor
currency translation adjustments and unrealizedsgand losses on marketable securities in otheprilensive loss. The consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss reflect totaprehensive loss for the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012.

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per common share is based thie weighted-average number of common sharetaoding during the period, excluding restricted
stock that has been issued but is not yet vestituted net loss per common share is based upowéighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period plus additional wesghaverage potentially dilutive common sharestantiing during the period when the effect is dileti
The potentially dilutive common shares that havebeen included in the net loss per common shdcelesions because the effect would have been anti-
dilutive are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 7,015,351 5,770,54. 5,349,81!
Restricted stoc 7,00( 6,00( 6,00(

7,022,351 5,776,54. 5,355,811

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

From time to time, new accounting pronoumeets are issued by the Financial Accounting Staisdaoard (FASB) or other standard setting bodies
that are adopted by the Company as of the spedffedtive date. Unless otherwise discussed, thapgamy believes that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haveaterial impact on the Company's financial positir results of operations upon adoption.
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In May 2014, the FASB issued a new U.S. ®Agccounting standard that creates modificationsutious other revenue accounting standards for
specialized transactions and industries. The ne&sv GAAP accounting standard is intended to confi@wenue accounting principles with a concurrently
issued new standard under International Finan@aloRing Standards, as well as, to enhance disessalated to disaggregated revenue informatiba. T
updated guidance is effective for annual reponiagods beginning on or after December 15, 2016 ,iaterim periods within those annual periods. The
Company will further study the implications of tisiandard in order to evaluate the method of adog@thd the expected impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued a new GSAP accounting standard that provides guidanceiatmanagement's responsibility to evaluate whether
there is substantial doubt about an entity's gtiititcontinue as a going concern and to provideted|footnote disclosures. The new accounting staind
requires management to assess an entity's aloildgritinue as a going concern by incorporatingeaquhnding upon certain principles that are curyentl
U.S. auditing standards. The new accounting standaffective for the annual period ending aftecBmber 15, 2016, and for annual periods and interi
periods thereafter. Early application is permitfEBde Company does not expect the adoption of thisdard to have a material impact on the cons@itat
financial statements.

(3) COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in accumulated other compréreimecome (loss) by component for the years erdecember 31, 2014 and 2013 are summarized b
No amounts were reclassified out of accumulatedratbmprehensive income during the years endedrilee31, 2014, 2013 and 20:

Unrealized Gain

(Loss) on

Marketable Foreign

Securities Currency ltems Total

(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 20 $ 82 % 2,58¢ $ 2,66¢
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat (73 (5) (78)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive ine — — —
Net currer-period other comprehensive Ic (73) (5) (78)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 9 % 2,581 $ 2,59(
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 15¢ $ 2,58¢ $ 2,74¢
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifical (74) 3) (77)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive ine — — —
Net currer-period other comprehensive Ic (74) (3) (77)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 82 % 2,58¢ $ 2,66¢
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The following tables set forth the Comparfinancial assets subject to fair value measuré&nen

As of
December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 18,671 — $ 18,677 —
Marketable securitie $ 173,02: — $ 173,02 —
$ 191,70( — $ 191,70( —
As of
December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)
Money market funds and cash equivale $ 148,54¢ — $ 148,54¢ —
Marketable securitie $ 133,58 — $ 133,58: —
$ 282,13( — $ 282,13( —

There have been no transfers of assetahilities between the fair value measurement diaations. The Company's financial instrumentssisn
mainly of cash and cash equivalents, marketablariies, short-term accounts receivable and acsopayable. The Company values its marketable
securities utilizing independent pricing servicdsah normally derive security prices from recendported trades for identical or similar securitimaking
adjustments based on significant observable traéinsac At each balance sheet date, observable iagkgts may include trade information, broker or
dealer quotes, bids, offers or a combination of¢hdata sources. Short-term accounts receivablacmdints payable are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements at cost, whigir@pmates fair value due to the short-term natdrhese instruments.
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A summary of marketable securities is shbetow:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)
December 31, 201.
Marketable securitie

U.S. government and municipal obligatic

Maturing in one year or le:

Maturing after one year through three years
Total U.S. government and municipal obligatic
Corporate debt securitit

$ 4458( $ 3C
$
Maturing in one year or le: $ 89,63¢
$
$

16,10¢ 48
60,68¢ $ 7S

(6) $ 44,60:
(1)  16,15¢
(7) $ 60,76(

Maturing after one year through three years 22,69(
Total corporate debt securiti 112,32t $
Total marketable securitit 173,01 $ 8
December 31, 201
Marketable securitie
U.S. government and municipal obligatic

(35)  22,65¢
(72) $ 112,26
(79) $ 173,02

olw o

$
$
$ (37 $ 89,60
$
$

o

Maturing in one year or le: $ 5553 % 27 $ (4 $ b55,55¢
Maturing after one year through three years 18,23 5€ (4) 18,28¢
Total U.S. government and municipal obligatit $ 73,76 $ 823 $ (8) $ 73,84(
Corporate debt securitit
Maturing in one year or le: $ 38,970 $ 9 % (9) $ 38,97¢
Maturing after one year through three years 20,76 12 (5) 20,76¢
Total corporate debt securiti $ 59,73 $ 21 § (14) $ 59,74:
Total marketable securiti¢ $ 133,49¢ $ 104 $ (22) $ 133,58:

The marketable securities held by the Compeere high investment grade and there were néetatle securities that the Company considereé to b
other-than-temporarily impaired as of December2814.
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(6) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment include the follayvin

December 31, 201 December 31, 201.
(In thousands)

Laboratory Equipmer $ 4,22: $ 3,69¢
Manufacturing Equipmer 2,27¢ 2,13(
Office Furniture and Equipme 1,88¢ 1,38¢
Leasehold Improvemen 14,60 14,49:
Construction in Progres 1,767 257
Total Property and Equipme 24,75¢ 21,96¢
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortiza (14,220) (11,997
$ 10,53t $ 9,97:

Depreciation and amortization expenseedléd property and equipment was $2.4 million, $@iion and $2.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(7) INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Intangible assets, net of accumulated dratitn, and goodwill are as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Estimated Accumulated Accumulated
Life Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net

(In thousands)
Intangible Assets

IPR&D Indefinite $ 11,80 $ — $ 11,80C $ 11,80( $ — $ 11,80(
Amgen
Amendmeni 16 year 14,50( (4,70¢) 9,792 14,50( (3,819 10,68¢
Core Technolog 11 year 1,29¢ (1,087) 21E 1,29¢ (964) 332
Total Intangible
Assets $ 27,59% $ (5,789 $ 21,807 $ 27,59¢ $ (4,770 $ 22,82
Goodwill Indefinite $ 8,965 $ — $ 896 $ 8,96t $ — $ 8,96¢

The IPR&D intangible asset was recordecbimnection with the acquisition of CuraGen andtesl@o the development of glembatumumab vedotin. At
the date of acquisition and at December 31, 20leMmlgatumumab vedotin had not yet reached techredbfgasibility nor did it have any alternativeufra
use. Glembatumumab vedotin is in a randomized,éPRlastudy for the treatment of triple negativeasteancer and a Phase 2 study for the treatment of
metastatic melanoma.

Amortization expense for intangible asseds $1.0 million, $1.0 million and $1.1 million ftre years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The estimated future amortizationesge of intangible assets for the years endingreer31, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 is
$1.0 million, $1.0 million, $0.9 million, $0.9 mitin and $0.9 million, respectively.

82




Table of Contents

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(8) ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses include the following:

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
(In thousands)
Accrued Royalty and License Fe $ — % 25C
Accrued Payroll and Employee Bene 4,28¢ 3,51¢
Accrued Research and Development Contract C 12,69¢ 11,84(
Accrued Professional Fe 49C 55€
Other Accrued Expenst 1,82¢ 1,01¢

$ 19,29¢ $ 17,17¢

(9) OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Other long-term liabilities include thelfaking:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201.
(In thousands)

Deferred Ren $ 482 $ 41¢
Net Deferred Tax Liability related to IPR& 4,661 4,661
Deferred Income from Sale of Tax Bene 4,01¢ 1,63(
Deferred Revenu 5,297 1,16¢

Total 14,45t 7,87¢
Less Current Portio (2,597) (928)
Long-Term Portior $ 11,86: $ 6,95(

In December 2014, January 2014, Januar@,2l@huary 2012 and January 2011, the Companwegtapproval from the New Jersey Economic
Development Authority and agreed to sell New Jetagyenefits of $1.9 million, $1.1 million, $0.8llon, $0.8 million and $0.6 million to an indepeent
third party for $1.8 million, $1.0 million, $0.8 #ion, $0.7 million and $0.5 million, respectivelynder the agreement, the Company must maintaase b
of operations in New Jersey for five years or thelienefits must be paid back on a pro-rata basiecbon the number of years completed. During ¢aesy
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Companydet®0.4 million and $0.2 million to other inconadated to the sale of these tax benefits,
respectively.

In September 2013, the Company enteredaintagreement with Rockefeller University pursuanwhich the Company will perform research and
development services for Rockefeller. The agreeiimehides an approved project plan for the develprservices of $4.8 million and a term of three
years. The agreement included an upfront payme$t & million which is being recognized as reveauer the term of the agreement. The Company bills
Rockefeller quarterly for actual time and direcstsoincurred and records those amounts to reventhe iquarter the services are performed. The Coynpa
recorded $2.7 million and $1.4 million in reveneéated to the Rockefeller agreement during thesyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In May 2014, the Company entered into micdil trial collaboration with Bristol-Myers Squitlbompany ("BMS") to evaluate the safety, tolerapili
and preliminary efficacy of varlilumab and
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(9) OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)

Opdivo®, BMS's PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor @Phasé / 2 study. Under the terms of this clinical trial chitaation, BMS made a one-time
payment to the Company of $5.0 million and BMS #r@lCompany amended the terms of the Company'Srexieense agreement with Medarex (a
subsidiary of BMS) related to the Company's CD2¥gpam whereby certain future milestone paymenteweived and future royalty rates were reduced
that may have been due from the Company to Med&re®turn, BMS was granted a time-limited righffie$t negotiation if the Company wishes to out-
license varlilumab. The companies also agreed i @xrclusively with each other to explore anti-PR#itagonist antibody and anti-CD27 agonist antibody
combination regimens. The clinical trial collabdwatprovides that the companies will share develepingosts and that the Company will be responéiiol
conducting the ongoing Phase 1/2 study.

The Company has determined that its perdimce obligations under the BMS agreement, whiahnauily include performing research and
development, supplying varlilumab and participatimghe joint development committee, should be anted for as a single unit of accounting and
estimated that its performance period under the Blgt&@ement would be 5 years. Accordingly, the $&llon up-front payment was initially recorded as
deferred revenue and is being recognized as revamasstraight-line basis over the estimated 5-pediormance period using the Contingency Adjusted
Performance Model ("CAPM"). The BMS agreement alsavides for BMS to reimburse the Company for 5(he external costs incurred by the
Company in connection with the clinical trial. TReBMS payments will be recognized as revenue utde€APM. The Company recorded $0.7 million in
revenue related to the BMS agreement during thegreded December 31, 2014.

(10) TERM LOAN

In December 2010, the Company enteredart@an and security agreement pursuant to whiclCdrepany borrowed $10.0 million under a term loan.
In March 2011, the Company amended the loan agneteane borrowed an additional $5.0 million. In M2§13, the Company elected to prepay the
outstanding principal under the term loan in fplirsuant to the terms of its loan agreement, asdett and paid $8.8 million in principal and $0.ilion
in interest, prepayment and final payment fees. Ctmpany's obligations under the loan agreemenbbad collateralized by a first priority security
interest in substantially all of its assets, othan its intellectual property. In connection witle repayment of the term loan and the terminatfche loan
agreement, those security interests were rele&gedest expense on the term loan was $0.8 midiwh$1.5 million for the years ended December 8132
and 2012, respectively.

(11) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

In December 2013, the Company filed anmatic shelf registration statement with the Semgiand Exchange Commission to register for sate an
combination of the types of securities describeth@shelf registration statement.

During the years ended December 31, 2082842, Company issued 21,613,483 and 12,075,@sbf its common stock in underwritten public
offerings resulting in net proceeds to the Compafr§278.6 million and $43.5 million, after dedugfinnderwriting fees and offering expenses, respelgt
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During the years ended December 31, 202842, Company issued 2,433,608 and 8,003,29@skéits common stock under our controlled equity
offering sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald&,@s amended, resulting in net proceeds to tinep@ny of $17.1 million and $40.1 million, after
deducting commission and offering expenses, resghgt

During the year ended December 31, 20BICmpany entered into an amended and restatety agrpement with Biosyn Corporation. Under the
supply agreement, Biosyn will manufacture and spgplhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) to the Company dise in connection with the development,
manufacture or commercial sale of rindopepimutdnnection with the supply agreement, the Compssiyed to Biosyn 152,172 shares of its common
stock having a value of $2.0 million. The Compasyecording the $2.0 million to research and dguelent expense through August 2021, the current tern
of the supply agreement. At December 31, 2014Cihrmpany recorded $0.3 million and $1.6 million tegmid assets and other assets related to this stoc
issuance, respectively.

Convertible Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2014, the Company had aiztba 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock all attwhave been designated Class C Preferred Stock
including 350,000 shares which have been desigr&deds C-1 Junior Participating Cumulative PreféiBtock (the "Series C-1 Preferred Stock").

(12) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has the following stock-basadmensation plans: the 2004 Employee Stock PurdPlase(the "2004 ESPP Plan"), the 2008 Stock
Option and Incentive Plan (the "2008 Plan"), Cell&esearch's 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the "@allResearch 2005 Plan") and CuraGen 2007 Stock
Plan (the "CuraGen 2007 Plan"). There are no sle@table for future grant under the Celldex Reg®2005 Plan and CuraGen 2007 Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Pl

At December 31, 2014, a total of 200,008ret of common stock are reserved for issuancer tinel004 ESPP Plan. Under the 2004 ESPP Plam
participating employee may purchase shares of camstark through payroll deductions at a purchase mgual to 85% of the lower of the fair market
value of the common stock at either the beginninty@ offering period or the applicable exerciseed®uring the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company issued 10,798 and 11,823 shades the 2004 ESPP Plan, respectively. At Dece@be?014, 153,326 shares were available for
issuance under the 2004 ESPP Plan.

Employee Stock Option and Incentive F

The 2008 Plan permits the granting of itigenstock options (intended to qualify as suchearrfBection 422A of the Internal Revenue Code 06188
amended), non-qualified stock options, stock apatien rights, performance share units, restrictietk and other awards of restricted stock in ¢ifcash
bonuses to employees, consultants and non-emptbyezsors.

At December 31, 2014, the 2008 Plan allofeed maximum of 7,400,000 shares of common stodle issued for grants of Stock Options and other
Awards made prior to March 7, 2018 and grants of
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(12) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Incentive Stock Options made prior to October Z0,72 The Company's board of directors determinesettm of each option, option price, and number of
shares for which each option is granted and tleeativhich each option vests. Options generally @esr a period not to exceed four years. The t&frm
each option cannot exceed ten years (five yearspfiions granted to holders of more than 10% of/iteng stock of the Company) and the exercisespof
stock options cannot be less than the fair mariketevof the common stock at the date of grant (120%ir market value for incentive stock options
granted to holders of more than 10% of the votioglsof the Company). Vesting of all employee and-employee director stock option awards is
accelerated upon a change in control as definduki2008 Plan.

A summary of stock option activity for thear ended December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Remaining
Price Contractual
Shares Per Share Term (In Years)
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 5,770,54. $ 8.17 7.C
Grantec 1,456,800 $ 13.6¢
Exercisec (169,97) $ 6.0C
Cancelec (42,01 $ 13.1(
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2 7,01535 $ 9.34 6.€
Options Vested and Expected to Vest at Decembe2(®Y4 6,963,57 $ 9.31 6.€
Options Exercisable at December 31, 2 4.090,11. $ 7.0€ 5.1

Shares Available for Grant under the 2008 F 675,15¢

The total intrinsic value of stock optiaeercised during the years ended December 31, 2018, and 2012 was $2.7 million, $10.0 million and
$0.2 million, respectively. The weighted averagengidate fair value of stock options granted duthegyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
was $8.82, $10.51 and $3.67, respectively. Thé fimitavalue of stock options vested during thergeended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was
$5.7 million, $2.4 million and $2.1 million, respizely.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock amioutstanding at December 31, 2014 was $62.8millhe aggregate intrinsic value of stock optiveste!
and expected to vest at December 31, 2014 was $@Ri&n. As of December 31, 2014, total compermatiost related to non-vested employee and non-
employee director stock options not yet recognized approximately $20.3 million, net of estimatedditures, which is expected to be recognized as
expense over a weighted average period of 2.6 years

86




Table of Contents

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(12) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
Restricted Stoc

A summary of restricted stock activity unttee 2008 Plan for the year ended December 34 R04s follows:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Shares (per share)
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, | 6,00C $ 15.2(
Grantec 14,000 $ 14.12
Vested (12,000 $ 14.3:
Cancelec (1,000 $ 13.4¢
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, | 7,000 $ 14.7¢

Valuation and Expenses Information

Stock-based compensation expense for thes ynded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 wasleecas follows:

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Research and developm $ 3,45¢ $ 2,64 $ 1,41¢
General and administrati\ 3,39¢ 1,90¢ 88:
Total stocl-based compensation expe! $ 6,852 $ 4,548 $ 2,29¢

The fair values of employee stock optiorented during the years ended December 31, 2018 &0d 2012 were valued using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Expected stock price volatilil 70- 72% 71-72% 70- 72%
Expected option terr 6.0 Years 6.0 Years 6.0 Years
Risk-free interest rat 1.9-2.2% 1.2-2.1% 0.9- 1.4%
Expected dividend yiel None None None

The Company estimates expected term basédétorical exercise patterns. The Company usdsstorical stock price volatility consistent wite
expected term of grant as the basis for its expeatéatility assumption. The risk-free interesteré based upon the yield of U.S. Treasury seeasriti
consistent with the expected term of the optiore @ividend yield assumption is based on the Conipdmstory of zero dividend payouts and expectation
that no dividends will be paid in the foreseeablaife.
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(13) REVENUE

In 1997, the Company licensed its oralviotes strain to GlaxoSmithKline plc ("Glaxo") anda®o assumed responsibility for all subsequeniadin
trials and all other development activities. Tharpany's licensed-in the rotavirus strain that wsedito develop Glaxo's Rotarix rotavirus vaccingda5
and owed a license fee of 30% to Cincinnati Chiltré{ospital Medical Center ("CCH") on net royatieceived from Glaxo. In May 2005, the Company
entered into an agreement whereby an affiliateanfl Royalty Fund II, L.P. ("PRF") purchased a 70fgiest in the net royalties the Company received o
worldwide sales of Rotarix. In December 2012, th&xG agreement expired automatically upon the atipin of the last relevant patent right coveredha
Glaxo agreement. The Company's retained intenes®iarix net royalties which were not sold to PRE recorded as product royalty revenue and a
corresponding amount that is payable to CCH isrdmmbas royalty expense. Product royalty revendeaayelty expense related to the Company's retained
interest in Rotarix was $2.3 million and $10.8 miil for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 264@ectively.

(14) COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS

The Company has entered into license agegaemwhereby the Company has received licensegtions to license technology, specified patents or
patent applications. The Company's licensing angldpment collaboration agreements generally pefad royalty payments equal to specified
percentages of product sales, annual license mainte fees, continuing patent prosecution costpatehtial future milestone payments to third peerti
upon the achievement of certain developmental,laégny and/or commercial milestones. Nonrefundéibense fee expense of $3.2 million, $0.7 million
and $0.7 million was recorded to research and dewetnt expense for the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Medarex, Inc., a subsidiary of Bris-Myers Squibb (Medarex)

The Company and Medarex have entered mesaignment and license agreement, as amendegrdkiaes for the assignment of certain patent and
other intellectual property rights and a licenseddain Medarex technology related to the CompgafAPC Targeting Technology™ and an anti-mannose
receptor product. Under the terms of the agreentlemiCompany may be required to pay royalties énal-single digits on any net product sale of a
Licensed Royalty-Bearing Product or Anti-Mannosedeict to Medarex until the later of (i) the expinatof the last to expire applicable patent andtkie
tenth anniversary of the first commercial salewaftslicensed product.

The Company and Medarex have also entatediiresearch and commercialization agreemeaimasded, that provides the Company with certain
rights to obtain exclusive commercial licensesruppietary monoclonal antibodies raised againga@eantigens utilizing the Medarex UItiMAb techagly
platform for generating antibodies until Decemb@t2 Under the terms of the agreement, the Compeayybe required to pay Medarex milestones of up
to $7.0 million upon obtaining first approval fasromercial sale in a first indication of a produchtaining a licensed antibody and royalty paymeéntke
low-to-mid single digits on any net product salégwespect to the development of any productsaiointg such licensed antibodies until the latefixthe
expiration of the last to expire applicable patemd (ii) the tenth anniversary of the first comniarsale of such licensed product. In Septembef 2t
Company exercised an option under the agreemesmtehii it licensed from Medarex access to the UliMschnology to develop and commercialize
human
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(14) COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS (Continued)

antibodies to CD27, including varlilumab. In contiec with the clinical trial collaboration, the Cgany entered into with BMS in May 2014, certairufe
milestone payments were waived and future royaltgs that the Company may have owed Medarex inextiom with any CD27 program were reduced.

Rockefeller University (Rockefelle

In November 2005, the Company and Rockafelhtered into a license agreement for the exausorldwide rights to human DEC-205 receptor, with
the right to sublicense the technology. The licegramt is exclusive except that Rockefeller mayarsg permit other nonprofit organizations to use th
human DEC-205 receptor patent rights for educatiand research purposes. The Company may be redoifgay Rockefeller milestones of up to
$3.8 million upon obtaining first approval for corarnial sale in a first indication of a product tetigg the licensed receptor and royalty paymentkeén
low-to-mid single digits on any net product saléthwespect to development and commercializatiothefhuman DEC-205 receptor.

Duke University Brain Tumor Cancer Center (Du

In September 2006, the Company and Dulereatinto a license agreement that gave the Comganess and reference to the clinical data gemkrate
by Duke and its collaborators in order for the Campto generate its own filing with the FDA relatito rindopepimut. The Company may be required to
pay Duke milestones of up to $0.7 million upon afitey first approval for commercial sale in a finstlication and royalty payments in the I@mgle digits
on any net product sales with respect to developiargsh commercialization of rindopepimut.

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (Ludw

In October 2006, the Company and Ludwigesd into an agreement for the nonexclusive rightertain cancer tumor targets for use in comhnat
with the Company's APC Targeting Technology. Thenfany may be required to pay Ludwig milestonespofau$1.0 million upon obtaining first appro
for commercial sale in a first indication and raygdayments in the low-single digits on any netduut sales with respect to development and
commercialization of the technology licensed frooulig.

Alteris Therapeutics, Inc. (Alteri:

In October 2005, the Company completedatirpuisition of the assets of Alteris, including E8FRvIIl molecule. The Company may be required to
pay Alteris up to $5.0 million upon obtaining thest approval for commercial sale of a product earihg EGFRUVIII, including rindopepimut.

University of Southampton, UK (Southampton)

In November 2008, the Company enteredarifoense agreement with Southampton to developahuamtibodies towards CD27, a potentially
important target for immunotherapy of various caac&he Company may be required to pay Southamptt@stones of up to approximately $1.4 million
upon obtaining first approval for commercial salaifirst indication and royalty payments in the
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(14) COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS (Continued)
low-single digits on any net product sales withpezs to development and commercialization of vamiab.
Amgen Inc. (Amger

In March 2009, the Company entered inticenkse agreement with Amgen to acquire the exausghts to CDX-301 and CD40 ligand (CD40L).
CDX-301 and CD40L are immune modulating molecutes increase the numbers and activity of immunis tieht control immune responses. The
Company may be required to pay Amgen milestonegdb $1.0 million upon obtaining first approvaf fjommercial sale in a first indication and royalty
payments in the low-single digits on any net pradades with respect to development and commezei@din of the technology licensed from Amgen,
including CDX-301.

Seattle Genetics, Inc. (Seattle Genetics)

In connection with the acquisition of CueaGthe Company assumed the license agreementdre®gaGen and Seattle Genetics whereby CuraGen
acquired the rights to proprietary antibody-drugjagate (ADC) technology for use with the Compamytprietary antibodies for the potential treatmet
cancer. The Company may be required to pay Séagthetics milestones of up to $5.0 million and $8illion for glembatumumab vedotin and CDX-014,
respectively, upon obtaining first approval for goercial sale in a first indication and royalty pants in the midsingle digits on any net product sales
respect to development and commercialization afetproduct candidates.

(15) INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense atiide to continuing operations consist of theofwihg:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Income tax benefit (provision

Federal $ 4353t $ 30,96 $ 19,39

State 7,32¢ 4,92( 4,231
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and Researche&dbpment

Tax Credits (2,302) (126) (1,42¢6)

48,56: 35,75¢ 22,20¢

Deferred tax valuation allowan (48,567) (35,75¢) (22,20%)

$ = & = & =
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(15) INCOME TAXES (Continued)

A reconciliation between the amount of mgd income tax and the amount computed using tBe Statutory rate of 34% follows:

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Pre-tax loss $ (118,080 $ (81,550 $ (59,129
Loss at Statutory Ratt (40,147  (27,72) (20,109
Research and Development Cre! (4,12¢) (3,26)) —
State Taxe (7,32¢) (4,920 (4,237)
Other 737 26 70€
Expiration of Net Operating Losses and Researcheg&dbpment Ta:

Credits 2,30z 12€ 1,42¢
Change in Valuation Allowanc 48,56: 35, 75¢ 22,20t
Income tax (benefit) provisic $ — $ — $ —

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are@gaized based on temporary differences betweefirthecial reporting and tax basis of assets arllili@s
using future expected enacted rates. A valuatimavahce is recorded against deferred tax assits imore likely than not that some or all of theferred
tax assets will not be realized.

The principal components of the deferredassets and liabilities at December 31, 2014 &i@ 2respectively, are as follows:

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

(In thousands)

Gross Deferred Tax Asse

Net Operating Loss Carryforwar $ 95,577 $ 79,55¢
Tax Credit Carryforward 29,70¢ 25,58:
Deferred Expense 85,88¢ 61,37(
Stocl-based Compensatic 5,55¢ 3,92¢
Fixed Asset: 1,88z 1,63¢
Deferred Revenu 2,07¢ 447
Accrued Expenses and Ott 20z 17€
220,89: 172,69

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilitie
Other Acquired Intangible (3,749 (4,115
IPR&D Intangibles (4,667) (4,667)
(8,410 (8,776
Total Deferred Tax Assets and Liabiliti 212,48 163,92:
Deferred Tax Assets Valuation Allowan (217,14 (168,58))
Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability $ (4,660 $ (4,667
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The net deferred tax liability of $4.7 riuh at December 31, 2014 and 2013 relates to thpdeary differences associated with the IPR&D igthle
assets acquired in the CuraGen acquisition, whietmat deductible for tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company haddhowing federal net operating loss ("NOL") cdorwards:

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $33ilion was generated by the Company which exatrearious dates starting in 20
and going through 2028;

. Prior to the merger of the Company and AVANT, $20dillion, net of expirations and utilization, wgsnerated by AVANT which expire
various dates starting in 2018 and going throug2820

. Following the merger of the Company and AVANT, $18#lion was generated by the combined company hiire at various dat:
starting in 2028 and going through 2034; and

. Prior to its acquisition by the Company, $518.3io1l was generated by CuraGen.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company headaitional $8.0 million of federal and state npér@ting losses not reflected above, that aréattble
to stock option exercises which will be recordedmasncrease in additional paid in capital on thesolidated balance sheet once they are "realined”
accordance with ASC 718.

In general, an ownership change, as defiyeBection 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, te$uim transactions increasing the ownership dhae
shareholders or public groups in the stock of paa@tion by more than 50 percentage points oviereetyear period. Such ownership changes can
significantly limit the amount of NOLs that may b#lized in future periods. The Company currenttpects that it is remote that the CuraGen NOLs may
be utilized and, as such, no related asset hasrbeerded for such losses. The Company has notletedpan analysis of losses generated by AVANT,
however, the Company believes it is remote that&6dllion of the AVANT NOLs may be utilized in fute periods and there may be substantial
limitations on the Company's ability to use the agmng NOLs of $40.4 million. Following the mergefrthe Company and AVANT, the Company
experienced changes in ownership as defined byoBe&82 in June 2009 and December 2009. Furthiar, forthe AVANT merger, the Company as a si
alone company experienced a change in ownerst@jziober 2007. As a result of the ownership chang@dtober 2007, utilization of the Company's Nt
prior to October 2007 is subject to an annual ltn of $4.5 million on $28.3 million of NOLs gem¢ed before that date. As a result of the ownprshi
changes in June 2009 and December 2009, thereaisraral limitation amount of $6.0 million on $67xifllion NOLs. Any unused annual limitation may
carried over to later years, and the amount ofithigation may, under certain circumstances, bgexihio adjustment if the fair value of the Compamet
assets are determined to be below or in excesgdak basis of such assets at the time of the mhipechange, and such unrealized loss or gain is
recognized during the five-year period after thenesghip change.

Similar to the AVANT and CuraGen NOL cawgfvards above, the Company believes that it ismwe likely than not that federal and state redearc
and development ("R&D") credits of $20.8 millionda$14.4 million, respectively, will be utilized the future periods. Further, the Company's ahiiituse
the state NOLs of approximately $127.6 million dinel remaining federal and state R&D credit carmyfmds of approximately $23.6 million and
$9.3 million, respectively, may be
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substantially limited. These state NOLs and fedenal state credits expire at various dates stari2g16 going through 2034. The Company has not ye
completed a study of these credits to substartti@t@mounts. Until a study is completed, no amoargseing presented as an uncertain tax position.

Subsequent ownership changes, as definBddtion 382, could further limit the amount of operating loss carryforwards and research and
development credits that can be utilized annuallgftset future taxable income.

The Company applies the authoritative gutgaon account for and disclosure of uncertainipéme tax positions which requires the Company to
determine whether an income tax position of the @amy is more likely than not to be sustained up@menation, including resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the ialhmerits of the position. For income tax posianeeting the more likely than not threshold,téxe
amount recognized in the financial statementsdaced to the largest benefit that has a greaterfifig perfect likelihood of being realized updmet
ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing autiyoAt December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no wgeized tax benefits. A full valuation allowancesha
been provided against our deferred tax assetsiaitities and, if an adjustment is required, tijustment would be offset by an adjustment to the
valuation allowance. Thus, there would be no impathe consolidated balance sheet or statemesgierhtions if an adjustment were required.

Massachusetts, New Jersey and Connectietba three states in which the Company primaiilgrates or has operated and has income tax rigxe
Company is not currently under examination by th@sany other jurisdictions for any tax year.

The Company has evaluated the positivenagative evidence bearing upon the realizabilitigsohet deferred tax assets, which are comprised
principally of net operating loss carryforwardspitalized R&D expenditures and R&D tax credit céoryards. The Company has determined that it is
more likely than not that it will not recognize thenefits of federal and state deferred tax assetsas a result, a full valuation allowance wastaaed at
December 31, 2014 against the Company's net dédftaxeassets.

(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has facility and equipmentdsahat expire at various dates through 2019. Desfdhese facility leases contain renewal opti@ssly
termination provisions, and provisions that eseathé base rent payments and require the Compgraytoommon area maintenance costs ("CAM") du
the lease term. The following obligations for besst and CAM costs under facility and other noneedable operating leases as of December 31, 2014 do
not include the exercise of renewal terms or e@rmination provisions (in thousands):

2015 $ 2,79¢
2016 3,00¢
2017 1,86¢€
2018 69C
2019 362
Thereaftel —
Total minimum lease paymer $ 8,72(
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(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

The Company's total rent and CAM expensalidacility leases was $2.7 million, $2.7 milli@and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31,

2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(17) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan whichwviailable to substantially all employees. Unterterms of the 401(k) Plan, participants may efect
contribute up to 15% of their compensation, ordtautory prescribed limits. The Company may mald Bnatching contributions on up to 4% of a
participant's annual salary. Benefit expense ferdB1(k) Plan was $0.3 million, $0.3 million andZillion for the years ended December 31, 200432

and 2012, respectively.

(18) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

2014 Q1 2014 Q2 2014 Q32014 Q4 2014
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 41€ $ 592 $ 1,100 $ 1,477
Net loss (29,907 (28,279 (28,087) (31,82)
Basic and diluted net loss per comm
share (0.39) (0.39) (0.3)) (0.3¢)
2013 Q12013 Q22013 Q32013 Q4 2013
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Total revenue $ 241 $ 97 $ 98C $ 62C
Net loss (17,337 (19,016 (23,140 (22,067)
Basic and diluted net loss per comm
share (0.23) (0.29 (0.29) (0.27)
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

As of December 31, 2014, we evaluated, tighparticipation of our Chief Executive OfficerdaChief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of ou
disclosure controls and procedures (as definedilasRl3a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securitiebdhge Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange
Act")). Based on that evaluation, our Chief ExeoriDfficer and Chief Financial Officer concludeatlour disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level agcémber 31, 2014. Our disclosure controls and proes are designed to provide reasonable assuttza
information required to be disclosed in the reptitig we file or submit under the Exchange Acemsorded, processed, summarized and reported within
time periods specified by the SEC's rules and fpemd that such information is accumulated and comicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, gmpeopriate to allow timely decisions regarding rieed disclosure.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovigancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control aerfinancial reporting. Internal control over firaal
reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15df1&fder the Exchange Act as the process designear lunder the supervision of, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and effectegddur board of directors, management and otheopesd, to provide reasonable assurance regarding th
reliability of our financial reporting and the pegption of our financial statements for externalppses in accordance with generally accepted atiogun
principles, and includes those policies and procesithat:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inarasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trenactions and dispositions of ass

. provide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eled as necessary to permit preparation afifiahstatements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andriéwgipts and expenditures are being made onlydordance with the authorizations of
management and directors; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding the prewemntitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of assets that could
have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Projections of any etialuaf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taiiethat controls may become inadequate becauskaniges in conditions, or that the degree of campé
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the parttipn of our management, including our Chief ExeeuOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, we condedt
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our inteaualtrol over financial reporting based on the frammek provided ininternal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission. Based on this evaloatiur management
concluded that our internal control over financ&gorting was effective as of December 31, 2014.
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The effectiveness of our internal contnetiofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2014b&en audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin

There were no changes in our internal obwiver financial reporting during the three monginsled December 31, 2014 that have materially @ffiec
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10IWe included in the definitive Proxy Statement éoir 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or tbé2
Proxy Statement, under "Information Regarding toeréht Directors and Executive Officers of Celldenerapeutic, Inc.," "Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance," "Code of Businésaduct and Ethics" and "The Board of Directors Bs€Committees" and is incorporated herein by
reference. If the 2015 Proxy Statement is not filéith the SEC within 120 days after the end of mast recent fiscal year, we will provide such imfatior
by means of an amendment to this Annual ReportasmPA.0-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11IWwe included in the 2015 Proxy Statement undeetiitive Compensation,” and "Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,t @incorporated herein by reference. If the 2Bidxy Statement is not filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of our most recent fiscat,yee will provide such information by means ofeanendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Iltem 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12IWwe included in the 2015 Proxy Statement undect8ity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management" and "Equity Compensation Plan Inforomtand is incorporated herein by reference. If28&5 Proxy Statement is not filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of our most recestdi year, we will provide such information by meaf an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13IWwe included in the 2015 Proxy Statement undéecton of Directors" and "Approval of Related Rers
Transactions and Transactions with Related Perssis incorporated herein by reference. If the52Proxy Statement is not filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of our most recent fiscat,yee will provide such information by means ofeanendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14I\we included in the 2015 Proxy Statement unded&pendent Registered Public Accounting Firm" and i
incorporated herein by reference. If the 2015 Pi$tatement is not filed with the SEC within 120 slagter the end of our most recent fiscal yearyille
provide such information by means of an amendneetitis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 15.

PART IV

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A)  The following documents are filed as part of thisr 1(-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

The Financial Statements and Supplemeimatg are included in Part Il Item 8 of this report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedules are omitted since the requirkminmation is not applicable or is not present iroamts sufficient to require submission of the sciedor
because the information required is included inGbesolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto

3) Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference tc
Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangemengulidation or Successic
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Octo8g 8-K 2.1 10/22/07
2007, by and among AVANT, Celldex Merger (000-15006)
Corporation, and Celldex Therapeutics, |
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 89; 8-K 2.1 5/29/09
by and among Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., CuraGen (000-15006)
Corporation and Cottrell Merger Sub, i
Articles of Incorporation and E-Laws
3.1 Third Restated Certificate of Incorporati S-4 3.1 7/16/98
(333-59215)
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated Ceréfie of S-4 3.1 7/16/98
Incorporation (335-59215)
3.2 Second Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated S-4 3.2 7/16/98
Certificate of Incorporatio (333-59215)
3.4 Third Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.1 5/10/02
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.E Fourth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.1 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.€ Fifth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 8-K 3.2 3/11/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.7 Sixth Certificate of Amendment of Third Restated 10-Q 3.7 11/10/08
Certificate of Incorporatio (00C-15006)
3.8 Amended and Restated By-Laws, dated April 7, 2014 8-K 3.1 4/8/14

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holc

4.1

Specimen of Common Stock Certific:
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Incorporated by Reference tc

Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
4.2 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights 8-A 3.1 11/8/04
Series of Preferred Stock classifying and desiggatie (000-15006)
Series C-1 Junior Participating Cumulative Prefirre
Stock
Material Contract—Leases
10.1 Commercial Lease Agreement of May 1, 1996 between 10-Q/A 10.11 8/23/96
the Company and Fourth Avenue Ventures Limited (000-15006)
Partnershig
10.z Extension of Lease Agreement of May 1, 1997 between 10-K 10.9  3/27/02
the Company and DIV Needham 53 LLC (successor in (000-15006)
interest to Fourth Avenue Ventures Limited Parthigns
dated as of August 23, 20!
10.Z First Amendment to Lease by and between the Company 10-K 10.40 3/16/06
and DIV Needham 53 LLC dated November 29, 2 (00C-15006)
*10.4 Lease Agreement, by and between the Company and the 10-Q 10.1  4/30/04
Massachusetts Development Finance Agency, datefl as  (000-15006)
December 22, 20C
10.t First Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts 10-K/A 10.6  12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company dated (000-15006)
March 17, 200¢
10.€ Second Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-K 10.41 3/16/06
Company and the Massachusetts Development Finance (000-15006)
Agency dated as of November 4, 2(
10.7 Third Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts 10-K/A 10.7 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company dated (000-15006)
December 20, 20C
10.€ Fifth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts 10-K/A 10.8 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company dated (000-15006)
October 3, 200:
10.¢ Sixth Amendment to Lease between Massachusetts 10-K/A 10.9 12/23/10
Development Finance Agency and the Company dated  (000-15006)
August 20, 200!
10.1C Seventh Amendment to Lease by and between the 10-Q 10.1 8/5/10
Company and the Massachusetts Development Finance (000-15006)
Agency dated as of June 22, 2(
10.11 Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2013 by anddes 10-Q 10.1  5/03/13
Crown Perryville, LLC and the Compar (00C-15006)
Material Contract—License, Collaboration, Supply and Distribution Agment:
*10.12 License Agreement dated as of November 1, 200y S-4 10.2 1/18/08

between The Rockefeller University and the Comg
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Form and Exhibit SEC
No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
*10.123 License Agreement dated September 1, 2006 by and S-4 10.3 1/18/08
between Duke University and the Compi (33:-148291)
10.1¢ Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.5 12/23/10
University and the Company dated April 2, 2( (00C-15006)
*10.15 License Agreement between Duke University, The dohn 10-K/A 10.11 12/23/10
Hopkins University and the Company dated Decemih¢ (000-15006)
2003
*10.1€ Amendment to License Agreement between Duke 10-K/A 10.13 12/23/10
University, The Johns Hopkins University and the (000-15006)
Company dated April 2, 20C
*10.17 Assignment and License Agreement, as amended, dated S-4 10.4 1/18/08
April 6, 2004 by and among Medarex, Inc., GenPharm (333-148291)
International, Inc. and the Compa
*10.1€ Research and Commercialization Agreement, as arde S-4 10.5 1/18/08
dated as of April 6, 2004 by and among Medarex, Inc (333-148291)
GenPharm International, Inc. and the Comg
*10.1¢ Research Collaboration and Commercialization 10-K 10.45  3/2/09
Agreement effective October 20, 2006 between the (000-15006)
Company and the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Rede
*10.2C Exclusive Patent and Know-How License Agreement 10-K 10.47  3/2/09
dated as of November 5, 2008 between the Compahy an (000-15006)
the University of Southamptc
*10.21 License and Assignment Agreement, between Amger 10-K/A 10.1 12/23/10
and the Company dated March 16, 2! (00C-15006)
*10.22 Collaboration Agreement dated June 18, 2004 between 10-K 10.27 3/12/10
Seattle Genetics and CuraC (00C-15006)
*10.23 Second Restated Collaboration Agreement dated ARy 10-K 10.28 3/12/10
2004 and amended October 19, 2004 between (000-15006)
Abgenix Inc. and CuraGe
10.2¢ Amgen Letter Agreement, by and between CuraGen and 10-K 10.29 3/12/10
Amgen Fremont, Inc. dated May 2, 2C (00C-15006)
*10.25 Transfer and Termination Agreement, dated as of 10-K 10.30 3/12/10
April 21, 2008 by and between TopoTarget A/S and (000-15006)
CuraGer
*10.2€ License Agreement between Medarex and Company 10-Q/A 10.3 12/23/10
September 17, 201 (00C-15006)
10.27 Master Services Agreement dated March 29, 201(hdy a 10-Q 10.2  11/3/11

between the Company and Prologue Research

International, Inc. (Prologut
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No. Description SEC File No. No. Filing Date
10.2¢ Amendment to Master Services Agreement dated@july 10-Q 10.3 11/3/11
2011 by and between the Company and Novella (000-15006)
Clinical Inc. (formerly known as Prologu
10.2¢ Master Services Agreement dated May 6, 2013 by and 10-Q 10.3 8/6/13
between the Company and PPD Development, (00C-15006)
*10.3C Third Amended and Restated Supply Agreement dated 10-Q 10.1  11/5/14
October 15, 2014 between the Company and Biosyn (000-15006)
Corporatior
10.31 Subscription Agreement dated as of October 15, 2914 8-K 10.1 10/20/14
and between the Company and Biosyn Corpor: (00C-15006)
Material Contract—Stock Purchase, Financing and Credit Agreem
10.32 Sales Agreement, dated January 6, 2011, betwedthe® 8-K 10.1.2  1/6/11
Therapeutics, Inc. and Cantor Fitzgerald & (00C-15006)
10.3: Amendment No. 1 to Sales Agreement, dated Janyary 6 8-K 10.1  9/24/12
2011, between Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. and Cantor (000-15006)
Fitzgerald & Co., dated September 20, 2
Material Contract—Management Contracts and Compensatory P
110.3¢ 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amendek 8-K 10.1  6/14/12
restatec (00C-15006)
110.3¢ 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and 8-K 10.1  6/13/13
restatec (00C-15006)
110.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2013, 8-K 10.1 12/21/12
and between the Company and Anthony S. Mar (00C-15006)
110.37 Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2013, 8-K 10.2 12/21/12
and between the Company and Avery W. Cz (00C-15006)
1t10.3¢  Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2813, 8-K 10.3 12/21/12
and between the Company and Thomas Davis, (00C-15006)
110.3¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2013, 8-K 10.4 12/21/12
and between the Company and Tibor Keler, P (00C-15006)
110.4C Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2013, 8-K 10.5 12/21/12
and between the Company and Ronald A. Pepin, f (00C-15006)
1t10.4: Form of Stock Option Agreement 8-K 10.1  1/25/10
(00C-15006)
110.4. CuraGen 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, amended and 10-K 10.41 3/12/10
restatec (00C-15006)
110.4¢ Form of Restricted Stock Award 10-K 10.42 3/12/10
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23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Indipen  Filed herewith
Registered Public Accounting Fir

31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive ©éfi Filed herewitr

31.z Certification of Senior Vice President and Chigldicial Filed herewith

Officer
32 Section 1350 Certificatior Furnished herewit

101 XBRL Instance Documer Filed herewitt

101 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Filed herewitt

101 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Filed herewith
Document

101 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Filed herewith
Document

101 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum Filed herewitt

101 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Filed herewith
Document

* Confidential treatment has been requested foriogptavisions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 22lpromulgated under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

t Indicates a management contract or compensation @atract or arrangemel
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, émistrant has duly caused this report to beesigm its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

CELLDEX THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s ANTHONY S. MARUCCI
Date Anthony S. Marucc
February 24, 201 President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seearitxchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidny the following persons on behalf of the registand
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director,

(Principal Executive Officer) February 24, 201

Anthony S. Marucc

/sl AVERY W. CATLIN Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer February 24, 201
Avery W. Catlin (Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/sl LARRY ELLBERGER

Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors  February 24, 201
Larry Ellberger

/sl HERBERT J. CONRAD

Director February 24, 201
Herbert J. Conra
/s/ GEORGE O. ELSTON
Director February 24, 201
George O. Elsto
/sl HARRY H. PENNER, JR.
Director February 24, 201
Harry H. Penner, J
/sl KAREN L. SHOOS
Director February 24, 201
Karen L. Shoo:
/s/ RICHARD A. VAN DEN BROEK
Director February 24, 201

Richard A. van den Broe
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{68. 333-182142, 333-189336, 333-151728, 333-
117602 and 333-162423) and on Form S-3 (No. 338%4@Pof Celldex Therapeutics, Inc. of our repotteda-ebruary 24, 2015 relating to the financial
statements and the effectiveness of internal cboter financial reporting, which appears in thaf 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony S. Marucci, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mafagalor omit to state a material fact necessamaée the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesmunwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects the
financial condition, results of operations and cfeivs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipgesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyinfiadr and | are responsible for establishing anéhta@ing disclosure controls and procedures (disele in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armdriat control over financial reporting (as definedhe Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls@ndedures, or caused such disclosure controlpreuogdures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigris made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtis report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oweaicial reporting, or caused such internal coraxa@r financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtfte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgisteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financegorting that occurred during the registrant'stmos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdigguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temeruation of internal control over financial cefing, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efréfgistrant's board of directors (or persons perifty the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and madtweaknesses in the design or operation ofmatezontrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and tefpmaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materifltinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 201 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Avery W. Catlin, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Celldex Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mafagalor omit to state a material fact necessamaée the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesmunwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finanstatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects the
financial condition, results of operations and cfeivs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipgesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyinfiadr and | are responsible for establishing anéhta@ing disclosure controls and procedures (disele in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armdriat control over financial reporting (as definedhe Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls@ndedures, or caused such disclosure controlpreuogdures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigris made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtis report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oweaicial reporting, or caused such internal coraxa@r financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtfte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgisteant's disclosure controls and procedures aesepted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financegorting that occurred during the registrant'stmos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdigguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temeruation of internal control over financial cefing, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efréfgistrant's board of directors (or persons perifty the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and madtweaknesses in the design or operation ofmatezontrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and tefpmaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materifltinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 201 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel




QuickLinks
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this downt

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifiessyant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pots$a Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£200
his capacity as an officer of Celldex Therapeuties, (the "Company"), that, to his knowledge, Areual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2014 (the "Form 10-Killy tomplies with the requirements of Section }3{al15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. §78m or 780(d)) and that the informationtained in such report fairly presents, in altenial respects, the financial condition and rtssof
operations of the Company. This written statemebieing furnished to the Securities and Exchangeriesion as an exhibit to the Form 10-K. A signed
original of this statement has been provided taGbmpany and will be retained by the Company antished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request.

Date: February 24, 2015 By: /s/ ANTHONY S. MARUCCI

Name: Anthony S. Marucc
Title:  President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 24, 2015 By: /s/ AVERY W. CATLIN

Name: Avery W. Catlin
Title:  Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

This certification shall be not be deemfiléd" for any purpose, nor shall it be deemededrxrorporated by reference into any filing undher t
Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act.
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEFINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1B5AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



